
 

 
 

 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
Date Friday 1 October 2021 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement. 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 28 July 2021  (Pages 3 - 14) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. Shotley Bridge Hospital Update - Presentation by Rachel Rooney, 
Head of Commissioning, NHS County Durham CCG  (Pages 15 - 
34) 

7. Winter Planning - Report by Michael Laing, Director of Integrated 
Community Services, County Durham Care Partnership  (Pages 
35 - 58) 

8. Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust Update - 
Report by Jennifer Illingworth, Director of Operations - Durham 
and Darlington - Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust  (Pages 59 - 70) 

9. Local Outbreak Management Plan Update - Report of the Director 
of Public Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 71 - 180) 



10. Quarter 1 2021/22 Performance Management Report - Report of 
Paul Darby, Interim Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 181 
- 196) 

11. 2020/21 Q4 and 2021/22 Q1 Adults and Health Services Budget 
Outturn - Report of the Paul Darby, Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 197 - 230) 

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 

  County Hall 
  Durham 
  23 September 2021 

 
 
To: The Members of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillor P Jopling (Chair) 
Councillor R Charlton-Lainé (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors V Andrews, C Bell, R Crute, K Earley, O Gunn, D Haney, 
P Heaviside, J Higgins, L Holmes, L Hovvels, J Howey, C Kay, C Lines, 
C Martin, S Quinn, K Robson, A Savory, M Simmons and T Stubbs 
 
Co-opted Members: Dr G Ciesielska and Mrs R Hassoon 
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers: Healthwatch County Durham 
 
 

Contact:  Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704 

 
 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
At a meeting of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 28 
July 2021 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present 
 

Councillor P Jopling (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee 

Councillors R Charlton-Lainé, V Andrews, C Bell, R Crute, K Earley, O Gunn, 
D Haney, P Heaviside, J Higgins, L Holmes, L Hovvels, J Howey, C Martin, 
S Quinn, K Robson, A Savory, M Simmons and T Stubbs 
 
Co-opted Members 

Mrs R Hassoon 
 
Also Present 

Councillor A Watson 

 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors C Kay, C Lines and Dr G 
Ciesielska 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
There were no substitute members. 
 

3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 April 2021 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Charlton-Laine declared an interest in Item 7 and Councillors Haney and 
Earley declared an interest in Item No. 8. 
 

5 Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



There were no items. 
 

6 Adult Social Care Overview and Update  
 
The Committee received a report of the Head of Adult Care that gave an up-to-date 
summary of activity and developments across Adult Social Care Service in County 
Durham and to outline the frameworks within which it operates (for copy see file of 
minutes). 
 
The Head of Adult Care gave a detailed presentation covering:- 
 

 Governance 

 Main Legislative Frameworks 

 Integrated Partnership Arrangements 

 Annual Budge 

 People we support 

 Service structure 

 Range of services and support 

 Transformation 

 Challenges 
 
The Head of Adult Care gave examples of two case studies to give the committee 
a better understanding of how services worked together to provide support for the 
individual service user. 
 
Referring to page 94 of the papers Councillor Gunn asked if current challenges had 
been discussed with the local hospitals especially taking into account the winter 
months.  The Head of Adult Care responded that our service was effective in terms 
of hospital discharge and we would continue to collect data around that.  The policy 
driver was moving us more to discharge to assess and the local authority would 
have to manage and support patients in the most appropriate way.  He said that it 
was hard to predict winter months but that a range of measures had been put in 
place. 
 
Councillor Earley referred to commissioning triggers for care beds and the quality 
issues when contracts had been suspended resulting in safeguarding alerts from 
the CQC, and asked if there was a mechanism in place to stop this from 
happening.  The Head of Adult Care confirmed that this was very much in place 
and relied upon a range of factors.  The service works very closely with colleagues 
looking at a range of metrics linked to safeguarding and managing the balance of 
risks, noting that action could potentially include a de-commissioning process.  He 
assured members that robust processes were in place. 
 
Working in a nursing home intermediate care unit, Councillor Quinn had found that 
a lot of people were not asking for help when they needed it as were frightened to 
go to their GP or leave their home.  She asked how the service could sustain life at 

Page 4



home for those people.  The Head of Adult Care responded that COVID had had 
an impact across the board and referral numbers were initially lower than pre-
pandemic.  He would pick up the conversation with Councillor Quinn outside of the 
meeting about her experiences. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted and that the committee receive future updates on the work 
of the newly established Adults, Wellbeing and Health Quality Assurance Board as 
it progresses. 
 

7 Public Health Overview and Update  
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Public Health that provided a 
summary of developments across Public Health (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Chair referred to the rise in alcohol and drug abuse and violence in the home, 
and asked if anything was being done to mitigate that as we start to come out of 
the pandemic.  The Director of Public Health responded that it was a real challenge 
in terms of alcohol due the accessibility and affordability and the significant impact 
it had on health services.  There was no national alcohol strategy so no minimum 
unit price had been agreed as was the case in Scotland.  With regards to drugs 
there was a lot of good innovative work taking place to tackle that.  Domestic 
Abuse continued to be a priority with local partners having a real commitment to 
tackle this with additional funding being received. 
 
Councillor Crute said that alcohol abuse during the pandemic had increased and a 
similar increase had also been detected in smoking.  He went on to say that this 
was a stubborn performance indicator, especially with mothers smoking at the time 
of delivery. He asked about the impacts in terms of illnesses.  The Director of 
Public Health confirmed that tobacco would remain a top priority and that there had 
been a slight increase in tobacco prevalence.  The priority would be refreshed in 
relation to tobacco and smoking prevalence and innovative work taking place 
smoking at the time of delivery.  Fresh and Balance would continue to keep 
abreast of national campaigns and we would continue to share concerns locally. 
 
Councillor Gunn expressed a strong interest in children and young people’s mental 
health and expanding work with schools for the recovery from the pandemic, and 
asked if there would be any additional funding to aid this.  The Director of Public 
Health advised that a healthy schools framework was being developed that would 
help to engage directly with schools and would be launched from September.  A 
high level of investment would remain in children and young people’s mental health 
and work looking at how resilient and effective this has been would continue.  
Public health and schools’ relationships had strengthened and their needs had 
been listened to.  One-off funding would also be a cause for concern and was 
challenging but the Director explained that we would have to wait for the outcome 
of the Public Health Review to see what funding would continue. 

Page 5



 
Councillor Stubbs asked if non combustibles were incorporated or if it was just 
tobacco.  He also picked up on the British American tobacco profits and the 
emerging markets from the rest of the world and asked if that was being looked 
into.  The Director of Public Health explained that non combustibles were not 
included in the figures as it was still classed as a safer option than tobacco.  She 
was aware of the big tobacco companies and the new markets but assured 
members that Fresh and Balance represented us and kept us up-to-date.  She 
added that it was an ongoing challenge and a key part of reducing haram was to 
prevent young people from starting on e-cigarettes and tobacco. 
 
Moving on and answering a question from Councillor Quinn about suicides during 
the pandemic, the Director of Public Health said that her team had early access to 
potential suicides and wrap around support for adults.  Locally, rates had been 
higher than the national average, particularly for men and rates for women had 
been the lower the national average but the same for the North East.  During the 
pandemic there had been no increase in the suicide rates however this continued 
to be measured on an annual basis.  The team continued to look at any 
connections of suicides, to reduce the stigma and monitored this closely. 
 
Councillor Charlton-Laine said that she taught sex education in schools and during 
lockdown it was difficult to find suitable online content as other siblings may have 
been in the home.  She was concerned that this needed addressing as there were 
gaps in the education.  The Director of Public Health understood the challenge and 
would speak to Councillor Charlton-Laine outside of the meeting. 
 
Further to a question from Councillor Homes about the figure of 66% of young 
people not visiting their GP during lockdown so as not to add any further pressures 
onto them, the Director of Public Health said she would look at the local data and 
feed back to the committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted and to receive a further update in the form of the Director 
of Public Health annual report in November 2021. 
 

8 Shotley Bridge Hospital Update  
 
The Committee received a presentation from Rachel Rooney, Head of 
Commissioning, NHS County Durham CCG that provided an update on Shotley 
Bridge Community Hospital Services (for copy of presentation, see file of minutes). 
 
The presentation highlighted the following:- 
 

 The vision 

 The principles of the project 

 Progress to date 

Page 6



 The current estate 

 Estate option 

 Communication and engagement  

 What had happened since engagement in 2019 

 Proposed clinical model 

 Legal duties of engagement and consultation 
 
The Head of Commissioning highlighted the next steps:- 

 Development of Outline Business Case – Aug/Sept 2021 

 Development of full business case & approvals – Summer 2022 

 Ongoing public engagement  

 Consultation (as part of the building planning process) 

 Construction start Summer 2022 

 Construction completion  
o New build – Early 2024 
o Refurbishment of existing site – up to a year later 

 
Councillor Haney asked at what point did the CCG decide just to move on without 
public consultation, as promised back in December 2018.  The Head of 
Commissioning referenced the extensive public engagement that had been 
undertaken in Spring 2019 and which had been reported to the Committee and had 
informed the project proposals. She further explained that there had been 
continuous monitoring since they announced the potential consultation.  However, 
the risks around consultation were far outweighed by the costs and the time it 
would take.  She added that feedback had influenced their work and had improved 
part of the project.  She explained that if the CCG did not move swiftly they may 
not secure funding. 
 
The Head of Integrated Commissioning went on to explain that the business case 
needed to be submitted as soon as possible in order to secure the funding.  
Feedback at events had a very clear message for the CCG to ‘just get on with it’ 
and this could be demonstrated with the views of the public determining the 
changes to the model.  She informed the committee that they clearly knew what 
services had to be delivered and the changes to the clinical model of care. They 
were keen to now secure the funding and deliver a new hospital for the area. 
 
Councillor Haney was concerned that a consultation had been promised and that 
the vast majority of people in the area would not be aware of the proposals. 
 
The Chair asked if there was a time constraint on the £10 million funding and was 
advised that it was part of the overall hospital programme.  40 hospitals had been 
allocated funding and as this was an agile project there was a need to move swiftly 
to secure it.  Other projects were much larger and could overspend which could 
impact on this minor scheme. 
 

Page 7



Councillor Holmes commented that if the engagement process was sufficient and a 
consultation exercise was not required this could add an additional 12 months to 
the project.  He was concerned that it was not an unlimited pot of money that would 
fund this project and asked what would happen if the government funding expired.  
The Head of Commissioning explained that they would need to source new capital 
through other means.  She added that the current building was not fit for purpose 
and there was a need to maintain safety parameters. 
 
Mrs Hassoon was surprised to hear that people in the area would not know what 
was happening as she was aware that many meetings had been held and that the 
former Councillor Temple had represented the people very well in his local area. 
 
Councillor Earley said the hospital did not make the best of the opportunity 
available to them and he had tried to come up with solutions over the years.  The 
Friends of the Hospital Support Group had approached Project Genesis and also 
approached the Housing Association regarding funding for a health care village.  
He added the number of beds should be in line with other community hospitals with 
the same population. He wanted to see the hospital move forward but agreed that 
there should be a public consultation for the people in the local area to have a say 
in what they wanted, especially as an incinerator would be 500 metres from the 
new build.  The Head of Integrated Commissioning advised that the independent 
sector beds provided an intermediate level of acre and the inpatient beds provided 
a lower level of care for those patients that had been discharged and required care 
closer to home.  There were 8 beds in Shotley Bridge and the proposal was to 
increase this to 16 beds.  16 beds were also available in the Richardson hospital 
and Sedgefield hospital to meet the needs of the population.  This allowed GPs to 
set up and allow for people to be cared for closer to home.  16 beds were 
appropriate for the need and if this was increased it may lead to a reduction in 
other areas.   
 
Regarding funding, Councillor Earley suggested that the CCG approach the 
County Council and asked to prudentially borrow the money.  He touched upon 
personal experiences of having to use three buses to visit his mother in Bishop 
Auckland hospital, travelling from Consett. 
 
Councillor Watson, a member of the Shotley Bridge Reference Group for the last 
four years, commented that the engagement exercise had been extensive.  He had 
faith in the NHS and the CCG who had operated an open door policy in terms and 
as a local person and councillor he was aware of people’s opinions about the 
hospital.  He said that people had become sceptical that a new hospital would not 
be built and he was concerned that any further delays could mean additional 
construction costs and a risk of losing the funding.  He said that the CCG had been 
impeccable around the engagement carried out. 
 
Councillor Bell agreed with Councillor Watson and added that it was time to push 
ahead and get this project up and running. 

Page 8



 
Councillor Robson also agreed with those comments from Councillors Watson and 
Bell as any delays could cost more money. 
 
Councillor Higgins on the other hand could not support this as he believed a 
consultation exercise would be a fair democratic process. 
 
Referring to the other services available at Shotley Bridge, such as dental 
treatment, Councillor Hovvels reminded the committee that the hospital provided 
services for the wider area, not just Consett and Stanley. 
 
Councillor Martin said he understood the clear arguments but this was about 
bringing people along with you on the journey.  He asked how a 12 week 
consultation would result in a 12 month delay to the project.  The Head of 
Commissioning reported that a significant amount of planning around the 
construction had taken place together with looking at plans around the clinical 
model which had been out for engagement.  If any of this changed it could result in 
a different model of care and could exceed the £30 million capital budget.  The 
regulations of the NHS England criteria involved a significant lead in time with 
months of planning at each stage.  They scrutinised each decision and this would 
have an initial three month timescale if they deemed it appropriate.  Therefore the 
12 month delay was a reasonable assumption but it could be longer.  There were 
no plans to reduce the service and therefore this does not warrant a public 
consultation. 
 
The Head of Commissioning said that through engagement significant responses 
had been received as people were passionate about their community hospital.  
Engagement would continue around the next stage and the CCG were committed 
to do that as they had worked extremely hard to engage with the local community.  
She would look for an example of work for other new hospitals to give the 
committee some assurances, further to a question from Councillor Martin. 
 
The Head of Integrated Commissioning added that due to the engagement 
exercises the number of beds had doubled from 8 to 16 and that all services would 
be maintained except endoscopy which had not been delivered on site for a 
number of years.  There were a number of unresolved issues with the current 
building.  She said that they were ready now to engage on what the future building 
design would be and what needs to change.  They did not want to silence people 
and were keen to continue engaging.  She pointed out that there were many 
benefits to moving forward with this project as opposed to the risk of losing the 
funding if it was delayed any further. 
 
Councillor Gunn asked that if the business case were approved and the CCG 
maintained public engagement, how long would they envisage this would take.  
The Head of Commissioning explained that the next steps would be for a new build 

Page 9



or a refurb of the existing build, the timetable of which was included in the 
presentation. 
 
The Chair thanked the officers for the presentation. 
 
Resolved: That the update be noted. 
 

9 Local Outbreak Management Plan Update  
 
The Committee received the report of the Director of Public Health that provided an 
update on the Government Roadmap: COVID-19 Response - Summer 2021, 
County Durham’s COVID-19 response and the Local Outbreak Management Plan 
(for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health updated Members on the County Durham 7-day rate 
that was currently 596.3 per 100,000, a reduction of over 50% in the last week with 
23,000 cases and above the England average. 76 people were in hospital and the 
death rate was very low. 
 
The Director of Public Health advised of the latest updates to the government’s 
roadmap and our response to that, as well as changing to a Local Outbreak 
Management Plan from the Local Outbreak Control Plan.  Variants continued to be 
monitored via Public Health England overseen by the Local Health Protection 
Assurance Board. 
 
Restrictions had been lifted but locally we would focus on vaccination roll out and 
would retain the test, trace and isolate programme.  There had been a high take up 
on the vaccines. 
 
Due to the high numbers in the North East, the government had agreed that it was 
now an Enhanced Response Area with significant focus on testing and access to 
testing, increased engagement with the local communities, supported by the 
COVID champions. 
 
In schools, there had been significant work carried out to control transmission and 
the Outbreak Control team had developed a dedicated process for testing and 
online learning solutions. 
 
Following the CQC report being published on care home deaths, the Chair asked 
how that would prepare us for this winter with flu and COVID.  She was concerned 
about those patients being discharged from hospital and how better we could 
protect other residents in care homes. She asked for an update for the next 
meeting.  The Director of Public Health agreed that a report would come back on 
the preparatory work ready for winter and how that would affect services. 
 

Page 10



The Corporate Director of Adults and Health Services informed the chair that a 
response was being prepared to queries the chair had raised in respect of the CQC 
report which the chair may then wish to share with the committee. Assurances 
were given that preparations for winter around the care setting would be in place. 
 
Councillor Quinn added that from her point of view, working in the sector, 
procedures and policies were followed and that more people survived COVID in 
nursing homes than those who had died from it.  She felt that it was important to 
share those figures too. 
 
Councillor Gunn commended the team for their hard work and commitment during 
a stressful time.  She added that Durham Insight was a useful tool which included 
details of the all of the important work being carried out. 
 
Resolved:  
That the report and the robust governance and outbreak control arrangements in 
place to identify, control and contain COVID-19 cases, clusters and outbreaks be 
noted and agreed. 
 

10 Health Protection Assurance  
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Public Health that provided an 
update on health protection assurance arrangements in County Durham (for copy 
see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health advised that updates come from the implementation 
of the health protection action plan, overseen by the Health Protection Assurance 
and Development Group (HPADG).  The direct response to the COVID-19 
pandemic was covered in reports from the Health Protection Assurance Board 
(HPAB). The report would pick up on the indirect effects of COVID-19 as to the 
impact on relevant work programmes. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the content of the report be noted. 
(b) That performance in County Durham for all childhood immunisation 

programmes exceeds both standards and national averages be noted. 
(c) That the report provides broad assurance that effective processes are 

in place for each of the key strands of health protection activity. 
(d) That the need for further assurance in relation to flu and COVID-19 

vaccination be supported. 
(e) That the need for assurance on the transfer of Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) and Public Health England (PHE) functions including 
health protection and screening and immunisation programmes and 
emergency response be supported. 

(f) That further identification and response to emerging health protection 
priorities and be updated accordingly, be supported. 

Page 11



 

11 Quarter 4 2020/21 Performance Management Report  
 
The Committee received the report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources 
which detailed progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the council’s 
corporate performance framework (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Strategy Team Leader, Resources highlighted performance for quarter four, 
January to March 2021 including COVID – vaccines and testing, mental health 
impact, re-opening of leisure centres and the increase of breastfeeding. 
 
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
 

12 NHS Foundation Trusts Quality Accounts 2020-21  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources 
which provided the formal responses made on behalf of the Committee in respect 
of NHS Foundation Trust Quality Accounts 2020/21 (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

13 Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC - Refresh of 2021-22 Work 
Programme  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources that provided suggested work programme for 2021/2022 (for copy see 
file of minutes). 
  
The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer highlighted the flexible work 
programme which would be covered in the five meetings scheduled from 
September 2021 to May 2022 including CQC data and plans for winter. 
 
The Chair asked about access to GPs and Oral Health appointments.  The 
Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officers informed members that access to GPs 
had been a bespoke piece of work that would come back to committee.  He would 
speak to CCG partners about oral health appointments and report back. 
 
Councillor Charlton-Laine asked if the Integrated Care System would be discussed 
and was advised that legislation was currently going through parliament and 
updates and associated guidance would be reported to committee in October. 
 
Councillor Crute supported the suggestion to look at this and understand the 
impact this would have on the CCGs.  He said that there would need to be scope in 
the work programme to look at any emerging issues. 

Page 12



 
Councillor Gunn added that it was important to look at crucial areas such as care 
homes and nursing homes. 
 
Resolved:  

(i) That the proposed Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC work programme for 
2021/22 be received. 

(ii) That the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC work programme for 2021/2022 
and the flexibility it offers to respond to emerging issues be agreed. 

 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Health and 
Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
October 2021

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



New Hospitals Programme
• The Government committed to build 40 new 

Hospitals by 2030 and released £3.7bn of 
initial capital funding to support activity 
between April 2021 and March 2025. In 
addition, the Prime Minister announced an 
open competition for 8 further schemes by 
2030.

• The Shotley Bridge Scheme is classed as an 
agile scheme – already in the process with 
the aim of a timely delivery.

• The Shotley Bridge project has a modest 
budget in comparison to many of the other 
schemes i.e. major acute facilities.

• We know that overall costs for materials and 
construction costs have increased with a risk 
that schemes project an overspend on 
budgets. On average costs have increased by 
20%.

P
age 16



Principles of project 

• Clinically led
• Ongoing patient and public engagement
• Ongoing stakeholder involvement
• Working as part of the County Durham system
• Future proofing model of care and estate 

solutions 
• Honesty and transparency  

P
age 17



Condition of Current Estate
• The two main parts of Shotley Bridge hospital building, the “Podium” and

the “Tower Block”, were built in 1950 and 1969 respectively.

• The NHS have expended circa £1.5m of capital undertaking re-active
repairs over the last 3 years with circa £1 million over 2021.

• Almost three times too large for our current requirements

• Risks are being managed at Shotley Bridge daily and compliance levels 
are currently being maintained however this is not sustainable for the 
longer term without significant investment and major asset replacement.

• The current site is compliant but vulnerable.

P
age 18



Condition of Current Estate

External Elevation - Horizontal 
concrete banding visible in poor 
condition 

Flat Roof above the medical records 
to the lower ground floor, causing 
damp internally. 

P
age 19



Condition of Current Estate

External The concrete canopy is in 
poor condition with localised spalling 

External Timber shiplap cladding is in 
a very poor condition and in a 
dilapidated state. There are several 
areas of timber decay visible to 
cladding 

P
age 20



Condition of Current Estate

The boilers in a poor condition for 
their age and in need of replacement. 

Internal Walls within medical records 
area in poor condition large areas of 
damp, staining and plaster damage. 

P
age 21



Condition of Current Estate

Suspended ceiling exposed as part of 
ACM removal works suspended 
ceilings have reached end of useful 
life. 

Floor Finishes Vinyl floors in poor 
condition heavy areas of straining and 
missing floor tiles 

P
age 22



Aims of Clinical Model

• Focus on reducing health inequalities and 
prevention

• Part of integrated acute, community and primary 
care model 

• Maximising opportunity in a community hospital 
setting 

• Delivering care from modern, fit for purpose 
facilities 

• Using digital solutions to support and enhance 
care 

P
age 23



Process of defining clinical model
• Robust clinical engagement
• Ongoing public engagement 
• Utilising most up to date clinical guidelines 

and standards
• Ensuring the model forms part of the broader 

health and care system 

P
age 24



Clinical Model
Service Impact 
Outpatient services Continuation of current service offer, including cardiology, 

haematology, oncology, gastro, ENT, diabetic eye screening

Women’s services & sexual health Continuation of current service offer

Urgent care Continuation of 24/7 service accessed via 111

Minor surgical procedures Facility to deliver minor skin procedures 

Rehabilitation/therapies Continuation of current service offer

Diagnostics Continuation of ultrasound and x-ray with potential of mobile 
scanning in addition 

Inpatient rehabilitation unit Step up and step down rehabilitation beds with additional capacity –
total 16 beds 

Chemotherapy and Medical 
Investigations

Proposal for two separate units both with increased capacity 

General surgery Clinically unviable to deliver in community setting 

Endoscopy Clinically unviable to deliver in community setting 

Reprovision of current service

Enhancement of current service

Clinically unviable service offer 

P
age 25



Involvement
Engagement Consultation 

Ongoing process of two-way dialogue Statutory requirement where potential 
change is substantial 

Conversations start at project initiation “Substantial” can include impact on;
• Access – significant impact on accessibility due to 

location
• The wider community – negative impact on 

regeneration, employment etc 
• Patients and carers 
• Service delivery – method of delivery 

Ensuring local voices form part of project 
development 

Timelines have to outlined from outset

Ability to be flexible and adapt 
conversations based on feedback received 

Scope has to be defined and only viable 
options can be included 

Engagement with public, staff and other 
stakeholders 

Consultation with public, staff and other 
stakeholders 

Feedback on outcome of ongoing 
engagement “you said, we did”

Feedback on outcome of consultation 
“you said, we did”

P
age 26



CCG Duties 
NHS commissioners and providers have duties in relation to public involvement and 
consultation, and local authority consultation (NHS Act, 2006 and H&SC Act 2012).

The government’s four tests of service change are: 
• Strong public and patient engagement. 
• Consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice. 
• Clear, clinical evidence base. 
• Support for proposals from clinical commissioners 

Fifth test relates to reduction in beds – not applicable in this instance 

• Assurance will be applied proportionately to the scale of the change being 
proposed, with the level of assurance tailored to the service change.

• Options need to be clinically viable, affordable and deliverable
• Where substantial development or variation changes are proposed to NHS 

services, there is a separate requirement to consult the local authority under the 
Local Authority (Public Health, Health & Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny)

P
age 27



OSC Duties 
• The NHS within County Durham has a track record of engaging with OSC at 

the earliest opportunity.

• Regarding Shotley Bridge Community Hospital, the CCG and partners have 
brought regular updates and involvement from the AHWOSC.  

• NHS bodies and health service providers have a duty to consult a local 
authority about any proposal which they have “under consideration” for a 
substantial development of or variation in the provision of health services 
in the local authority’s area.

• The definition of substantial variation is to be determined locally.

• As a local health system this development is deemed as having no negative 
impact on service delivery, accessibility and the community in general. 

– The service model proposed demonstrates no significant reduction or material change to 
current provision.

– The proposed site for redevelopment is approximately 1.8 miles from existing site in a more 
accessible location.

P
age 28



Scope of ongoing engagement

• Ongoing involvement to enhance and develop 
services

• To support the design process through public 
and staff engagement 

• Ongoing member briefings and OSC reporting
• A series of presentations and ‘walk throughs’ 

of BC and plans to date 
• Ongoing communication via existing platforms 

P
age 29



Proposal Summary
• Preferred site – Genesis (1.8 

miles away from current site).
• Clinical model based on clinical 

suitability, affordability and 
ensuring long term viability.

• No substantial change to 
clinical model or adverse 
impacts on location of 
potential new site.

• Continue programme of 
ongoing engagement through 
outline business case and into 
full business case.

Preferred site

P
age 30



Project risks

• Inability to deliver as an ‘agile’ scheme within 
the New Hospital Programme

• Costs of materials and contacting increasing –
our scope could be impacted

• Viability of current site to continue into the 
medium term 

P
age 31



In conclusion 

MINIMAL SERVICE CHANGE – if we 
were to consult what would we 
consult on?

• Proposed location of future estate is approximately 1.8 
miles from current site

• Proposed clinical model determines no significant variation 
in service provision, in some cases this is an enhanced 
offer 

P
age 32



Proposed Next Steps

• Finalise Outline Business Case – Oct/Nov 21
• Development of full business case & approvals 

– Summer 2022
• Ongoing public engagement 
• Construction start Summer 2022
• Construction completion 

– New build – Early 2024
– Refurbishment of existing site – up to a year later 

P
age 33



Considerations for OSC
Based on the proposals set out 
in the presentation do OSC feel 
this warrants substantial service 

change?

If OSC feel consultation is 
necessary, what would we 
actually be consulting on?

This would only include consultation of 
the proposed site as the clinical model 
has been defined through engagement. 
The proposed location is 1.8 miles from 
current building and is more accessible.

The local health system have 
assessed that the proposals do not 

result in substantial variation 

Recognition of engagement to 
date and ongoing programme 

of involvement?

Ongoing engagement with public, 
clinicians, local members and OSC

Support for progressing the 
project at pace without the 

need for consultation?
To reduce the risks outlined to 

ensure successful project delivery

P
age 34



 

            

Adults, Wellbeing and Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
     

 1 October 2021 

 Winter Planning 2021/22 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Michael Laing Director of Integrated Community Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) on the joint work underway between partners to 
prepare for Winter 2021/22. 

Executive Summary 

2 Winter 2021/22 is expected to be one of the most challenging 
experienced by public services. A “surge” in demand for health and 
social care is predicted. This “surge” will be caused by a combination of 
Covid, RSV (a respiratory virus that infects the lungs and breathing 
passages of children), flu, staffing pressures and current unprecedented 
demand.  

3 The Council also has the important and high profile responsibility to 
manage “cold weather” and “adverse weather events” with other 
partners. 

4 OSC and the Health and Well-Being Board have asked for reports 
about our Winter Planning. It is likely that in Winter 2021/22 public 
services will experience disruption and normal levels of service will not 
be provided.  

5 To prepare for the expected “surge” and to co-ordinate work across 
partners a Task and Finish Group has been set up. This will operate up 
to 31 October 2021. The membership includes  

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 The Council – Integrated Commissioning, Public Health, Adult 
Care, Children and Young People’s Services and the Clean and 
Green Team 

 County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group representing 
Primary Care 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust – district 
general hospitals, community hospitals and community health 
services  

 Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust – some children 
and young people’s services 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust – mental 
health services 

 North East Ambulance Service 

6 The Group has met to bring plans together in one place, to share 
information and to prepare reports to be presented to OSC and the 
Health and Well-Being Board. A presentation to OSC is attached at 
Appendix 2 with details of the demand pressures we face and measures 
we are putting in place. 

Recommendations 

7 OSC is recommended to note the contents of this report and the 
presentation at Appendix 2 and receive further reports throughout winter 
2021/22. 

Background 

8 Winter 2021/22 is likely to be extremely challenging. Covid admissions 
to acute hospitals are increasing. The Government’s health agencies 
have predicted increased flu infections and RSV. The health and social 
care system is already dealing with unprecedented demand. 

9 For the social care sector the care providers commissioned by the 
Council are reporting staff shortages especially in home care. The 
Council offers extensive support to care providers. This support is both 
financial and advice and guidance in managing infections and 
complying with Government regulations. The Council also works with an 
employment agency to help care providers to fill vacancies and has 
created the very effective Care Academy. Care providers have 
concerns about the effect of the new rules about compulsory 
vaccination of staff at a time when other employers are recruiting people 
who may have worked in care homes. 

Page 36



10 We work with the County Durham Care Homes Association to help care 
providers to be sustainable. We have also supported home care 
agencies and work with them to provide care packages. 

11 Demand for adult social care assessments has also increased. 
Assessment Teams have seen increases especially in demand for 
mental health assessment post the Covid lockdown. The Hospital Social 
Work Team manages 500 cases each month with colleagues in the 
NHS. Cases are increasing in complexity and acuity.  

12 Health partners have been operating at unprecedented levels of 
demand. Presentations to Emergency Departments are often in excess 
of 700 per day – 13% higher than usual - and the Trust regularly 
declares the highest level of activity at OPEL 4. Patients have 
experienced delays, especially at UHND. This is because of the 
acknowledged problems with the physical space and layout of the 
Emergency Department. Despite increasing the number of beds the 
Trust is often in the position of having limited beds available to move 
patients out of the Emergency Department and onto wards. 

13 The Mental Health Trust has reported similar pressures and has 
operated at 117% capacity. The Crisis Response Service is working at 
full capacity and has difficulty finding beds into which patients can be 
admitted. The Trust is also implementing an Improvement Plan 
following a CQC report. 

14 The Ambulance Trust has called on military and private sector support 
to deal with demand which has remained at consistently high levels for 
a sustained period. This means that requests for an ambulance are 
sometimes delayed. 

15 Primary care – including GP Practices – are in a similar position. They 
are also providing the majority of vaccinations. Recent surveys of 
patients in our Emergency Departments have shown that they are 
attending because they do not want to wait for GP appointments. 

16 All partners are reporting workforce pressures and have measures in 
place to support staff well-being. However staff have been involved in a 
national major incident since March 2020 and are now caring for people 
in a period of high demand.    

17 Partners have met to share the winter plan to co-ordinate activity and to 
prioritise work. Our winter plans will be held in one place and Council 
officers have joined the Winter Plan Operational Group to manage 
winter pressures.   

Next steps 

Page 37



18 The Government is expected to publish Winter Planning Guidance for 
the NHS with funding to support additional capacity. Through the 
Integration Programme we will be bidding with NHS partners for funding 
to increase our hospital discharge and crisis response capacity in social 
care. Other funding sources may be available to support care providers. 

19 Last year the Government required the Council to submit a Social Care 
Winter Plan. Government Guidance for social care is expected to be 
published in October 2021. 

Background papers 

 The Government’s Covid Winter Plan 2021/22 

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Contact: Michael Laing Tel:  07917513348 

   

  

Page 38



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None directly from this report.  

Finance 

None directly from this report. However funding may be available to support 
health and social care during Winter 2021/22 to which the partners can bid. 

Consultation 

NHS partners and colleagues in the Green and Clean Team and Adults and 
Health Services have contributed to the presentation. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The report concerns services for people with health and care needs who may 
have protected characteristics related to their condition. 

Climate Change 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

There is a risk that the Council and NHS partners may not be able to meet 
demands for services in Winter 2021/22. This is included in the Risk 
Registers. 

Procurement 

None 

Page 39



 

Page 40



Adults Health & Wellbeing 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

1st October 2021

Winter Planning

Sue Jacques, Chief Executive, County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation Trust

P
age 41



Format
• Background

• Current Situation

• What can we expect ?

• Social Care

• Primary Care

• Community Services

• Acute, Mental Health and Ambulance Trusts

• Public Health

• Durham County Council - Technical Services

• Vaccination

• Working together

• Summary and questions

P
age 42



Background

• Partners have developed Winter Plans over a number of years

• There are two types of Winter Plan: Surge and Cold Weather

• Surge is mainly about how to prevent and manage the increases in demand caused by illness of residents, 
patients and staff

• Cold weather is mainly about preparing the environment for adverse weather and responding to it

• The shared aim of the plans is to “prevent” demand and help people keep well over Winter

• Covid was an additional factor this Winter for residents and staff wellbeing

• Emerging evidence of what we can expect

P
age 43



Current Situation
• Unprecedented demand for health and care service.

• Covid admissions increasing

• Emergency Departments seeing sustained demand over the summer – 13% increase

• Hospitals working hard to manage beds but often at highest levels of operation – OPEL 4

• NEAS seeing highest ever Summer demand for ambulances

• GPs and Social Care experiencing high demand as well

• Workforce challenges in care providers especially home care

• We have been in a national major incident since March 2020

P
age 44



What can we expect?
• Covid continuing over Winter – see Government’s Covid Winter Plan – will effect patients and staff

• Continuing demand for emergency, acute primary and social care

• Flu infections higher – see Government’s New and Emerging Respiratory Virus Threats Group (Nervtag)

• Increasing Children’s Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) – see Public Health England

• Workforce well-being critical after 18 months plus of sustained pressure

• Workforce vacancy rate of 7.3% in care providers – Skills for Care

• Will need to “flex” resources and manage public expectations

P
age 45



Social Care 1
• ‘Discharge to Assess’ ,  ‘Trusted Assessment’, ‘Home First’ and ‘Home from Hospital’ arrangements 

deployed

• Social care capacity available during Surge including Designated Settings

• Short Term Assistance Service commissioned for urgent / crisis community domiciliary care

• Innovative approaches to support capacity will be piloted – using technology. 

• Staff wellbeing services available and dedicated webpage established to assist providers to navigate 
options

• Community Services and Adult Care working together in TAPs to avoid admission

• Preparing for Winter Programme for social care providers

P
age 46



Social Care 2
• Durham Care Academy including recruiting and training of care staff
• Council support to access agency staff for care providers
• Community Services Teams and GPs working in care homes every day
• Additional support, advice and training on infection prevention and control
• Practical help if a Covid outbreak occurs
• Coordination of mutual aid to support service continuity
• Provision of bespoke training
• Financial support for all providers during the pandemic
• Targeted financial support to prevent provider failure
• Liaison with providers and CQC 

P
age 47



Primary Care
• Working with NEAS to avoid peaks in ambulance requests
• Care Navigators, Oximetry at Home, weekend visits to the frail, access to DVT pathway to avoid 

admissions
• GPs working in Community Hospitals and wards in Bishop Auckland
• Delivering the Covid and flu vaccination programme

Next Steps:
• Looking at increasing face to face appointments 
• Putting a GP Service at the front door of the Emergency Department in UHND
• Return the management of long term conditions to where they were pre Covid
• Make sure the enhanced health in care homes if fully implemented

P
age 48



Community Services
• Working every day with the housebound to avoid admission

• Setting up 2 hour crisis response service to avoid admission

• Additional therapists in Community Hospitals to help with discharges

• Covid and flu vaccination in care homes and for the housebound

• Extra bed capacity in Community Hospitals

• Integrated working with GPs and social care

P
age 49



Acute Care - CDDFT
• Already implemented Winter style measures

• Increased staffing capacity in Emergency Departments

• Deployed clinical staff including senior managers to areas of high demand and recruiting more staff

• “Flipped” surgical beds to become medical beds

• Opened additional beds 

• Using Bishop Auckland Hospital capacity

• Working hard to deliver planned surgery and performing well

• Investing in the Same Day Emergency Care model 

• Caring for patients and staff

P
age 50



Mental Health - TEWV

• Prioritised capacity for “front door” services like crisis teams

• Cold weather contingencies in place e.g. access to 4x4 vehicles for crisis teams, 

• Targeted support for more vulnerable people e.g. care homes 

• Range of internal measures in place to support staff, from wobble rooms created through COVID to Schwartz 
rounds, employee psychology support, peer support mechanisms

• Dedicated COVID resilience hub in place 

• Support for individual partner organisations as required

• “Support on a page” for system widely circulated in 2020 – to be re-circulated for winter

• Community COVID Resilience Team now in place across the County – partnership between Resilient Communities 
Group and TEWV, provides early intervention for COVID-specific MH/emotional wellbeing needs.

P
age 51



North East Ambulance 
Service

• Aim to increase capacity over Winter through a variety of measures

• Using independent sector capacity

• Previously had military support

• Increasing capacity of NHS 111

• Treating patients safely at home to avoid conveyance to hospital

P
age 52



Public Health
• Outbreak management and preventing spread of disease

• Sharing data with partners 

• Focus on the most vulnerable and disadvantaged and at risk building on our Durham Together work

• Taking our communities with us

• Focus on the social determinants of health and wellbeing – warm homes, food access, social isolation

• Ensuring our local places can function – gritting, winter maintenance

P
age 53



Council’s Technical 
Services - Highways

• Treating 45% (1733 km) of the carriageway network. Known as Priority 1 – critical infrastructure, NHS 
facilities

• Priority 2 routes are treated after P1 routes and only in times of prolonged winter weather - 10% of the 
network or 387 km

• DCC salt stocks  - 42,000 tonnes to cover 160 runs and 2500 salt bins providing a high degree of resilience
• SLAs with local residents and farmers with snow ploughs and other clearance equipment for rural places
• SLAs with town and parish councils to clear snow and grit roads and paths in communities using 

volunteers
• Customer emergency number 03000 261000 staffed 24 hours per day – must be an immediate danger to 

public safety
• All operations are supported by a communications plan and our policy which is published on the website

P
age 54



Vaccination

• Both Covid and Flu vaccination key activities to prevent illness

• 14 Primary Care Networks continue to offer Covid 1st and 2nd doses and “booster” vaccinations and flu 
jabs

• Care homes and housebound being vaccinated by Community Services and GPs

• Hospital Hubs open for health and social care staff at County Hall and Darlington Memorial Hospital

• Vaccination programme for 12-16 year olds in schools

• Community Pharmacies offering vaccination plus mobile and pop up clinics

• Vaccination Centre at Arnison Centre, mobile clinics, pop-up clinics in place aimed at areas of low take up

• National media campaigns encouraging vaccination

P
age 55



Working together

• Surge pressures managed through Local A&E Delivery Board (LADB). Chaired by CDDFT Chief Executive

• County Durham Care Partnership Chief Officers meet informally to ensure mutual support 

• Working together to move resources quickly and flexibly

• All partners have internal systems based on the “Gold Command” model to manage Winter Pressures

• Social Care and Community Services meet manage pressures in the care sector and support providers

• Local Resilience Forum (LRF) structures in place to prepare for and manage incidents

• Shared national and local communications

P
age 56



Summary & Questions

• Winter Plans being developed subject to national guidance and Covid Winter Plan

• All partner organisations co-operating

• Evidence suggests a challenging winter ahead and service prioritisation likely

• Recognise current levels of demand and staff well-being critical factors

• All Winter Plans will be in one place for the first time dealing with surges in demand and cold weather 
events

• Thank you

• Questions

P
age 57



P
age 58



1

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHSFT 
update

Jennifer Illingworth
Director of Operations

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 8



2

Update on Service Provision
 Significant investment from County Durham CGG & national transformation monies

 Further development of urgent care services to include a support team, 111/2 response, 
introduction of peer worker roles, development of 24/7 comprehensive crisis service for 
older people with organic and complex needs 

 Enhanced support to care homes - care home liaison hub and wellbeing service

 Community MH Framework; investment to significantly extend community rehab team 
for working age adults to include OT, Psychology, Activities Co-ordinators, with funding 
to enhance VCS support and support for those with Personality Disorder 

 Preparing a case to improve rehab inpatient provision (OSC later this year) 

 Introduced a new system – Safecare – that allows all wards to quickly identify staffing 
shortages based on patient acuity and to escalate same 

P
age 60



3

Update (continued)
 Significant investment into C&YP eating disorder service to address rising demand                 

 Provided specialist partnership eating disorder nurses working into paediatric 
wards in Acute Trust      

 Piloted use of Oxehealth on PICU and Elm ward  

 Implemented a new model for STOMP (Stop Over Medication of People with a 
Learning Disability) 

 Recruitment of Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) associate practitioner to work 
with providers

 Recruitment of learning disabilities primary care liaison nurses 

 Developing Ramsey ward to offer 3 single occupancy flats 

P
age 61



4

Business Plan 21-22

P
age 62



5

Demand   

Bed occupancy (AMH and MHSOP)

Referral Numbers (internal and external)

Patient Flow / Delayed Transfers of Care

Out of Area placements (in days)

P
age 63



6

CQC Inspection
 On 27th August, the CQC published its report following the re-inspection (in May) 

of our acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units. 

 It followed a previous inspection in January where were raised about our 
management of risk. The focused inspection in May was to see if improvements 
had been made.

 The CQC has rated our acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric 
intensive care units as requires improvement. 

 In Durham and Darlington, inspectors visited Elm, Tunstall and Cedar (PICU).

 The CQC no longer has significant concerns relating to risk management.

 We have better systems in place to comprehensively assess and mitigate patient 
risk.  

 Staff have a better understanding regarding the risk assessment process and what 
is expected of them when updating documentation.

 We now had mechanisms in place to monitor, audit and ensure oversight of the 
patient risk assessment process.

 We have effective procedure and process in place to review and learn from 
serious incidents.

P
age 64



7

CQC Inspection 
 Most patients found nursing and support work staff to be supportive and caring. 

 They reported that staff worked hard to keep patients safe.

However we still have more to do:

 Patient risks were still not always fully reflected within the written patient safety 
summaries in a small number of files reviewed.

 Staff were not always following the trust’s policy and  expectations. An example 
was an unlocked window which presented a ligature risk. The CQC noted that we 
addressed these very quickly.

 Staff were not always mitigating the risks of operating mixed sex accommodation 
to fully promote patients’ safety, privacy and dignity.

P
age 65



8

CQC Inspection 

During June and July the Trust also had its full inspection 
including the  Well Led element – we are still awaiting the 
draft report from this visit.

We know we still have work to do to continue to improve 
the safety and quality of services we deliver but we are 
committed to doing this and will keep the Committee 
updated of our progress

P
age 66



9

Impact of Covid-19

 Number of positive inpatients – 51

First admission 25/04/20

Last admission to date 14/09/21

 Cohorting arrangements/staffing 

 Developing new systems and 
processes at pace and building in 
flexibility – e.g. PCR swabs for staff 
and for inpatients, PPE

 Psychological support to ward staff, 
‘wobble’ rooms

P
age 67



10

Impact of Covid-19 (continued)

 Impact of shielding staff – alternatives to usual roles, working from home

 Impact of school closures/school bubbles – little time to plan absence

 Information Technology – arranging kit, networking, MS Teams

 Impact of staff testing positive – importance of PPE to protect colleagues

 Impact of Test and Trace absences

 Staff wellbeing

P
age 68



11

Staff Health and Wellbeing
Trustwide Health and Wellbeing opportunities, including:

There are also a range of Trustwide support groups – burnout, 
bereavement, isolation, BAME, long term health conditions
In addition, Locality based initiatives including:

 Staff Health & Wellbeing Facilitator for D&D staff
 Wellbeing bags for staff throughout the pandemic
 Wobble rooms on each site
 Additional psychological support for ward staff
 Wellbeing Champions/Coaches in Teams

P
age 69



12

Any questions?

P
age 70



1 
 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health  

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

1 October 2021 

COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Management Plan 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to receive an update on the Local Outbreak 
Management Plan, the Health Protection Assurance Board and the 
current local COVID-19 activity. In addition this report includes an 
update on the Government’s Autumn and Winter Plan and Contain 
Framework.   

Executive summary 

2 In County Durham there are established health protection assurance 
arrangements with key partners working closely on infectious diseases, 
environmental hazards and emergency preparedness and response. 
This work reports annually to the Health and Wellbeing Board and has 
stood us in good stead to establish rapid partnership arrangements, 
including with the Public Health England (PHE) North East Health 
Protection Team, for developing the COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Management Plan and preparing for complex cases of COVID-19 and 
outbreaks. 

3 The work is managed by the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 
(HPAB) building on the extensive cross Council and partnership 
planning and response to COVID-19 and is presented to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board at every meeting. Recent updates relate to current 
activity; data; outbreak control; Local Tracing Partnership; vaccination 
programme; testing programmes; funding; regional collaboration; 
communications; Covid Champions and national updates.  

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

4 The COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan sets out the role of the 
County Durham system in preventing and controlling COVID-19 with a 
focus on robust management of outbreaks and providing support for 
complex settings, communities, and individuals where required. It aims 
to protect the health of the County’s population from COVID-19 and 
assure stakeholders, and the public, that efficient and effective 
arrangements are in place. 

5 The Plan remains a dynamic document which will be updated according 
to learning and experience in dealing with the COVID-19 response. The 
Public Health Team will keep the Plan under regular review and 
amend/update according to local, regional and national developments.  

Recommendation 

6 The Adults, Wellbeing and Health Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is recommended to:  

a) note and agree the report and the robust governance and 
outbreak control arrangements in place to identify, control and 
contain COVID-19 cases, clusters and outbreaks. 

Background 

7 The County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan takes 
a population health protection approach and has a particular focus on 
higher risk settings, locations and communities which involves enhanced 
oversight with a broader range of partners, expertise, communications, 
intelligence and governance. This process is built on established and 
longstanding relationships with PHE North East Health Protection Team. 

8 The Local Outbreak Management Plan is managed by the Local Health 
Protection Assurance Board which currently meets fortnightly.  The plan 
is presented at every Health and Wellbeing Board along with the current 
activity update.   

9 Throughout the pandemic the plan has continued to be updated to 
include areas of work including the vaccination programme; 
developments to the NHS Test and Trace Service including the 
localisation of delivery through the Local Tracing Partnership; 
responding to Variants of Concern (VOCs); the role of Non-
Pharmaceutical Interventions (NPIs), including social and physical 
distancing, good hygiene and face coverings; self-isolation support and 
the ongoing work to support those most vulnerable and impacted by 
inequalities within our population. 

10 National guidance such as the Contain Framework and the Autumn and 
Winter Plan help the effective planning and deployment at local level 

Page 72



3 
 

and underpins what the Government is hoping to achieve. That is, living 
safely with the virus and acknowledging it will not be eradicated but will 
become endemic and will continue to circulate in pockets in the 
community. 

Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP)  

11 The LOMP is a dynamic document, evolving to plan and respond to any 
changes in the rates of COVID-19 and also major organisation change 
during 2021/22 including the establishment of the UK Health Security 
Agency (UKHSA) as well as the implementation of the white paper 
setting out legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill. 

12 The revised plan was assured and commended for several examples of 
good practice, including the comprehensive assurance provided by the 
plan, the Spike Detector Tool and Community Spike Outbreak 
Management Group, the collaborative work with the university (also 
commended in a Cabinet Office visit and presented nationally) and the 
Community Champions programme which has been presented at a 
number of national webinars. 
 

13 The plan’s objectives are to: 
 Protect the health of our local communities through: 

- Provision of clear prevention messages in relation to COVID-
19. 

- Rapid detection of COVID-19 cases, clusters and outbreaks 
including any new variant of concern or interest. 

- Preventing onward transmission. 

 Provide support to those who need to self-isolate. 

 Develop and apply intelligence, including the knowledge and 
insight provided by our local communities. 

14 In addition, the plan addresses: 

 Responding to Variants of Concern (VOC). 

 Action on enduring transmission. 

 Enhanced Contact Tracing, in partnership with HPT. 

 Ongoing role of Non-Pharmaceutical Interventions (NPIs), 
including social and physical distancing, good hygiene and face 
coverings 

 Interface with vaccines roll out  

 Activities to enable ‘living with COVID’ (COVID secure) 

Page 73



4 
 

15 The updated COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan is attached 
at appendix 2.  

 
 
 
Role of the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 

16 The key purpose of the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 
(HPAB) is to lead, co-ordinate and manage work to prevent the spread 
of COVID-19. 

17 The HPAB meets on a fortnightly basis. The current work of the HPAB 
includes:  

 Delivery of the COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan.  

 Regional oversight of LA7 work. 

 Data and intelligence analysis, including health data from County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CCDFT) and the 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 

 Developments and innovation: e.g. Vaccination Programme and 
the Spike Detection Tool. 

 Oversight of setting-based intervention, including educations, care 
homes, community, workplaces, University, etc. 

 Oversight of COVID-19 Testing including PCR and LFD testing 
strands available throughout the county.  

 Oversight of COVID-19 funding allocation and delivery. 

 Oversight of Outbreak Control.  

 Oversight of the Local Tracing Partnership.  

 Assurance of actions carried out in relation to COVID-19 

 

Current activity aligned to the Local Outbreak Management Plan 
(LOMP) 

Covid-19 Data  

18 Since the full easing of restrictions (Step 4 - 19 July 2021) we have seen 
a gradual upward increase in cases. As of 14 September 2021, County 

Page 74



5 
 

Durham’s 7-day rate is 429.7 per 100,000. This higher level of 
community transmission of infection aligns with rates across the North 
East and exceeds levels we would like to see with schools returning. We 
encourage everyone to continue to act carefully and remain cautious.  

19 To keep yourself up to date with the latest figures please use our local 
County Durham COVID-19 dashboard which provides a summary of 
cases by rates, ages and Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) along with 
current vaccination data, hospital bed occupancy and a summary of 
Covid-19 deaths. 

Outbreak control and community transmission  

20 COVID-19 outbreaks follow agreed PHE joint management 
arrangements set out in an overarching Standard Operating Procedure 
(SOP) which covers a number of different settings. The Director of 
Public Health provides oversight and leadership of all Outbreak Control 
Teams.  

21 The dedicated Outbreak Control Team (OCT) reporting to the Director of 
Public Health (DPH) and the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 
(HPAB) has established strong working relationships with key partners 
within the Council and across the health and social care system and 
draws on existing expertise depending on the setting or group of people 
affected, such as school, workplace, prison etc. They work closely with 
the HPT in PHE, supporting formally-convened OCTs. The council has 
committed to continue to fund the team until March 2022.  

22 From 19 July 2021 statutory guidance outlining local authority powers to 
impose restrictions was updated following the move into Step 4 of the 
roadmap. This enables local authorities to restrict access to, or close, 
individual premises, prohibit or restrict certain events, restrict access to, 
or close, public outdoor places and also included the enforcement of 
face coverings in premises, if evidence suggested a serious threat to 
public health. 

23 From 19 July 2021, the NHS test and trace in the workplace policy 
allowed critical workers in specifically approved workplaces who were 
fully vaccinated (14 days post final dose) and identified as close 
contacts permission to return to work, in exceptional circumstances 
where there was a risk to health or safety resulting from staff absence 
through the provision of a reduced level of care. This would only be 
invoked as a last resort. This process intended to run until 16 August 
2021. 

24 In this phase of continued caution while managing the risks of COVID-
19, the Government continued to work with local authorities. The 

Page 75



6 
 

Government provided national support to local areas which needed an 
enhanced response to ensure there was no danger of the NHS facing 
unsustainable pressure. The support was provided for a 5-week period, 
and included the option to deliver extra testing within targeted areas, the 
provision of logistical support to maximise vaccine uptake, and further 
help for local campaign 

25 The North East was identified as an enhanced response area following 
a rise in cases rates, however, due to proportionately low rates 
experienced in County Durham at that time, County Durham was not a 
target area for the support and interventions. However, local 
collaborative efforts to prioritise vaccinations and provide additional 
support to areas where vaccine rates were lower, have been mobilised. 

26 The 16 August 2021 saw a change to the self-isolation guidance, in line 
with step 4 of the government’s covid-19 roadmap. Double vaccinated 
people and those aged under 18 and 6 months no longer have to legally 
self-isolate if they were identified as close contacts of a positive Covid-
19 case by NHS Test and Trace and were advised to take a PCR test 
as soon as possible. 

27 Most double vaccinated health and social care staff who are close 
contacts of cases are able to routinely return to work, provided they 
have had a negative PCR test. Daily LFD tests are to be taken for 10 
days as a precaution. Staff working with clinically extremely vulnerable 
patients or service users needed a risk assessment to be carried out by 
a designated person in the workplace before they can return to work. 

28 The Workplace Daily Contact Testing (DCT) scheme continues, with 
testing sites offering daily testing as an alternative to self-isolation for 
close contacts who are not double vaccinated. Over 700 sites nationally 
are now in operation across critical sectors, and over 1 million test kits 
have been distributed.  

29 On 3 September 2021 the Department of Health and Social Care 
updated their operational guidance for the vaccination of people working 
in care homes. From 11 November 2021, all care home workers, and 
anyone entering a care home, will need to be fully vaccinated unless 
they are exempt. With this in mind the last date for care home workers 
to get their first dose so they are fully vaccinated by the time regulations 
come into force is the 16 September. 

Local NHS Test and Trace – Local Tracing Partnership 

30 The County Durham Local Tracing Partnership (LTP) became a pilot 
site for Local Zero on 6 April 2021 and replaced the national team as the 
first point of contact for contact tracing in County Durham. The LTP now 

Page 76



7 
 

accesses positive case details from the national NHS Test & Trace 
programme at the earliest opportunity to enable rapid engagement and 
local follow up including welfare and support via the Community Hub. 

31 Due to a rise in cases and as society has opened up demand on this 
service outweighed their capacity and the LTP had to return excess 
cases to the national team to follow up. The LTP have implemented a 
demand management and recruitment plan to support the increase in 
contact tracing. 

32 From 3 August the LTP have been operating with priority postcodes. A 
matrix has been developed to underpin which postcodes are prioritised.  
This is based upon localities: 

 Vaccination status  
 Case prevalence over time  
 Compliance with Test and Trace contact 

Any changes to postcodes prioritised are reviewed by the LTP Oversight 
Group.   

33 The LTP received 1506 cases in August and retained 1484 cases with 
only 22 returned to the national team. 

34 A successful recruitment plan is progressing including the recruitment of 
casual staff and support of trained staff from substantive roles to support 
LTP to enable their capacity to respond with changing demand and 
provide flexibility and resilience for the autumn and winter. 

Covid-19 Vaccination Programme  

35 The Covid-19 vaccination programme continues to be rolled out 
successfully and at speed across County Durham. Currently we have 
seen:  

 More than 692,000 doses have been given in total as of 4 August 
2021.  

 89.4% of the 16+ population have received their 1st dose with 
81.0% receiving their 2nd dose as of 9 September 2021.  

 Just under 19,000 people aged 40+ are yet to have their 1st dose. 
Enhanced work is ongoing to encourage uptake of vaccinations 
with Comms targeting the top 10 areas with higher rates.  

 Champions and Awareness Co-ordinators have formed joined up 
approach to support vaccine venues to engage with hard to reach 
and low take up areas.  

Page 77



8 
 

 All 14 County Durham GP sites and Community Pharmacies to 
offer booster vaccinations.  

 County Hall opened on 10 September 2021 to give flu 
vaccinations to NHS staff in preparation for Covid vaccinations.  

 From 13 September 2021 booster vaccinations started for all 
health and social care staff from County Hall and Darlington 
Memorial Hospital. 

 Appointments for 16-18 yr olds for single and the first of two 
doses are available through online booking systems or walk in 
sites. 

 GPs and hospital hubs are vaccinating 12-18 yr olds with health 
conditions or those living with people with suppressed immunity. 

 Work is ongoing with Durham University to offer and encourage 
returning students to have both vaccines from mid-September 
using the testing centre on Palace Green. 

 Work is ongoing on the ‘leaving no one behind’ programme for 
vaccine take up.  

 We are focussing on future pop-up clinics for low uptake areas 
not close to a vaccination site. Community and comms plans are 
in places to encourage residents to access the vaccine.  

 JVCI further guidance is pending regarding the eligibility for the 
3rd booster Covid vaccination. 

 Planning is underway to prepare for the vaccination of 12 to 15-
year-olds in partnership with schools. 

 
Covid-19 Testing Programmes 

 
Testing Oversight Group 

36 The Testing Oversight Group provides governance for the range of 
testing channels currently deployed (below) and recording progress, 
issues and risks: 

 Education: (Secondaries, Primaries, FE, Special Schools, Early 
Years and PVI). 

 Community: (special workforce solutions (F&R, Aycliffe Secure), 
Workplaces – staff who can’t WFH, Staff and volunteers in 

Page 78



9 
 

contact with Clinically Extremely Vulnerable, and targeted 
asymptomatic testing. 

 Workforce (other): Care Homes, Day Care and Prisons.  

 PCR: Static Sites and MTUs. 

37 Targeted work with underrepresented groups is underway making links 
with Gypsy Roma Traveller communities, Foodbanks and School 
Governing bodies to promote asymptomatic testing. 

38 The three key testing channels; PCR testing; LFD testing and surge 
testing are detailed below: 

PCR Testing (Polymerase Chain Reaction) 

39 PCR testing is the gold standard of test where swabs are processed in 
labs and results are reported within 24hrs. Work in this area include:  

 The Outbreak Control Team (OCT) works closely to plan and 
direct PCR testing resources to high COVID-19 rate areas that 
are identified, and in response to any testing requests from 
individual Outbreak Control meetings. 
   

 The County continues to be served by Mobile Testing Units 
(MTU) that are located and moved across the county as demand 
and rates require. 

 

 County Hall overflow car park is due to re-open Monday to Friday 
week commencing 27 September to provide additional PCR 
capacity in the city on students’ return, as the Howlands site is to 
become a university LFD site. 
 

 East Durham College, Peterlee, has agreed to allow the site to 
continue to operate during term time. This gives a replacement 
permanent MTU site in the east of the county. 
 

 Consett AFC is no longer available as a site from September to 
October, the council is exploring using the Karbon Homes site in 
Greencroft/Annfield Plain at the weekend. 

 
 Durham County Council is considering extending licences for the 

use of the Etherley Lane (Bishop Auckland) and Riverside 
(Chester-le-Street) sites to continue the two LTS over the winter. 

 

Page 79



10 
 

 DHSC has been trialling mobile processing units (MPUs) at sites 
in the county over the past few weeks.  Aiming to process tests on 
site and produce test results within two-hour timeframe 

 
Lateral Flow Device (LFD) Testing  

40 The aim in County Durham has been to develop a rapid and targeted 
asymptomatic community testing solution to support our actions to 
control the transmission of the virus.  

41 From July 2021 testing was re-shaped to deliver a mobile assisted 
testing site (ATS) service, with a smaller/casual workforce, responding 
to spikes, high rates, targeting high prevalence area and identified 
vulnerable groups has been implemented. This service is also available 
for backup assisted testing responses for surge, schools and workplace 
testing. Work in this area include: 

 New Guidance on LFD testing for nose only tests (ACON flowflex) 
was published 2 August 2021. 

 All identified community collection points have been stocked with 
117 venues available for collection of both home testing packs 
including libraries, leisure centres and customer access points. 

 Some of our community centres informally became collection 
points for LFD home test kits, these were given out at foodbank 
points. The Gypsy Roma Traveller community were supported 
with testing, vaccinations and self-isolation whilst travelling to and 
from the Appleby Fair. 

 Currently, a team is in place supporting schools with twice weekly 
assisted LFD testing for the start of the Autumn term; 700 tests 
have been taken at Durham 6th Form accessing both testing 
packs. 

 All targeted collection points – DCC venues / Domestic Abuse 
refuges / Harbour / GRT team / GRT Nurse / Permanent and 
temporary stop over sites / DARS Recovery Centres / Family 
Centres / One Point Hubs have all been supplied with LFD Home 
Test Kits for distribution.  

 Planning is in place for the reinstatement of local conferences, 
guidance and risk assessment for managers; threshold based on 
scale of event, as part of winter planning, including considering 
the need for testing at these events. 

Page 80



11 
 

 Durham University’s Test to Release programme for students 
returning home at the end of term had 1194 participants with 88% 
testing negative including a final PCR with 49 positive tests at the 
initial start of the programme. 

 The University is also continuing its Test to Participate scheme 
into the new term for new and returning students which includes 
Welcome Orientation Week. 

 Daily contact testing for the workforce is continuing with Co-op 
Logistics, Fire & Rescue, Lidl and HMP Durham set up. 

 Residents can continue to order a home LFD test kit online or 
from local collection points. More information can be found here, 
www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT   

Surge testing  

42 Surge testing involves increased testing together with enhanced contact 
tracing to detect and assess the spread of a specific variants.  Genomic 
sequencing of PCR tests are carried out to understand prevalence, to 
link variant strains and to identify possible routes of transmission. 

43 The current national programme of surge testing is known as Operation 
Eagle. Locally, work has been ongoing with partners and led by the 
Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to finalise local surge testing plans 
including a table top exercise to develop the plans. These have been 
approved by CMT / LRF and HPAB. 

Variant of Concern (VoCs)  

44 When new variants of COVID-19 are identified, rapid research is 
undertaken nationally and internationally to assess the impact of the 
variants on factors which might change the impact of the virus on 
humans: for example, whether it is more transmissible; whether it 
causes more severe illness; or vaccine efficacy. . 

45 Within County Durham a VoC Oversight Group has been convened (co-
chaired by the Deputy Director in Public Health and a Consultant in 
Health Protection, HPT). The group meets weekly to discuss VoC 
cases. These cases are monitored through shared line list and regular 
updates from HPT and daily systematic review of local data. This group 
reports to the HPAB. 

COVID-19 funding  

46 The purpose of this funding is ‘to provide support to local authorities in 
England towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred in 

Page 81



12 
 

relation to the mitigation against management of local outbreaks of 
COVID-19’.   

47 The Outbreak Funding Budget Group continues to oversee the process 
for managing expenditure from funding received through the Test and 
Trace Grant and Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF).  

48 The Outbreak Funding Budget Group provide monthly updates to the Health 
Protection Assurance Board and CMT to ensure those receiving funding follow 
the Outbreak Funding Briefing and Procedure regarding expenditure, 
recharge, monitoring and reporting. 

49 The Group ensures: 

 Lead officers/bid owners complete their monthly expenditure 
monitoring forms and bi-monthly project progress updates to 
assess and report to HPAB and CMT.  

 Bids have been RAG rated to clearly identify progress against 
forecast. 

50 Where there is a concern with progress/expenditure of funding bids lead 
officers/bid owners will be invited to a surgery meeting late September 
to discuss the progress of their bids, and exception reports will be 
submitted to CMT. 

51 COMF funding to date has supported work across the Council and with 
partners with some bids now completed including: 

 Mutual Aid and VCS Emergency Support 

 Portable handwashing stations for schools 

 Re-opening of schools swimming pools 

 Additional support to schools to cover unplanned operating costs during 
Covid 

 Grandparents plus scheme 

 Testing co-ordination and support 

 Community grants schemes 

 Covid secure temporary accommodation  

 

Regional Collaboration LA7  

52 The seven local authorities of County Durham, Gateshead, Newcastle, 
North Tyneside, Northumberland, South Tyneside, and Sunderland 
have been working as a collective LA7 since September 2020 focusing 
on a joint approach to COVID-19. 

Page 82



13 
 

53 The approach is based on a deep understanding of our local 
communities and informed by data and intelligence which centres 
around the inequalities that local communities face, either directly or 
indirectly due to COVID-19. The work has included political leadership 
and lobbied for interventions specific to the needs of north east 
residents, businesses and the health and social care system. 

54 The joint approach has centered around a small set of priorities, 
informed by Directors of Public Health: 

1. Engage our communities and work with them to address 
inequalities; 

2. Localised, regionally coordinated Test, Trace and Isolate 
programme; 

3. Roll-out of targeted community testing; 

4. Protection of vulnerable individuals in the community; 

5. Rapid implementation of a vaccine programme. 

 
55 These have been revisited in light of the revised policy and guidance: 

 To protect our communities and mitigate the significant health 
inequalities as a direct or indirect impact of covid 

 Built on early intervention, strong public health collaboration, 
resources to initiate the actions 

 To protect those most vulnerable, keep our schools open and 
support our businesses and economy and public services  

 To live safely with covid-19 as restrictions are lifted 

 Continued implementation of local outbreak management plans 
and all actions/support within these 

 Support NHS colleagues to maintain standards 

 Implement Govt guidance  

 Agree updated testing strategy 

 Ensure support for those unable to make personal choices 

56 The award winning Beat COVID NE campaign informed by insights from 
local people giving a joint message across the LA7 geography has been 
a visible and positively evaluated outcome of this collaboration and this 
work continues to support communication campaigns addressing 
vaccine hesitancy and the easing of restrictions. 

Page 83



14 
 

Communications 

57 Clear and timely communication plays a key part of any effective 
outbreak response. Throughout the pandemic the Outbreak Control 
team has contributed to and supported the work of the COVID-19 
communications group, providing all members with specialist Public 
Health advice and information. The team has been involved in all 
aspects of the outward facing public communications and internal DCC 
communications, developing a local communication plan aligned to the 
LOMP. The Drummond Beat Covid North East campaign has now 
moved to an ‘Acts of Kindness’ messaging campaign since mid-August. 

58 Communication activity focus has included:  

 Promotion of pop up testing sites and the Melissa bus is ongoing. 

 Targeted comms in low vaccine take up areas and locations 
of pop up sites.  

 Refresh of hands, face, space assets with the message changed 
more to thank residents for thinking of others and continuing to 
wear a mask, keep their distance etc.  

 Communications for return to school and twice weekly assisted 
testing in the autumn term. 

 Focus on return to work/office encouraging twice weekly LFD 
testing symptomatic PCR test for close contacts 

 Mandatory vaccines for staff and changes to self-isolation 

 Collective push on testing 

 Ongoing communications; get tested; self-isolate; vaccinations; 
‘Let’s keep life moving’; community collect 

 Autumn/winter planning during September 

59 Local communications and actions are aligned with PHE and with local, 
regional, and national partners as appropriate for the best outcomes for 
our communities and the reduction of community transmission. 

 
Covid Champions 

60 COVID-19 Community Champions are trusted voices in local 
communities. As well as us sharing relevant and timely information with 
communities, Champions share feedback from communities - what's 
working well, what questions people have, what people think can be 
done better enabling responses to be shaped by local intelligence.  

Page 84



15 
 

61 Covid Champions have supported our communities to progress through 
the steps of the roadmap, informing local communities on self-isolation, 
promoting our testing sites to encourage people to test regularly and 
supported the vaccine programme, targeting areas for further 
communication where there have been increases in positive cases. 

62 To date there are 91 people engaged in the programme who are 
currently active: 29 Champions Plus and 62 Champions. A recruitment 
plan has been developed and is underway to recruit more Champions 
and Champions Plus. The plan continues to welcome generic 
Champions to join the programme and has a targeted approach – 
geographically and target populations. 

63 Champions are currently seeking information from communities re: 
vaccine hesitancy and 2nd doses. Champions case studies have been 
developed into a press release promoting the Champions Programme, 
vaccinations and further activities of the Melissa bus.   

64 Champions have: 

 Shared 90 key messages to date. 
 Expressions of interest for Wellbeing for Life volunteer roles 

across Easington, Spennymoor/Byers Green and Consett. 
 Given out LFD testing kits in the north of the county alongside 

food deliveries and walk in food parcel support, at community 
sessions, the Melissa bus alongside the vaccine campaign and an 
invite to freshers week with East Durham College providing an 
opportunity to recruit younger people to the programme. 

 
The Young Covid Champions programme has; 

 engaged with coaches, family workers and leaders during the 
school holidays.  

 formed wider links post August with the training/engagement offer to be 
rolled out to front facing groups, and organisations who interact with 
children, young people and families.    
 

 focussed on young people’s awareness of Covid, behaviour 
changes and appropriateness of key messages.  

National Updates 

Contain Framework 

65 The Government’s recently published Contain Framework provided 
further details of how the lockdown restrictions in England will be ended in 
COVID-19 response: summer 2021. This marked a new phase in the 

Page 85



16 
 

government’s response to the pandemic, moving away from stringent 
restrictions to everyone’s day-to-day lives and towards advising people on 
how to protect themselves and others, alongside targeted interventions to 
reduce risk. 

66 The updated Contain Framework sets out: 

 Roles and responsibilities –  

o LAs; partners; regional and national teams  

o decision-making and incident response structures 

 Core components of outbreak prevention and management, inc. 
VOCs 

 The continued requirements of the LA response 

o local outbreak management plans (LOMPs) 

 The support local authorities can expect  

o from regional and national teams   

67 The emphasis focusses on 5 key areas: 

 Vaccines – Reinforce the country’s vaccine wall of defence 
through booster jabs and driving take up  

o Drive up vaccination rates in lower uptake cohorts 

o Ensure 2nd vaccinations are completed 

o Autumn / Winter booster programme 

 The move away from statutory guidance – Enable the public to 
make informed decisions through guidance, rather than laws  

o Cautious guidance for individuals, businesses and the 
vulnerable 

o a gradual and safe return to workplaces 

o Hands, face, space, - being outside or letting fresh air in 

o Minimise social contacts 

o Events encouraged to use NHS Covid pass 

 

 NHS Test and Trace – Retain proportionate test, trace and isolate 
plans 

Page 86



17 
 

o Critical to test on symptoms and to self-isolate until results 

o All positive cases contacted to provide effective support for self-
isolation 

o Identifying the contacts of those who have tested positive will 
remain a priority 

o Where contacts are fully vaccinated, or under 18, the approach 
will shift. (16 August) 

o For other contacts greater use of daily LFD testing as an 
alternative to self-isolation 

 

 Manage risks – Border response to reduce the risk of variants 
entering UK  

o Local authorities and DPH supporting border controls - ports of 
entry- in their local areas 

o Supporting access to primary health care locally 

o Supporting compliance with testing and quarantine regimes 

 

 Contingency for the unforeseen – Retain contingency measures 
to respond to unexpected events, while accepting that further 
cases, hospitalisations and deaths will occur as the country learns 
to live with COVID-19 

o Locally the prevention and management of outbreaks  

o The ability to respond swiftly and robustly to a variant outbreak 
with the support of HPTs and national teams 

o Gov to maintain contingency plans for reimposing economic 
and social restrictions at a local, regional and national level (as 
a last resort). 

 

COVID-19 Response – Autumn and Winter Plan 

68 The Government has published the ‘COVID-19 Response: Autumn and 
Winter Plan’ on 14 September 2021. Steadily, over the course of this 
year, the whole United Kingdom (UK) has seen life return closer to 
normal. Between March and July this year, the Government’s roadmap 
for England reopened the economy and lifted restrictions in four steps. 
The country is learning to live with COVID-19, and the main line of 
defence is now vaccination rather than lockdown. The Test, Trace and 
Isolate system is reducing the number of positive cases mixing in the 
community. Rules and regulations have mostly been replaced with 

Page 87



18 
 

advice and guidance on the practical steps people can take to help 
manage the risks to themselves and others.  

69 Over autumn and winter, the Government will aim to sustain the 
progress made and prepare the country for future challenges, while 
ensuring the National Health Service (NHS) does not come under 
unsustainable pressure. 

70 In summary the Government plans to achieve this by: 

 1. Building our defences through pharmaceutical interventions: 
vaccines, antivirals and disease modifying therapeutics. The 
Government has three priorities for the COVID-19 vaccination 
programme in England for the autumn and winter:  

 Maximising uptake of the vaccine among those that are eligible 
but have not yet taken up the offer, (this links nicely to our local 
leaving no-one behind work).  

 Offering booster doses to individuals who received vaccination in 
Phase 1 of the COVID-19 vaccination programme (priority 
groups 1-9). 

 Offering a first dose of vaccine to 12-15 year olds. 

 2. Identifying and isolating positive cases to limit transmission: 
Test, Trace and Isolate. The Test, Trace, and Isolate system remains 
critical to the Government’s plan for managing the virus over the 
autumn and winter. 

 The Government will continue to expect everyone with COVID-19 
symptoms to self-isolate and take a polymerase chain reaction 
(PCR) test. The legal requirement to self-isolate for 10 days if an 
individual tests positive for COVID-19 will remain in place in order 
to prevent those who are infected from mixing in the community 
and passing on the virus.  

 Regular asymptomatic testing will continue to help find cases and 
break the chains of transmission. It will be particularly focused on 
those who are not fully vaccinated, those in education, and those 
in higher-risk settings such as the NHS, social care, and prisons. 
Community testing will continue to support local authorities to 
focus on disproportionately-impacted and other high-risk groups.   

 Testing for students in Secondary schools, further education and 
higher education, will continue for the rest of this term.   

 At a later stage, as the Government’s response to the virus 
changes, universal free provision of LFDs will end, and 
individuals and businesses using the tests will bear the cost. The 
Government will engage widely on the form of this model as it is 

Page 88



19 
 

developed, recognising that rapid testing could continue to have 
an important, ongoing role to play in future.   

 Contact tracing will continue. 
 The use of the NHS COVID-19 app will continue to be 

encouraged 
 The Government will continue to offer practical and financial 

support to those who are eligible and require assistance to self-
isolate. The Government will review the future of these 
regulations as well as this support by the end of March 2022. 

 3. Supporting the NHS and social care: managing pressures and 
recovering services. 

 The Government announced on 6 September that there will be an 
additional £5.4 billion cash injection to the NHS in England to 
support the COVID-19 response over the next 6 months. This 
includes £1 billion to help tackle backlogs in elective procedures 
caused by COVID-19 and the delivery of routine surgery and 
treatments for patients 

 To support those with long COVID, the NHS continues to expand 
its long COVID services including assessment clinics, paediatric 
hubs and an enhanced service for general practice. 

 The proven effectiveness of the vaccine rollout across the entire 
population has reduced the risk of serious illness from COVID-19. 
This also applies to CEV individuals, the majority of whom will be 
well-protected by the vaccine. Third doses have been offered for 
those with severely weakened immune systems and to maintain 
protection, the former CEV group will be prioritised for a booster 

 The Government recommends as many people as possible 
receive a vaccination against flu this autumn and winter. The 
NHS has begun to roll out the annual campaign for the flu 
vaccination from August 2021. A free flu vaccination will still be 
available for all previously eligible groups: 

o Primary school children. 
o 65 year olds and over. 
o Vulnerable groups. 
o Pregnant women. 

 The Government has also extended eligibility for a free flu 
vaccination this year to include: 

 Secondary school children 
 50-64 year olds 

 

Page 89



20 
 

 For those not eligible for a free flu vaccine, some employers offer 
these vaccinations through workplaces, and vaccinations are 
available for a small fee from pharmacies. 

 4. Advising people on how to protect themselves and others: 
clear guidance and communications. 
 Safer behaviours and actions that reduce the spread of COVID-

19.  It remains important for everyone, including those who are 
fully vaccinated, to follow behaviours and actions that reduce 
transmission and help to keep people safe. Following the 
recommended actions will also help limit the spread of seasonal 
illnesses, including flu.   
 

 The behaviours encouraged to prevent the spread include: 

o Let fresh air in if you meet indoors. Meeting outdoors remains 
safer. 

o Wear a face covering in crowded and enclosed settings 
where you come into contact with people you do not normally 
meet. 

o Get tested, and self-isolate if required 
o Try to stay at home if you are feeling unwell.  
o Wash your hands with soap and water or use hand sanitiser 

regularly throughout the day.  
o Download and use the NHS COVID-19 app to know if you’ve 

been exposed to the virus. 

 
71 To support businesses through the autumn and winter period, the 

Government will continue to provide up-to-date Working Safely 
guidance on how employers can reduce the risks in their workplace. 

72 The Government will support improved ventilation in key settings by:  

 Providing further advice and support to businesses to help them 
check their ventilation levels and introduce Cardon Dioxide (CO2) 
monitoring where appropriate. 

 Conducting further scientific research to assess ventilation levels 
in a range of business settings. 

 Investing £25 million in c.300,000 CO2 monitors for schools. 

 Improving the management of ventilation across the public sector 
estate alongside bespoke guidance to maximise the effectiveness 
of existing mechanical and natural ventilation. This has included 

Page 90



21 
 

deploying CO2 monitors in courts as well as targeted rollouts and 
trials of these monitors in other settings. 

 Continuing to support and promote pilots of how to limit 
transmission through ventilation or air purification 

 

Conclusion 

73 The Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) provides assurance, 
governance and future direction to ensure the ongoing ability for all 
settings to respond rapidly to any outbreak situation to protect the health 
of the residents and workforce of County Durham. 

74 The Outbreak Control Team are revising the LOMP based on updated 
guidance, the Contain Framework and Winter Plans so that we are 
ready to work through Autumn/Winter. 

 

Background papers 

 Included in Plan 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Amanda Healy Tel:  03000 264323 

 
  

Page 91



22 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 

N/A. Health Protection: Legal and Policy Context1 

The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which present a 
risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and management sits:  

 With Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
 With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
 With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control of 

Disease) Act 1984  
 With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups2 to collaborate with Directors of 

Public Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing and 
treating) to assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012  

 With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents 
as part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

 In the context of COVID-19 there is also the Coronavirus Act 2020.  

Finance 

Local Outbreak Management Funding to be allocated to Local Authorities still 
to be confirmed. 

Consultation 

Ongoing consultation with the key partners, community representatives and 
PHE members. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Vulnerable populations must be reached and supported. 

Climate Change 

N/A. 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

 
1 ADPH, FPH, PHE, LGA et al (2020) Public Health Leadership, Multi-Agency Capability: Guiding Principles for 
Effective Management of COVID-19 at a Local Level. https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf 

Page 92



23 
 

N/A. 

Staffing 

Staff time across all key stakeholders for the ongoing planning, 
prevention, and support for the outbreak management to protect 
residents.  

Accommodation 

N/A. 

Risk 

Risks are identified throughout the LOMP. 

Procurement 

N/A. 

Disability issues 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 93



24 
 

 

Appendix 2:  COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan 

 

COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan – See separate file 

 

 

Page 94



 

V3 – 12/03/21   1 
 

 
County Durham  

COVID-19  

Local Outbreak 
Management Plan  

2021/2022 

 

Page 95



 

V3 – 12/03/21   2 
 

Contents page 

 Page 
number 

Section 1 

 Introduction 5 

 Good Practice 6 

 Purpose 10 

 Principles 10 

 Objectives 10 

Section 2 

 Outbreak Management 11 

 Outbreak Management Arrangement 12 

 Outbreak Control Teams (OCTs) 14 

 Data and Surveillance 16 

 Testing 19 

 Contact Tracing 23 

 Vaccinations 27 

 Themes 29 

 Communications 29 

 Community Engagement 32 

 Vulnerable and Underserved Communities 34 

Section 3 

 Settings 37 

 Care Homes 38 

 Children’s Residential Care Homes 40 

 Healthcare Settings 42 

Page 96



 

V3 – 12/03/21   3 
 

 Workplaces (External) 47 

 Workplaces (Internal- DCC) 49 

 Schools 52 

 Higher Education Establishments 55 

 Prisons 59 

Section 4 

 Governance 62 

 Funding 63 

Section 5  

 Local Health Protection Assurance Board 80 

 Health and Wellbeing Board 82 

 Corporate Oversight 82 

 Local Resilience Forum 83 

 Regional Oversight Group 83 

Appendices  

 Appendix A: Joint management arrangement (PHE 
HPT and LA)  

 

 Appendix B: Previously Agreed North East Ways of 
Working  (November 2020) 

 

 Appendix C: Governance  

 Appendix D: Local Health Protection Assurance 
Board – Terms of Reference 

 

 

Page 97



 

4 
 

 
Introduction 

 
The main aim of the County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management 
Plan is to set out arrangements for the protection of the health of the local 
population in the context of COVID-19.  This document represents a review of 
the plan originally published in July 2020 and gives an update on actions and 
activities since the original was written and outlines Durham’s response to the 
government documents COVID-19 Response – Spring 2021 and the 
refreshed Contain Framework. 
 
County Durham is unique, covering an area of 862 square miles, sharing a 
border with eight other local authorities and with almost 540,000 residents.  
Reflecting the diverse needs and assets of the population, the county hosts a 
university, 214 primary and 33 secondary schools, around 14,000 businesses, 
almost 180 care homes, four prisons,one main and five community hospital 
sites, 13 Primary Care Networks and 63 GP practices. 
 
COVID-19 has taken its toll on local residents.  Since the pandemic began 
and as of 4 March 2021, there have been 36,428 positive cases of COVID-19 
and 1,183 COVID-19-related deaths registered.  As various studies have 
shown, the impact of COVID-19 has been unequal across society and that the 
consequences of the pandemic will worsen this for some time.  Improving and 
protecting the health of residents, including tackling the social determinants of 
health and health inequalities have been front and centre to our response.  
However, communities have also demonstrated remarkable resilience and 
support for each other during the pandemic 
 
Data and surveillance have been central to informing our understanding and 
response to the pandemic.  Further information on local COVID-19 infection 
rates, hospital admissions and deaths can be found on the Durham Insight 
web pages: InstantAtlas Durham – Covid 19 (durhaminsight.info)  
 
In addition to this public facing dashboard, further, more granular surveillance 
and monitoring have also been carried out via a Local Resilience Framework 
dashboard. 
 
The recent steady decreases in rates of infection – now at their lowest since 
late September 2020 – are testament to the collective efforts and sacrifices of 
the community and organisations working together to control the spread of the 
virus and provide vaccinations.  Again, data and surveillance have been key to 
this programme.  A vaccinations dashboard can be found on InstantAtlas 
Durham – Covid 19 (durhaminsight.info) 
 
 
 

Page 98



 

5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Since September 2020, we have experienced a mixture of restrictions, 
including tiered approaches to local authorities, and two national lockdowns.  
During this time, we have learned more about the virus and the range of 
conditions it can cause, have witnessed the emergence of new variants, and 
seen the roll out of the COVID-19 vaccination programme at remarkable 
speed. 

Right now, it is clear that government wishes the exit from national lockdown 
to bring irreversible changes in relaxing restrictions, with an expectation that 
society will live with COVID-19 rather than seek elimination of the virus and 
meet and manage the challenges of variants of concern and enduring 
transmission.  This updated plan sets out how the council and partners will 
work together within this context. 

  
Good Practice   

 
Within the council, we have built upon our existing specialist public health 
expertise to ensure that Public Health and all service areas were ready and 
able to work together to prevent, manage and contain multiple COVID-19 
outbreaks, as well as responding to COVID-19 enquiries and translating 
guidance and policy into practice.  In addition, funding provided by central 
government has allowed us to increase capacity within Community Protection, 
Communications, Infection Prevention and Control and to establish a 
dedicated Outbreak Control Team within Public Health.  Overall, this has 
enabled the council to set up a new model for health protection – one which 

Page 99



 

6 
 

does not just tackle outbreaks or incidents, but also responds to the impact on 
individuals, and harnesses the power of our fantastic local communities. 

The existing plan has enabled the county to adapt and respond to the 
demands of increasing case rates.  This has built on long established and 
trusted relationships with Public Health England (PHE) North East Health 
Protection Team (HPT) and includes agreeing new ways of working, which 
have resulted in local authority staff providing initial case investigation across 
a number of settings including schools and workplaces, whilst maintaining 
close oversight by PHE HPT.  

Key to the success of County Durham’s response has been the deployment of 
public health skills in epidemiology, data analysis and evaluation.  This 
intelligence-led approach has ensured the systematic monitoring, analysis and 
reporting of cases, rates, clusters, outbreaks, admissions, deaths, excess 
deaths.  Our interactive dashboards and maps provide residents, elected 
members and partners with access to timely data, which enables them to 
understand the demand on services and impact on our communities.  
 
Dedicated briefing sessions have been held with elected members and the 
dashboard was presented by the Director of Public Health to the 14 Area 
Action Partnerships which cover the county during the autumn of 2020 which 
also served to update and engage local partners in Covid-19 response.  
 

 

Page 100



 

7 
 

We developed a spike detector tool which flags areas that have more cases 
than expected and areas that have seen a sharp rise in cases.  Data is 
analysed twice a week to detect any areas that appear to have a spike in 
cases.  Two dimensions are monitored for unusual case rates (exceedance) - 
place and time.  This is then discussed at the Community Spike Outbreak 
Management Group to seek to understand what is driving any  local spike in 
cases, such as a care home outbreak, a workplace outbreak, or community 
transmission -  each of which would need a different type of intervention.  In 
addition, we have held several workshops and desktop exercises to plan for 
different scenarios and exercise Outbreak Control Group procedures and 
spike and surge testing responses. 
 
Effective collaborations locally, within the region, across systems and places 
provide local learning to inform future planning and delivery of health 
protection and resilience functions.  An early reflection from practice review is 
that there should be a shift to more localised delivery and place-based 
approaches, with the emphasis on individuals and communities affected. 

The council has risen to the challenges the pandemic has posed our 
residents, especially the most vulnerable, for example by quickly establishing 
the County Durham Together Community Hub.  This involved using a 
population health management approach to identify and then offer support to 
people who are clinically extremely vulnerable (CEV) and those with multiple 
social vulnerabilities (MSV).  For example, the Gypsy Roma Traveller  

A Specialist Nurse has proactively engaged with members of these 
communities ensuring they are able to access testing, self-isolation support 
and vaccinations. 
 
In addition to the hub helping to meet the physical, social, and medical needs 
of the local community, the council has also established its own contact 
tracing service in the form of the Local Tracing Partnership.  This enables the 
local authority to provide support to those lost to follow up by NHS Test and 
Trace, increasing the opportunity to access positive cases earlier and provide 
additionality to the national service via the wrap- around support offer to 
increase compliance and address inequalities.  
 
Positive partnerships and system working arrangements have facilitated the 
response to the pandemic, these include the Local A and E Delivery Board 
and Integrated Care Board, strong relationships with the community and 
voluntary sector who have supported the rapid response and provided 
resource throughout the pandemic from mutual aid, food provision, community 
testing and vaccination delivery. There has also been close collaboration and 
joint investment across the north east LA7 providing scale and strength to key 
aspects of the work, such as communications campaigns and liaison with 
central government.  Finally strong working arrangements between Directors 
of Public Health, Public Health England and regional teams liaising with 
government have proved invaluable in early response and joint action. 
 

Page 101



 

8 
 

Regional Collaboration LA7 
 
The seven local authorities of County Durham, Gateshead, Newcastle, North 
Tyneside, Northumberland, South Tyneside, and Sunderland have been 
working as a collective LA7 since September 2020 focusing on a joint 
approach to COVID-19. 
 
This has included political leadership to seek early intervention and 
restrictions  in September 2020 when infection rates were increasing rapidly 
across the area, coupled with lobbying for increased financial support.  
 
The approach is based on a deep understanding of our local communities and 
informed by data and intelligence which centeres around the inequalities that 
local communities face, either directly or indirectly due to COVID-19. 
The joint approach has centered around a small set of priorities, informed by 
Directors of Public Health: 

1. Engage our communities and work with them to address inequalities; 

2. Localised, regionally coordinated Test, Trace and Isolate programme; 

3. Roll-out of targeted community testing; 

4. Protection of vulnerable individuals in the community; 

5. Rapid implementation of a vaccine programme. 

 
It has included funding and delivery of a well evaluated public facing campaign 
Beat COVID NE informed by insights from local people.  This has given a joint 
message across the LA7 geography. https://www.beatcovidne.co.uk/ 
 
A focus on health inequalities, taking our communities with us and 
representing the needs of those most affected by COVID-19 has been central 
to our work with communities and our COVID community champions have 
been core to this work. 
  
The development of a more localised test and trace programme has centered 
on the Integrated North East Integrated COVID Hub and the move towards a 
more regional and local focused test and trace programme.  This has included 
local tracing partnerships, support for testing and has drawn additional funding 
into the North East. 
 
A joint approach to testing based on a set of principles has also been 
developed for the LA7 to ensure the roll-out of targeted community testing.  
This is based on protecting the most vulnerable, supporting safe working 
arrangements and contributing to action to reduce COVID-19 transmission 
and COVID-19 related health inequalities. 
 
Dedicated work with our care homes has formed part of this work, including  
the production of materials to support guidance, quality assurance and 
support for testing arrangements within care homes. 
 
More recently we have supported the implementation of the vaccination 
programme by seeking a core data set, providing leadership into the oversight 

Page 102



 

9 
 

of the vaccination programme and undertaking insight work on vaccine 
hesitancy.  A dedicated group to ensure high uptake of the vaccination 
programme has been established, alongside operational coordination groups. 
 
Finally, the LA7 is now also taking a joint approach to recovery, embedding 
health and wellbeing as a key outcome of economic recovery. 
 

  
Purpose   

 
The purpose of this plan is to prevent, manage and contain COVID-19 and 
minimise the resulting impact on residents.  This is our 12-month plan to 
protect the people of County Durham ensuring we can manage any new 
threats including enduring transmission, Variants of Concern (VoC) and 
multiple concurrent outbreaks, as well as respond to changes in testing 
arrangements and the government’s response plan. 
 

  
Principles  

 
The underpinning principles below are the core factors to pave the way out of 
lockdown: 

• Transmission of the virus needs to be kept as low as possible. 

• Surveillance of transmission and variant emergence must be optimal. 

• Test, Trace and Isolate needs to work effectively, with a clear testing 
strategy. 

• The vaccination programme should be delivered effectively and 
equitably.   

 

  
Objectives  

 Protect the health of our local communities through: 

o Provision of clear prevention messages in relation to COVID-19. 

o Rapid detection of COVID-19 cases, clusters and outbreaks 
including any new variant of concern or interest. 

o Preventing onward transmission. 

 Provide support to those who need to self-isolate. 

 Develop and apply intelligence, including the knowledge and insight 
provided by our local communities. 

Page 103



 

10 
 

  
Outbreak Management   

 
The council’s Public Health Team led by the Director of Public Health has and 
continues to work closely with the PHE HPT who have supported the 
strengthening of our health protection capabilities via the provision of training, 
weekly review meetings, escalation arrangements and the management of 
outbreaks across key settings and geographical areas. 
 
The team follows agreed joint management arrangements with PHE and 
national guidance.  
 
Box 1: Definition of an outbreak in a non-clinical setting 

 
Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 among individuals associated with 
a specific setting with onset dates within 14 days.  

AND ONE OF: 

Identified direct exposure between at least two of the confirmed cases in that 
setting (e.g. within 2 metres for more than 15 minutes) during the infectious 
period of the presumed index case. 

OR 

(When there is no sustained community transmission or equivalent risk level 
assessed by the Joint Biosecurity Centre) - absence of alternative source of 
infection outside the setting for initially identified cases. 

Closure of Outbreak 

The decision to declare an outbreak over should be informed by on-going risk 
assessment and when: 

No confirmed cases with onset dates in the last 28 days in that setting (higher 
threshold for outbreaks compared to clusters). 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-epidemiological-definitions-of-
outbreaks-and-clusters/covid-19-epidemiological-definitions-of-outbreaks-and-clusters-in-
particular-settings 
 
Joint Management Arrangements 
 
The joint management arrangements with PHE and local authorities have 
been revised throughout the course of the pandemic. The current position is s 
follows: 
 

Page 104



 

11 
 

Setting Lead team / 
organisation* 

Care Homes HPT 
Children’s Homes LA 
Domiciliary Care providers/Supported living services HPT 
Primary Care/Dental practices HPT 
Schools LA  
Universities LA 
Workplaces LA 
Emergency Services HPT 
Prisons (and secure children’s facilities) HPT 
Hostels LA 

 
Further details of can be found in Appendix A. 
 
 

  
Outbreak Management Arrangements 

 
Outbreak Control Team 
 
Early in the pandemic it was agreed that the COVID-19 outbreak funding 
would resource the appointment of additional staff including an outbreak 
control team and additional capacity in Community Protection, 
Communications, Human Resources and the Data and Intelligence Team. 

This core team was originally conceived as a supporting and coordinating unit 
that would oversee and facilitate the work of convened outbreak control teams 
(OCTs) established within the different settings outlined in the local outbreak 
control plan (e.g. education, care homes, community, workplaces, and 
prisons). 

Since its establishment, the Outbreak Control Team has worked across the 
council and with partners to respond to the rising numbers of cases and 
outbreaks.  We have put in place a range of procedures, including a triaging 
system, staff rotas in and out of hours, initial investigations of cases across all 
settings and have worked closely with the Health Protection Team, supporting 
formally-convened Outbreak Control Teams. The council has committed to 
continue to fund the team until March 2022. The team has also: 

 developed a case management system and internal infrastructure for 
escalating concerns; 

 provided regular situation reports to COVID CMT and the Local Health 
Protection Assurance Board for oversight; attended PHE HPT training 
and weekly review meetings to keep abreast of guidance and policy 

Page 105



 

12 
 

developments and updates, cascading this learning to the wider public 
health team and partners. 

Supported by the wider Public Health team and the capacity and capabilities 
built across the council including the Community Hub, the team has 
responded to and supported 3,088 reports of positive cases, stood up 23 
OCTs, and responded to over 10,000 enquiries. 

Cases supported to date  
Setting Number of self-reported to date 
Education (all ages) 1,900 
Nursery/day-care 333 
Other residential care 32 
Domiciliary social care providers 40 
Healthcare/NHS 17 
Hotel/caravan park 6 
Gym/leisure centre 20 
Sports club 15 
Beauty Industry 20 
T&T/Testing/Vaccine 7 
Pub/club 85 
Restaurant 19 
Workplace -DCC 193 
Business 382 
Community Centre 8 
General/Community 11 
Care Homes 261 
Prison 10 
Total 3,088  

*NB Prison and care homes cases are escalated to PHE HPT, figures above not accurate and not 
included in total 

 
Stood Up Outbreak Control Teams to date  

Good practice: 

 Daily Outbreak Control team meetings to review rates, Power BI line list 
data, self-reported cases, soft intelligence 

 Rapid escalation of concerns via SPOCs 

 Community Spike Detector Tool (see data and surveillance section) 

Setting Total 
Care Home 7 
Children’s Home 2 
Extra Care 1 
Prison 4 
Secure Children’s Home 1 
University 3 
Workplace 5 
Total 23 

Page 106



 

13 
 

 Community Spike Outbreak Management Group 

 Settings based oversight groups to monitor and respond to cases and 
concerns across high-risk settings 

 SPOCs Operational leads group including Community Hub, Local 
Tracing Partnership and Community Champions 

 Scenario exercises both internal and with partners e.g. Durham 
University, VCSE colleagues  

 Escalation to Director of Public Health 

 

 
 

  
Outbreak Control Teams (OCTs) 

 
COVID-19 outbreaks continue to follow the PHE joint management 
arrangements as agreed.  Arrangements between PHE and the local authority 
have been agreed via an overarching Standard Operating Procedure and then 
several more specific Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) based on 
different settings. 

The Director of Public Health and the Local Health Protection Assurance 
Board work closely with PHE if an OCT is required.  The OCT draws on 
existing local authority expertise depending on the setting or group of people 
affected, such as school, workplace, prison etc.  These are supported by a 
suite of papers for each setting, which include: 

Page 107



 

14 
 

 existing outbreak guidance and joint management arrangements and 
SOPs 

 Terms of Reference and membership 

 Agendas, action and decision log, update forms 

 
In County Durham, working closely with PHE we have been able to support 
and most importantly contain a number of high profile local outbreaks 
including Stanley Empire Working Men’s Club, Burnside Working Men’s Club, 
Durham University, HMP Durham and HMP Frankland, care homes and 
smaller outbreaks in a number of workplaces.  Colleagues within health care 
have managed health care outbreaks seeking advice and input from PHE and 
the Director of Public Health as appropriate. 
 
Good practice: 
 

 Daily systematic review of data; 

 Rapid escalation of concerns via SPOCs; 

 Speed of response to arising concerns; 

 Responsive stand up of OCTs and engagement of partners; 

 Strong relationships with key partners across all settings to mobilise 
response; 

 Rapid mobilising of testing via PHE, mobile testing units (MTUs) or 
community testing programme; 

 Rapid lessons learnt, sharing these as regular agenda items at the 
Local Health Protection Assurance Board and other groups as 
appropriate. 

 
Next steps 

 COVID-19 rapid response and outbreak management (including 
enhanced contact tracing) 

 
Out of hours arrangements 
The contact tracing Incident Control Centre at PHE is operational 8am-8pm, 
seven days a week and is aligned to multi-agency arrangements with a Single 
Point of Contact (SPOC) in place to support this. 
 
The council established robust out-of-hours (OOH) arrangements and a 
seven-day rota from September 2020, building on existing on-call 
arrangemenst for DPH/CPH.  This has been supported by the Public Health 
team and Environmental Health and Community Protection. 

 

Page 108



 

15 
 

  
Data and Surveillance   

 
Decision-making in public health, from routine responses to acute public 
health threats and long-term planning of interventions to improve the public’s 
health, is increasingly reliant upon the efficient use of data.  
 
The key area of focus in terms of data and surveillance during the pandemic 
has been to integrate effectively national and local data and intelligence to 
provide the best available understanding and insight into the situation in 
County Durham, in order to inform the actions of the County Durham Health 
Protection Assurance Board. 
 
The provision of pro-active, high quality, detailed, timely and locally focussed 
data and surveillance has underpinned decision-making at all levels and has 
been a critical factor in enabling the Board to take informed action.  This is 
essential for scenario planning, rapid response to outbreaks and to inform and 
support more effective targeting of interventions to prevent and manage 
outbreaks. 
 
This intelligence also supports the actions of numerous other groups including 
the Local Outbreak Management Group, various Outbreak Control Teams, the 
LRF Data Cell, Complex Cases OCT, Community and Restoration and 
Recovery Groups, the LRF Excess Deaths Cell and the Immunisations Board 
which oversees the COVID-19 vaccination programme. 
 
Since the publication of County Durham’s COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control 
Plan, the arrangements of national, regional, and local data flow and reporting 
have been established and undergone many developments and 
improvements as the response to the pandemic has developed, including: 
 

 the creation of the PHE Local Authority Report Store; 

 the development of the national GOV.UK Coronavirus dashboard and 
data store;  

 continued development of the PHE BI Situational Awareness Tool 
incorporating various individual level line lists; 

 the National Immunisation Management Service (NIMS) Covid Vaccine 
Uptake dashboard and report. 

 
These national developments have been augmented by several local 
surveillance developments, aimed at different target audiences (some in the 
public domain, others confidential and restricted) including the creation of: 
 

Page 109



 

16 
 

 an interactive public-facing COVID-19 dashboard on Durham Insight 
seeking to maximise transparency of local decision-making, and 
informing elected Members, MPs and the general public (including 
cases and rates, by age band and small area, hospital bed and ICU 
occupancy, and deaths (by setting, based on weekly ONS deaths data).  
Updated twice a week; 

 a COVID-19 landing page on Durham Insight, not only housing the 
above dashboard but also containing intelligence relating to our 
Clinically Extremely Vulnerable population (CEV) and infographics for 
each Area Action Partnership relating to the COVID-19 Health Impact 
Assessment plus a library of useful links.  Updated as required; 

 an interactive CMT (Corporate Management Teams, Durham County 
Council and Darlington Borough Council) and LRF (Local Resilience 
Forum) dashboard covering case numbers and rates, age distributions 
and deaths and comparing rates against other NE Local Authorities and 
various regions and changes over time.  Updated daily, six days a 
week. 

 an interactive Restoration Risk and Recovery mapping tool visualising 
cases over 7 and 14 days combined with a broad range of spatial data 
relating to settings and risks.  Updated daily, six days a week; 

 a real time death surveillance system and accompanying dashboard 
based on data direct from County Durham and Darlington Registrars 
(informing not only the Health Protection Assurance Board but also the 
LRF Excess Deaths Cell).  Data is provided by date of registration, date 
of death, by setting and updated daily, five days a week1; 

 a real time GIS (Geographic Information System) dashboard based on 
PHE line list data, showing the distribution of cases daily and those in 
care homes specifically, by bespoke geography (MSOA, settlement), 
age and gender and over 7 and 14 days.  Updated daily, 6 days a week; 

 a two-dimensional (place and time) local Case Exceedance or Spike 
Detector Tool, run twice a week to identify exceedance within small 
areas (MSOAs).  The tool flags potential spikes in community 
transmission and potential outbreaks if case numbers that exceed the 
expected number given background levels of infection or have 
significantly increasing cases.  This is then triangulated against the GIS 
dashboard in terms of age and case date distribution, possible care 
home links etc.  Updated twice a week. 

 the review, prioritisation and escalation of venues and premises flagged 
in PHE’s Common Exposure and Postcode Coincidence reports on a 
daily basis to inform outbreak prevention, containment, and response.  
Updated daily or as required, data dependent. 

 
To continue to combat the pandemic at a local level, it is vital we ensure all 
data from national, local and NHS sources are brought together to inform clear 
and decisive decision-making to prevent, identify and control outbreaks and 
identify high risk settings, locations and communities.  To assist this a regional 

 
1 There are no registrations over a weekend 

Page 110



 

17 
 

network of intelligence leads has been established through the Northern & 
Yorkshire PHE LKIS team creating strong local and regional links and 
providing a forum for intelligence and information, and issue escalation and 
professional support.  
 
Table 1. Key sources of data by frequency 

Frequency  Name  Coverage  Source  

Daily Line Lists Positive tests and cases County Durham  PHE  
   Negative and void tests County Durham PHE  
   Contact Tracing  County Durham  PHE  
   Enhanced contact tracing  National  PHE 
      

Daily 
dashboards and 
data 

NIMS Vaccine uptake report 
Capacity Tracker 
ASC in NHS Foundry 
Local Registrars    

Weekly 
reports and data 

ONS deaths  National  ONS 
ONS excess deaths   ONS 
PHE LA report   PHE 

  Regional Epi slides North East PHE 

As required  PHE HPT escalated issues   By setting  PHE HPT  
  
Risks 

 There is a requirement to fully maximise the usefulness of the various 
new national data feeds made available to local authorities with little or 
no notice (this includes the QR Venue app data which is expected in 
March 2021). 

 In some areas there is no ‘single version of the truth’ which risks 
duplication of effort and potentially mixed messages and inconsistent 
analysis.  There is a need to ensure consistency across the various 
reporting platforms (PHE, NHS), local intelligence, including resident 
versus registered populations. 

 The lack of a vaccine line list at individual level in PHE Power BI, or 
access to patient level vaccine data via either NIMS or the NHS 
Foundry. 

 
Next steps 

 Develop a reporting mechanism into the local Immunisations Board 
regarding vaccine take-up, with a particular focus on inequalities.  

 Explore the possibility of a minimum data set with health partners 
focussing specifically on resident postcode, age, and gender of admitted 
patients and ICU bed occupants. 

 Work with primary care partners to develop a ‘long COVID’ patient 
register. 

Page 111



 

18 
 

 Continue to advocate for a vaccine ‘line list’ including refusals.  This 
would allow us to link un/vaccinated individuals to hospital admissions. 

 Continue to build the data and surveillance capacity to facilitate the 
monitoring of VoC, vaccine uptake, wastewater testing, testing and local 
tracing partnership contact tracing. 

 

  
Testing 

 
The council and its partners have worked together well to ensure that there is 
a safe and effective testing offer available locally.  At the outset, the local 
authority worked with County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust to 
ensure that testing was available for members of staff who had symptoms of 
COVID-19.  
 
The council and partners have also worked closely with partners at the 
Integrated COVID Hub North East and national partners to localise test and 
trace.  The integrated COVID Hub has been developed to provide support to 
local authorities in test and trace arrangements. 
 
Collaboration with partners has also enabled fixed and mobile testing sites to 
be established throughout the county, including a city-centre site in Durham 
City so that Durham University students can be tested. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 

19 
 

Testing sites 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     Mobile Testing Unit (MTU) sites: Beamish; Belmont Park & Ride; Bishop Auckland AFC; 
Emirates Riverside, Chester-le-Street; Consett AFC; Dalton Park; Darlington RUFC; Howlands 
Durham; Horden; The Work Place, Newton Aycliffe; Traynor Way, Peterlee; Locomotion, Shildon; 
Sniperley Park & Ride; Scott Street, Stanley 
    Local Testing Sites (LTS):  Riverside South, Chester-le-Street; Territorial Lane, Durham; County 
Hall, Durham North. 
    Community Testing Sites (as a 12 March): Louisa Centre, Stanley; Meadowfield Leisure Centre; 
Newton Aycliffe Leisure Centre; Teesdale Leisure Centre; Spennymoor Leisure Centre; East Durham 
College, Peterlee. 

The council has worked with schools and business to enable access to testing 
where needed for pupils and members of staff who cannot study or work from 
home. 
 
We have also worked closely with Durham University which was a pilot for the 
evaluation of lateral flow device testing and then went on to develop an 
ongoing extensive asymptomatic testing programme for its staff and students. 
 
In conjunction with national and regional colleagues, we have supported care 
homes to maintain testing regimes during outbreaks and on an ongoing basis. 
 
In responding to outbreaks and heightened levels of infection in communities, 
the council has worked with the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC) to deploy additional mobile testing units where they are needed, for 
example in workplaces or specific local communities. 
 
The council has also taken up the Community Testing Programme offer from 
the DHSC to provide asymptomatic testing for people who cannot work from 
home.  Testing is currently available at six sites within the county, supported 

Page 113



 

20 
 

by teams of redeployed council staff, Fire and Rescue Service personnel and 
voluntary and agency staff. 
 
Testing for emergency services personnel has also been supported at a 
number of fire stations across the county. 
 
The initial groups invited to access asymptomatic testing at the sites include: 

 Fire and Rescue Service (test your own model); 

 Durham Constabulary (test your own model); 

 Durham County Council staff who are also in the vaccination priority 
groups and are not part of an existing testing programme; or front-line 
service staff who due to their role may not be able to meet other 
COVID-safe control measures; 

 Voluntary sector who are working in front line roles during lock down; 

 Small and Medium Employers with less than 50 employees; 

 Communities with higher prevalence (Stanley and Horden). 

Uptake has been positive, and the benefits of participating in regular 
asymptomatic testing continue to be promoted.  Feedback from participants is 
that the booking system is easy to use and the staff at the testing sites have 
been excellent. 
 
Working alongside partners within the County Durham and Darlington Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF), the council has developed a plan for surge testing, 
should new variants of concern be detected within the county. 
The provision of testing during the pandemic has taught us a number of 
lessons and highlighted some risks: 

 Some members of the community may not wish to participate in testing 
for fear of being identified as positive or having to endure the financial 
and social implications of having to self-isolate; 

 Local control and organisation over testing is much quicker and more 
adaptable to local need; 

 Having multiple partners and contractors involved increases 
transactional burdens; 

 Walk-in sites are not always suitable in inclement and winter weather 
conditions; 

 The availability of sites and premises to house testing units will decline 
as society ‘opens up’ and restrictions are reduced; 

 As there is an increasing move away from symptomatic Polymerace 
Chain Reaction (PCR) to asymptomatic Lateral Flow Device (LFD) 

Page 114



 

21 
 

testing, the council and its partrners may face increasing pressure to 
staff and resource the testing programmes; 

 There may be staffing capacity issues as redeployed staff return to their 
original jobs; 

 There is a risk that symptomatic members of the public attend 
community testing sites at the same time as healthy individuals.  For 
example DHSC operated Local Testing Sites have started to provide 
symptomatic and asymptomatic testing; 

 The increased use of unsupervised home testing may lead to poorer 
quality sampling and unreliable results; 

 The move toward self-testing in private homes loses clinical assessment 
of possible, probable, and confirmed cases; 

 The move away from PCR testing which can be sequenced may mean 
that it is more difficult to spot variants of concern at the earliest 
opportunity; 

 Surge testing would require the redirection of other testing resources 
which might lead to the abrupt closure of other testing provision unless 
additional resources are provided; 

 National policy and testing programmes change rapidly and initiatives 
are launched and publicised before local authorities have a chance to 
put effective arrangements in place; 

 The absence of modelling on the expansion of community testing via 
workplace schemes and ‘Community Collect’ home-testing, makes it 
difficult to assess the remaining demand for site-based community 
testing. 

As well as challenges and issues, there are also a number of opportunities in 
taking arrangements for testing forward: 

 There is an opportunity to develop national agreement on providing 
mass screening in the event of an outbreak in a custodial setting; 

 The speed of identifying, notifying, and taking action to prevent further 
spread could be increased by the use of valid and reliable LFDs; 

 LFD testing technology is developing quickly with the prospect of more 
rapid and accurate testing which would support ‘test to enable’ 
approaches. 

Surge testing  

The county has prepared for the prospect of variants of concern or variants 
under investigation.  This has included monitoring the trend towards 
dominance of the Kent variant in the county and close liaison with PHE in 

Page 115



 

22 
 

relation to intelligence on the South African variant cases we have seen in 
neighbouring local authorities. 

A dedicated LRF surge testing cell has been established and has developed a 
plan for a multi-agency response to surge testing.  The plan has been 
exercised on a multi-agency basis, with participation from DHSC, PHE, the 
council, Police, Voluntary Sector, Fire and Rescue Service and NHS.  The 
exercise was extremely helpful in identifying the resource and multi-agency 
support required if surge testing needs to be deployed. 

Next steps 
A three-month plan for community testing has been developed for April to 
June 2021 and will evolve based on virus prevalence and national government 
changes.  Community testing and ‘Community Collect’ are being combined as 
a hybrid programme: 

 Workforce: recruitment is underway for team leaders and the remaining 
posts will be filled by agency staff as DCC and FRS staff return to 
substantive roles.  This will be paid for through the DHSC Community 
Testing Programme. 

 Venues: moving to a dispersed model of smaller sites more embedded 
into communities and a mobile team running pop-up testing sites.  
Foruteen sites are being secured (11 likely to be community libraries 
and the remaining three, community buildings or leisure centres). 

 Participants: this will be opened-up to all of the community or workforce 
in the county Durham area who do not have access to an employer 
testing programme or home testing. 

 Community Collect: will run alongside all venues for eligible 
residents/employees who wish to collect their testing kits rather than go 
through the home booking ordering process. 

 Pharmacy collects: awaiting further national guidance. 

 Inequalities: targeted work through behavioural insights and dedicated 
work to encourage uptake with underrepresented groups. 

 

  
Contact Tracing 

 
Durham County Council Local Tracing Partnership  
Working in partnership with the public health team the County Durham 
Together Community Hub hosts the council’s Local Tracing Partnership (LTP).  
This development enhances and is additional to the provision of the national 
NHS Test and Trace service. Currently the LTP receives details of positive 
cases at the point they are 32 hours old, cases who have not completed the 

Page 116



 

23 
 

online self-notification process (8 hours) or engaged with the national NHS 
Test & Trace team. 
 
Supporting a person who has tested positive for COVID-19 to self-isolate and 
identifying their close contacts are essential measures to contain the spread of 
COVID-19 in our communities.  The LTP uses locally-held data to contact 
hard to engage cases and provide them with the advice and support they 
need to enable them, their families and close contacts to self-isolate as well as 
gathering intelligence and contact details for people they have been in contact 
with. 
 
The added value of the LTP includes: 

 employing a person-centred approach; 

 utilising local insight and knowledge of local support; 

 supporting a graded response to vulnerability; 

 provision of home visiting, an in-person wellbeing check to engage with 
positive cases who are not able to be contacted via telephone, which 
has proved beneficial to the person/case and increased engagement. 

This enables the development of a blended model of case and contact 
management that supports a graded response based on vulnerability and 
inequalities underpinned by: 
 

 infection protection and control measures; 

 population health management data; 

 County Durham Wellbeing principles. 

 
As well as providing support for those who need it during isolation, a local 
approach to contact tracing also enables local knowledge and intelligence to 
be gathered and used, enabling quick partnership action to be taken if 
community or setting transmission is identified.  This approach also enables 
issues relating to non-compliance such as identifying and engaging with local 
employers that aren’t supporting self-isolation. 
 
Case study 
Lady rang in because she'd had a card left from a wellbeing visit - she was so 
happy to have had the visit; When she completed details she accidentally 
transposed two digits of her phone number so she hadn't received any calls 
from the T&T service or from us. She thought nobody cared that she had 
Covid and had heard lots of stories about other people getting calls and texts 
and she had had nothing. She thought it was such a lovely thoughtful thing for 
the council to send people to check on their health. Happy customer 
 
 
 

Page 117



 

24 
 

Next steps 

• Implement Local 0 - accessing positive case details from the national 
NHS Test & Trace programme at the earliest opportunity to enable 
rapid engagement and local follow up.   

• Target specific cases by e.g. geography, setting, digital exclusion etc. 
to be able to provide earlier local support in areas and populations 
experiencing higher inequalities or increased community /setting 
transmission.   

• Increased interface with emerging school and community testing 
programmes and raising awareness of support available around self-
isolation at the time of testing is also under development. 

 
COVID-19 rapid response and outbreak management (including 
enhanced contact tracing) 
Local public health teams (LAs and PHE) identify clusters or outbreaks of 
cases by using multiple strands of information.  For each of these, a risk 
assessment is undertaken, and a judgment made about whether further 
investigation and / or action is required. 
 
‘Enhanced Contact Tracing’ (as described by the national Test & Trace 
programme) is the systematic use of the information gathered from case 
interviews to identify clusters of cases and activities/settings where 
transmission may have occurred.  While there is a particular national focus on 
local use of this specific data set, it is important that local action continues to 
integrate all strands of information to ensure that as many clusters or 
outbreaks of COVID-19 are identified as possible, and that assessment and 
(where indicated) action is undertaken as quickly as possible. 
 
The information gathered from case interviews is used to produce two types of 
report which are published on the PowerBI dashboard that local authorities 
and PHE Health Protection team use. 
 
‘Common Exposure’ reports 

 use contact tracing data from the ‘backwards’ period to identify shared 
locations, settings and activities reported by two or more cases in a 
defined period 

 investigation of these settings: 

o establishes whether there is an outbreak associated with the 
setting 

o establishes whether, even if no outbreak associated, there are 
measures that could be put in place to make the setting more 
COVID-secure 

 
 
 

Page 118



 

25 
 

‘Postcode Coincidence’ reports 

 use contact tracing from the ‘forwards’ period to identify where the case 
has been while infectious – and so potentially cause risk of transmission 
to others 

 action may be taken if  

o any settings with vulnerable people identified 

o there are opportunities to review COVID secure measures in a 
setting and so mitigate the risk of any onward transmission if 
someone attended while infectious  

 
The Public Health Intelligence Specialist in the Outbreak Control Team 
systematically reviews the Common Exposure and Postcode Coincidence 
reports on a daily basis.  If concerns are identified these are flagged via the 
SPOCs for further investigation or escalated to the PHE HPT under the Joint 
Management Arrangements.  Further detail can be found in Appendix B. 
 
Self-Isolation 
The County Durham Together Community Hub provides holistic support to 
enable people to self-isolate whether they test positive for coronavirus, are 
identified as a close contact, or are considered clinically extremely vulnerable 
to the effects of coronavirus and advised to shield. 

Where someone is self-isolating because they have tested positive or are a 
close contact of a positive case, they must stay at home for 10 days.  This 
means that they must not leave home for any reason, including to get 
essential food supplies, go to work or for exercise.    

The hub ensures people have access to essential supplies through the 
organisation of supermarket priority shopping deliveries, linking with local 
voluntary and community sector food support, collection and delivery of 
essential supplies and linking with community pharmacies in relation to 
prescription deliveries.  

The Community Hub is also able to advise on whether people are eligible for 
the NHS Test and Trace Self-Isolation payment and support them to make an 
application.  

The loneliness that self-isolation can cause people - even for the shortest 
period – can be very significant.  CDT Community Hub provides weekly Chat 
Together calls for people who are isolating or shielding, as well as linking 
people in with other befriending services largely provided by our excellent 
local voluntary and community sector partners. 

 
 

Page 119



 

26 
 

  
Vaccinations 

 
The Covid Vaccination Programme in County Durham has been delivered in 
line with national guidance and priorities.  Initially between mid-December 
2020 and early January 2021 this was via 13 Primary Care Network (PCN) 
sites across the county, chosen for their ability to provide suitable facilities, 
staffing and vaccine storage so that vaccinations could be administered 
efficiently and safely.  The sites operated seven days a week and also acted 
as vaccine distribution hubs for vaccination clinics run in individual GP 
surgeries. 
 
In February 2021, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
(CDDFT) was asked to vaccinate health and social care staff, which was done 
via hospital hubs: Darlington Memorial Hospital and County Hall acting as a 
satellite site for University Hospital North Durham .  First doses were 
completed on time and second doses are currently being given. 
 
In March 2021, a Mass Vaccination Centre opened on the outskirts of Durham 
City.  Further mass vaccination centres are being opened across the region 
and community pharmacies are being established as additional distribution 
channels, with one currently operating in the county and a further two due to 
open in the near future. 
 
Good practice 

 Collaboration between partners to help PCNs set up and operate at 
short notice in early December 2020. 

 Used information about health inequalities to inform decisions about the 
location of PCN sites. 

 Management systems and meetings established which included all 
partners and allowed a co-ordinated approach.  Partners met three 
times per week to manage demand and offer support. 

 PCNs shared clinical learning about the management of the vaccine 
and shared equipment. 

 County Hall was used as a hospital hub venue supported by council 
staff. 

 Partners worked together to identify health and social care staff and 
administer their prioritisation in line with JCVI guidance and invite them 
to be vaccinated. 

 Community Services Teams vaccinated housebound patients and 
supported PCNs to vaccinate care home residents. 

 CDDFT premises were used – Shotley Bridge Hospital, Richardson 
Hospital, Barnard Castle – by PCNs to give vaccinations. 

Page 120



 

27 
 

 Partners have been aware of inequalities in vaccination availability and 
worked together to address them. 

 Consistent information provided via a Community Hub. 

 Volunteer staffing provided by County Durham Together Community 
Hub and the Fire Service. 

 Extended winter maintenance and gritting to ensure the vaccination 
programme was able to be maintained through inclement winter 
weather. 

 
Issues 

 The main issue has been the unpredictability of vaccine supply. 

 The national Booking System has been problematic and led to 
confusion for patients. 

 National announcements particularly about eligibility were made before 
local systems could meet demand. 

 In the early stages of the programme there was a lack of reliable data 
about vaccine take up to inform decisions. 

 Access to vaccination centres and transport in a rural area with high 
levels of deprivation. 

 
Risks 

 Availability of vaccine to complete the programme mitigated by 
continued engagement with the Regional Vaccination Centre, sharing 
vaccine between sites where safe to do so and rescheduling patients to 
sites with vaccine. 

 PCN staff capacity following a sustained period of intense working, 
being mitigated by opening a mass vaccination centre and community 
pharmacies. 

 Contracting for the administration of vaccines through PCNs may 
become less attractive to providers as the system moves through the 
cohorts, and the shortfall may need to be taken up within mass 
vaccination sites. 

 Vaccine hesitancy being mitigated by targeted communications and 
engagement with hard to reach groups. 

 ‘Vaccine confidence’ may cause people to be less vigilant about non 
pharmaceutical interventions such as ‘hands, face, space’.  Mitigated by 
ongoing promotion of the importance of such measures. 

 
 

Page 121



 

28 
 

Next steps 

 Local partners continue to work together to vaccinate the cohorts set 
nationally. 

 Local partners continue to work together to tackle vaccine hesitancy and 
reluctance. 

 The local Immunisations Board continues to develop and implement the 
COVID-19 Vaccination Equalities Plan. 

 Exploring use of mobile vaccination unit to deploy to areas of lower 
uptake. 

 

  
Themes 

 
The following sections, outline Durham’s response to the themes set by 
government in outbreak management and control guidance: 
 

 Communications 

 Community engagement 

 Vulnerable and underserved communities 

 Settings: 

o Care homes 

o Children’s residential care homes 

o Healthcare settings 

o Workplaces 

o Durham County Council workplaces 

o Schools 

o Further Education and Higher Education establishments 

o Prisons 

 
 

  
Communications 

Key programmes of work  
 
Clear and timely communication plays a key part of any effective outbreak 
response.  The aim of the communications work is to build and maintain trust 
between local communities and the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 

Page 122



 

29 
 

and Local Outbreak Engagement Board.  Without this trust, our communities 
will not believe, or act on, the health information that is communicated by 
public health during a local outbreak and will be less inclined to support the 
development of local intelligence on infection risks and control.  
 
Local communications and actions are aligned with PHE and with local, 
regional, and national partners as appropriate for the best outcomes for our 
communities and the reduction of community transmission. 
 
 
Good practice:  

 Targeted local communications when outbreaks have occurred or rates 
have increased in a particular area. 

 Joint working with LA7 on the highly visible and positively evaluated 
Beat COVID-19 North East campaign. 

 Media presence from DPH via radio, TV to keep public up to date, 
engage in key messages and seek help and support in outbreaks. 

 Local awareness raising via the Covid Champions. 
 A rapid and proportionate press response.  Queries have been dealt 

with quickly and efficiently and Durham has received some positive PR 
coverage both locally and nationally. 

 Strong relationship with partners, schools, external organisations and 
the voluntary sector meaning they share communications, extending our 
reach in getting messages out to communities.  

 Public Health briefing for community leaders, local Councillors, Council 
Leader, and local MPs.   

 Regular communication of the local COVID-19 data position (Durham 
Insights).   

 
Areas of communication work that continue to require extra focus include: 

 reaching ‘hard to reach’ members of the community quickly – for 
example those who have a low usage of social media / digital media 
platforms;  

 turnaround time – often a very quick response is needed which can be 
problematic in an area the size of County Durham. 

 speed of sign-off for communications in a multi-agency context. 

A local communication plan is aligned to the Local Outbreak Management 
Plan and covers the following themes: 

 Infection prevention and control measures; 

 Awareness raising, promotion and signposting of NHS Test and Trace; 

 Engagement and call to action for everyone to play their part; 

 Communication support for the Local Health Protection Assurance 
Board and Local Outbreak Engagement Board; 

Page 123



 

30 
 

 Pro-active communication support for outbreak teams and outbreak 
themes, based on our wellbeing principles; 

 Support for those in self-isolation; 

 Support for the community experiencing an outbreak; 

 Reactive communications to promote factual coverage of issues, limit 
rumour and provide wrap-around support for affected communities. 

 
As part of the development of the Beat COVID-19 campaign, behavioural 
insights work has been undertaken to address the risks of confusing and over-
whelming communications.  This highlighted: 

 Nearly half of the region (44%) have seen at least one campaign 
element. 

 Perceptions of local relevance of Covid information was significantly 
higher among people who had seen the campaign. 

 Over 4 in 5 felt positively about the local authorities’ role in the 
campaign. 

 The campaign messaging appears clear and easy to understand.  
Ninety three per cent of the region took a clear message from the 
campaign and key themes were around: 

o A strong sense of community and acting for the common good 

o Following rules to help local people and services 

o Acknowledging that there’s still more to be done to beat COVID. 

 Half of the people who saw the campaign acted on it: 

o 26% thought about doing more to socially-distance 

o 23% felt they wanted to do more to help fight COVID for the 
region 

 
Risks  

 Media sensationalising an outbreak 

 Fake news, testing myths and malign communications. 

 Poor communication reach resulting in low engagement with testing and 
self-isolation. 

 Over saturation on COVID-19 messaging leading to public 
confusion/apathy. 

 Lost trust with the government and/or local authority. 

 Engaging with sections of society who believe that COVID-19 is being 
exaggerated.  This correlates with low compliance with social distancing 
guidance and requirements. 

Page 124



 

31 
 

 Reaching BAME communities remains a challenge.  A new campaign 
by Drummond Communications featuring representatives from these 
communities is trying to address this. 

 COVID complacency to rules and vaccine hesitancy. 

 
Next steps  

 Develop effective communications relating to protective measures, 
vaccine uptake, next steps of the road map. 

 Prepare communications response to variants of concern and surge 
testing. 

 Increase our digital response across a wider range of communications 
channels, not just those we manage. 

 Build on the relationships made with local community groups to assist in 
sharing messaging on a hyperlocal basis. 

 Developing and increasing the impact of COVID Champions. 

 

  
Community Engagement 

 
County Durham Together COVID-19 Community Champions 
Underpinned by our wellbeing principles, the COVID-19 Community 
Champion programme is one element within our wider engagement and 
communication strategy.  To date, 94 people have expressed interest in the 
Champions programme; 83 people are currently active in roles: 37 Champions 
Plus; 46 Champions. 
 
Twenty two staff from DCC COVID specific teams/Neighbourhood Wardens 
have also completed Champions training.  Champions shared 20 different 
messages with communities/networks and continue to action targeted 
activities as part of wider community response.  Thirteen champions have 
more recently come forward in readiness for surge testing. 
 
Establishing trusted relationships, information and feedback flows with local 
communities, businesses and wider organisations, are key to supporting 
delivery of the LOMP objectives.  These mechanisms increase the likelihood 
that key messages and behaviours will be owned and adopted locally and 
support the development of actions and responses shaped by local 
intelligence.  These risks are outlined in the communications section above. 
 
Engagement and feedback from our communities and businesses also 
mitigate corporate risks by enabling increased understanding of issues, 
concerns, behaviours across the county that we can advocate for locally, 
regionally, and nationally. 
 

Page 125



 

32 
 

People share information in different ways and with different people.  COVID-
19 Community Champions are local people who are trusted voices in local 
communities who share and feedback relevant and timely information with 
communities and contribute to the triangulation of data and soft intelligence in 
the Community Spike Outbreak Management Group.  There are two roles that 
people can pledge to take on: 

 Champions are supported to share information in ways that best suit 
their own availability, circumstances, networks, and community needs.  

 The Champions Plus role enables those already active in communities 
or those who would like to do more - to become more actively involved, 
again in whatever ways best suit each individual/community 
circumstances.  

 
Champions Plus undertake the fully supported DCC Volunteer induction 
provided by Volunteer Durham.  Champions take part in [one-off] fortnightly 
rolling programme of online group induction sessions covering role 
expectations and responsibilities, handbook, communications charter. 
There is a fortnightly rolling programme of online Making Every Contact Count 
– COVID-19 Outbreak Control training (mandatory Champions Plus/optional 
Champions) delivered by the Programme Lead.  Training consists of six 
micro-modules, currently covering: 

• What is Coronavirus / COVID-19 

• Prevention and contain - Everybody play their part  

• Face coverings 

• Wider wellbeing and COVID-19 

• Making Every Contact Count  

• Champion / Champion Plus roles 

Additional modules are currently in development to support Champions to 
address inequalities in testing and vaccination uptake. 
 
Sessions also provide trainees with skills to have conversations about COVID-
19 and outline the links between the impact of the pandemic, wider health, 
wellbeing, and health inequalities. 
 
The important element is that approaches are grounded in the assets and 
needs of the community (place[s] and people) where the action is taking 
place.  This approach will enable key messages and information to be shared 
at scale as well as targeted, proactive work to be supported in communities.  
As the pandemic progresses the Champions programme continues to evolve 
and respond to issues identified within communities. 
 
Case Study: 
I engage with my local community via both social media and by engaging with 
other organisations working actively within our community.  To date, 16 

Page 126



 

33 
 

messages have been sent out to share via the programme.  These posts have 
had an average reach of 461, with a high of 983.  The three highest reaching 
posts were those on vaccine fraud, scam awareness and virus statistics (all 
three of which included graphics), which may be useful to direct future 
messaging and impact.  I have also shared messages from the NHS County 
Durham CCG, Durham County Council, and the UK Government, which have 
produced a similar reach.  In our area, we hold a meeting of 14 local 
charitable, community and other partners (including local community 
associations, churches, charities, NHS and AAP) every fortnight, at which I 
report and disseminate information from the champions programme to all the 
groups, and also retrieve comments and queries to feed back into the 
programme. 
 
Next steps: 

• Continued collaboration within communities and engagement with 
DCC COVID specific teams and wider locality partners to support 
ongoing community engagement and targeted engagement for 
example if surge testing programmes/awareness is needed. 

• Development of proactive Champions locality action plans as 
measures set out within the Spring 2021 Road Map ease and 
communities and activities within communities resume e.g. schools, 
workplaces, community venues and leisure activities.  

• Continued promotion of key generic and targeted messages and 
promotion of vaccination and asymptomatic testing programmes with a 
key focus on reducing inequalities.   

 

  
Vulnerable and underserved communities 

 
Evidence continues to indicate that the impact of COVID-19 and repeated 
lockdown restrictions are likely to increase inequalities in our most deprived 
communities.  This is due to the prolonged and predicted socio-economic 
impact of COVID-19 on individuals, families, communities, and businesses. 
 
In County Durham a number of areas of work have developed to provide 
support for residents and businesses during the pandemic: 

 County Durham Together Community Hub  

 Durham County Council Local Tracing Partnership  

 County Durham Together COVID-19 Community Champions 
Programme  

 County Durham COVID-19 Health Inequalities Impact Assessment 

Page 127



 

34 
 

 Administration and support to those accessing NHS Test and Trace 
self-isolation payments  

 Grants and funding via DCC Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and VCS 
- both were critical in deployment of essential supplies, understanding 
community networks and how to reach the most vulnerable.  Funding 
grants were swiftly dispersed into communities by AAPs. 

 Emergency food provision and wider poverty approaches to overcome 
challenges of a nationally defined eligibility criteria for the self-isolation 
payments and differing approaches by neighbouring local authorities in 
the support they will and will not provide. 

These areas of work are underpinned by County Durham Wellbeing Principles 
and as well as providing a universal offer, they apply a population health 
management approach to proactively targeting and supporting those 
experiencing inequalities.  
 

 
 
County Durham Together Community Hub  
 
County Durham Together [virtual] Community Hub is an example of a locally 
led partnership working at pace to respond to and support the evolving needs 
of communities.  Underpinned by an ethos of continual learning and 
transformation, the hub’s achievements go beyond supporting those in need, 
by also having the potential to transform future service delivery and shape 
relationships with communities and strategic partners going forward.   
 
 
 

Page 128



 

35 
 

Underpinned by County Durham Wellbeing Principles the hub: 

 ensures communities are empowered to self-help as much as possible 
and or to access support from local community and voluntary sector 
organisations; 

 reaches those most in need through an intelligence led approach; 

 addresses inequalities, proactively targeting evidence-based 
interventions more quickly; 

 adopts a holistic, people and place-based approach. 

The sharing and integration of data across the health and social care system 
has facilitated the application of a population health management approach 
enabling outreach to be a key element of this work. The CDT Hub: 

 proactively targets and supports CEV residents and those with MSV, 
considered at greater risk from COVID-19 and/or response measures 
introduced via multiple communication mechanisms and direct 
engagement methods; 

 reactively supports residents impacted by COVID-19, who have no 
other support or don’t know who to contact, taking a holistic ‘no wrong 
door approach’ so no-one is left behind. 

The hub facilitates access to essential supplies, social contact, welfare and 
financial assistance and COVID-19 guidance, providing person-centered 
referrals and assistance via a low-level case-management process and a 
central co-ordination function for voluntary and community organisations.  
Established triage and escalation referral pathways with NHS and wider 
statutory services have also been developed.  Residents rarely present with a 
single issue and the importance of understanding inequalities, communities, 
mental-wellbeing, and service interfaces is fundamental. 
 
At the point of need, the hub considers the whole person, offering practical 
and emotional wrap around support for over 9,800 people since its inception 
on 27 March 2020. 
 
The County Durham Together Community Hub model adopts a collaborative 
approach only possible through many multi-agency / disciplinary enabling 
factors.  This collaborative approach has enabled a rapid testing and 
implementation of many system aspirations and is only possible through multi-
disciplinary enablers.  Residents rarely present with a single issue and the 
importance of understanding inequalities, communities, mental-wellbeing, and 
service interfaces is fundamental. 

Initially staffed by voluntarily redeployed staff from across a wide range of 
service areas across the council, capacity management has led to a core staff 
team to be recruited for 12 months to support the evolving Hub function.  A 
programme of staff training (including safeguarding, Making Every Contact 
Count, suicide prevention and psychological first aid) was implemented to 

Page 129



 

36 
 

support professional development and respond to evolving and more complex 
client needs.  This approach has meant that as redeployed staff have returned 
to their substantive roles this learning and wider awareness of inequalities 
across the county has become diffused across multiple service areas.   
Durham County Council and wider system partners are moving forward with 
communities to co-create and embed the County Durham Together model.  
The County Durham Together transformation programme aims to build upon 
learning from the pandemic response and develop asset-rich, resilient 
communities where, at the point at which support is required, there is an easy-
to-access, holistic, graded response - at the right time, right place.    
 
Gypsy-Roma Travellers 
 
The GRT Site Management Service are part of Housing Solutions and have 
overall responsibility for the day to day management of the sites including 
health and safety, pitch allocation and rent collection.  
The team have worked closely with the GRT Specialist Nurse to ensure that 
all households living on the permanent sites have been supported throughout 
the pandemic.  
 
All households have received regular updates from the council with support 
available from Durham County Council’s CDT Hub and the team have been in 
close contact with all those tenants shielding and that are vulnerable.  Where 
positive cases have been identified on the sites, contact has been made as 
soon as possible with advice, support, and an offer of a follow up call from the 
GRT nurse.  COVID-19 information posters and leaflets have been designed 
and distributed, both before the first confirmed case and after, across all of the 
sites.  The posters are also included with all application forms sent out.  
Following guidance from colleagues in Public Health, the team have contacted 
tenants living on the permanent sites that are eligible for vaccinations, in line 
with the NHS priority groups.  All of those tenants that had not been already 
contacted by their GP, were offered appointments and anyone that required 
further information about the vaccine, or had concerns were referred to the 
GRT Specialist Nurse.  
 

  
Settings 

 
For each of the key settings lead officers have been identified and a team of 
key staff to work collectively on an outbreak if required. 

Standard operating procedures are being applied which have been developed 
by PHE Health Protection Team and augmented locally, action and advice 
cards developed, and scenarios are being tested for each setting to enable 
planning. 

Page 130



 

37 
 

High risk settings are addressed through the settings-based approach 
adopted in County Durham.  As the Contain Framework, Outbreak 
Management Toolkit and government’s response ‘roadmap’ develops we will 
continue to ensure that the lifting of restrictions is as safe as possible. 
 
  
Care homes 

Current picture in County Durham:  

 96 Care Homes (Older Person). 

 44 Specialist Homes. 

 Care Home population: 3,623 (capacity 4,720) 
 
Throughout the pandemic, care home providers have collaborated with allied 
health and social care, and local government, professionals to ensure that 
residents continue to receive high quality care and support in safe and secure 
environments.  Furthermore, all social care stakeholders have worked closely 
to ensure that these vital services have continued to operate in what has been 
an extremely challenging climate.  This has been made possible by staff 
working in adult social care who have shown remarkable resilience. 
 
Since the outbreak of COVID-19, local multidisciplinary teams have met 
weekly to address the ongoing needs of providers, staff, and residents in care 
homes across County Durham.  Professionals from TEWV, CDDFT, NECS, 
CCG, PHE have joined DCC officers to share knowledge, address issues and 
provide ongoing advice and support on matters such as outbreak control, 
staffing and infection prevention and control.  Twice weekly Care Home 
Mutual Aid groups enable a multi-disciplinary team to monitor new infections 
and outbreaks among staff, residents, and service-users (in non-residential 
social care settings) and assess and address any impact that this may have 
on the setting.  Multi-agency representation at these meetings allows for 
actions to be efficiently allocated and addressed – reducing risk to residents, 
staff, and service provision. 
 
The management of COVID-19 outbreaks in adult social care settings has 
been a significant part of the multi-agency response during the pandemic.  
Staff from key stakeholder organisations have worked in close collaboration to 
ensure that outbreaks and complex cases in these settings have been quickly 
identified and managed through an established Outbreak Control Team 
(OCT).  Again, representation from key stakeholder organisation is a key 
asset – enabling swift action against any identified risk. 
 
Over the past twelve months, various PCR and LFD testing regimes have 
been implemented across all adult social care settings.  Providers have 
quickly assimilated and implemented new testing policies and procedures to 
reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission, and protect residents, staff, and 

Page 131



 

38 
 

visitors. Implementation of testing programmes has been supported by 
communication, and provision of advice and guidance from health and social 
care partners. 
 
A review of the multi-agency work undertaken during the pandemic has 
highlighted areas of good practice, potential risks, and opportunities as we 
move forward into managing COVID-19 in care home settings.  
 
Good practice 

 Sustain (at levels commensurate with need) networks of identified 
stakeholders involved in the management of COVID-19 in adult social 
care settings through recovery and beyond.  This includes regional local 
authority public health networks sharing resources and good practice.  

 Support providers to maintain effective infection prevention and control 
practice, supported by the expertise of the Infection Control and 
Prevention Team, that has been at the centre of the care home 
response throughout the pandemic.  This will have significant impact 
upon both incidence and prevalence  of future communicable disease 
outbreaks.  

 Maintain and develop knowledge and experience gained from swift 
implementation of testing programmes.  

 Retain focus on the importance of vaccination against communicable 
diseases to enable a level of COVID-19 ‘future-proofing’ in these 
settings.  

 
Risks 

 The emergence of coronavirus variants of concern is a clear indication 
that some aspects of pandemic life are likely to be present in the long 
term.  Resurgence of cases could be extremely challenging for 
providers and staff in terms of further implementation and maintenance 
of non-pharmaceutical interventions to address them.  

 Current levels of asymptomatic resident, staff and visitor testing are 
likely to be required for the foreseeable future; therefore, this should be 
proportionate to risk in that particular setting (i.e. based on the data, 
local case numbers) to avoid disproportionate burdens upon providers 
and staff.  

 Outbreak response requires significant multi-agency investment in 
terms of time and resources.  Any sustained increase in case 
numbers/outbreaks could have implications for staffing levels.  

The regional Health Protection Team currently manages outbreaks in 
care home settings and the current national Track and Trace system 
does not lend itself to most adult social care settings.  In the longer-
term, this may require support through localised contract tracing 
programmes tailored to the needs of care home providers.  

Page 132



 

39 
 

Next steps 

 Designated COVID-19 settings have been fit for purpose but will not 
always be required at current levels.  Contingency plans must be in 
place to address need should there be a resurgence in cases.  

 Ensure that care homes settings with less experience of responding to 
outbreaks or handling higher case numbers can access resources, the 
knowledge base and training to equip with the skills required to respond 
to any future increased demand.  

 The lessons learned from mutual aid (i.e. identification of need, quick 
response times, resource allocation) must be embedded into future 
response plans so that it is available for swift implementation if required.  

 

  
Children’s Residential Care Homes  

 
Within County Durham there are currently: 

 10 local authority (LA) children’s residential homes; 

 31 independent private residential homes; 

 2 supported living accommodation settings (post 16 care leavers). 

Overview 

 Each of the homes have placements from Durham and potentially other 
LAs. 

 DCC Children's Services are responsible for all aspects of the LA 
children's homes. 

 Independent and voluntary sector homes are responsible for managing 
their own setting although accountable to DCC within the scope of their 
contractual arrangements. 

 These settings are supported under a regional agreement from the 
regional Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS), using a 
‘linked officer’ approach to avoid duplication, confusion and repetition 
resulting from children being placed in the setting from multiple LAs.  

 Information of cases was historically received through variety of routes 
creating some confusion.  A North East approach has now been 
developed to provide clarity and consistency in reporting of confirmed 
cases to the LA.   

Good Practice 

 Local guidance regarding case management and reporting which has 
been agreed regionally with PHE NE, DsPH and LA children’s public 
health leads.  This is to reduce complexity and improve reporting and 
adherence.  This approach is in addition to the national process and will 

Page 133



 

40 
 

ensure clear lines of communication are in place to enable timely 
access to local public health expertise where a COVID-19 case is 
suspected or identified within a children’s residential setting.  

 All reported cases to the LA are managed as a high priority with support 
from HPT NE as required. 

 All children’s homes have access to the national PPE portal and have 
been informed on how to access the local LRF PPE cell.  

 Children’s homes are encouraged to work closely with their health and 
safety team for additional advice and guidance on their risk assessment.  

 Support for children with complex health needs for example children 
whose care requires aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) is available 
through the IPC team. 

 Additional support has been provided by the 0-25 Family Health Service 
to provide PCR testing at the child’s home for any child who has 
symptoms to facilitate an urgent reporting process and case 
management.  

 All homes are encouraged to resister with the national testing portal to 
ensure they have home testing kits (PCR) available if necessary. 

 An established oversight group for cases and situations in children’s 
residential care homes meet weekly. 

 A summary report of is discussed weekly at the local Health Protection 
Assurance Board. 

 
Risks 

 Guidance for children’s homes is complex and not always well 
understood by homes, this has been resolved at a regional level via the 
regional guidance referred to in good practice.  

 Adherence to strict social distancing presents challenges for staff and 
young people as these are their home settings. 

 Children’s homes – IPCN input remains an issue for site visits following 
outbreaks due to lack of capacity. 

 Currently no home or site LFD testing for children’s homes staff 
although children aged 11+ will be tested in a school setting (dependant 
on child and parent or carer consent as not mandated). 

 Business continuity if large volumes of staff are identified as close 
contact and need to self-isolate following a positive case.  This impacts 
on the ability to support children within their home safely.  

 The full reopening of schools and subsequent planned easing of 
population level measures may lead to increased transmission due to 
increased contact between both children and adults inside and outside 
of school. 

Page 134



 

41 
 

 
Opportunities 

 Identify at home/at work LFD testing for children’s homes staff.  This 
may be via the community collect offer.  

 IPCN support pathway for children’s homes resourced and 
operationalised. 

 
 
 
Next steps 

 Continue effective response provided to case and situation 
management in children’s residential care homes and ensure early help 
and support processes are established.  

 Maintain the current effective approach to risk reduction through the 
provision of effective health and safety advice. 

 Sustain communication with about the importance of prevention 
measures and risk assessment including the use of PPE as required. 

 Await national guidance expected imminently from PHAGE regarding 
regular testing regimens of staff and children in this setting 

 

  
Healthcare settings 

 
Healthcare services within County Durham: 

 County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) provides 
secondary hospital care from three main hospitals, two community 
hospitals and provide outpatient, community, and outreach services 
from several other sites. The Trust has around 7,500 whole time 
equivalent staff and 1,200 beds.  

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley Foundation Trust (TEWV) provides mental 
health and learning disability services at two local hospitals and a range 
of community settings, including clinics, health centres and homes.  

 There are approximately 55 general practitioner surgeries in Durham 
and 15 dental practices.  

  
Healthcare providers face particular challenges, having responsibility for a 
large cohort of staff and for patients that are vulnerable for a range of reasons.  
Many will be dealing with COVID-19 directly, and already have wide 
experience of dealing with the consequences. 
 

Page 135



 

42 
 

The healthcare providers have wide experience of dealing with incidents and 
outbreaks, in partnership with PHE and the local HPT.  They now have a 
responsibility to undertake risk assessment of any positive COVID-19 cases in 
their patients and/or staff to reduce the risk of transmission of infection.  This 
includes assessing the contacts/exposures in healthcare settings and 
providing advice about isolation and exclusion from work.  Within hospital and 
clinic sites this is proceeding. 
 
CDDFT 
CDDFT provides local swab testing for those with a clinical need, for NHS 
staff, and for other organisations including council workers, schools, and care 
homes.  When a case is confirmed, the healthcare provider undertakes a risk 
assessment of workplace-based contacts.  This involves identifying close 
contacts and advising on isolation and exclusion from work. 
 
Risks 

 Easing of lockdown resulting in increased infection and subsequent 
increased demand on staff and resources. 

 Fatigue and the resulting impact on staff vigilance and adherence to 
infection prevention and control measures. 

 Increased demand on local testing. 

 Possible transmission of virus between the healthcare setting and wider 
community. 

 Community settings, particularly primary care may not have the 
experience of dealing with outbreaks. 

 
Next steps 

 Work with community and primary care settings to ensure appropriate 
preventive measures are in place. 

 Ensure communication plans are in place in case of particular media or 
political interest. 

 
Good practice 
Isolation and cohorting 
 

 COVID +ve cohort areas have been successful.  Maintaining a COVID 
footprint rather than nursing COVID positive patients in side rooms is 
something the trust will try to do until numbers make this non-viable.  
Staffing these areas is always challenging and often comes at a cost.  
Re-deployed specialist nurses are returning to their much-needed roles 
within the Trust.  The trust have learned that moving positive patients to 
specific COVID areas decreases the onward risk of transmission. 

Page 136



 

43 
 

 Explore opportunities to bolster en-suite side room capacity.  This will 
be vital to tackle the emerging threats of new variants. 

 Mechanical ventilation in side rooms will improve efficiency to clear 
aerosols and decrease risk of infection to staff, visitors, and other 
patients.  This is expensive and not easy to do in current buildings. 

 Bishop Auckland Hopsital has been a vital capability that has allowed to 
the Trust to grow and space out.  This has been an integral part of the 
plan.  Discussions are ongoing about how the facility could be utilised in 
the future. 

 
Screening 

 Screen as close to the point of admission as possible (multiple points of 
entry).  Easy to use ‘point of contact’ PCR units are the aspiration so 
that the logistics of using the laboratory can be eliminated (transporting 
samples between sites). 

 Build a robust fast turnaround testing capability with resilience.  Speed 
has been of the essence.  The sooner we can reliably know someone’s 
COVID status, the more safely we can manage them.  

 
Fit Testing 

 Fit Testing has been challenging throughout the pandemic.  In part due 
to unreliable logistics chains and the need to change masks throughout.  
CDDFT have had to lend assistance to staff outside of their 
organisations.  That said, the service has been a key success.  

 

Occupational Health 

 Occupational Health have managed to respond to huge demand placed 
upon the service by all of the factors bought about by the pandemic.  
The service has had to manage a huge upsurge in demand for OH 
reviews whilst also continuing with key vital core services.  Staff 
wellbeing, COVID and long COVID has presented challenges and it is 
not fully understood the scope of the challenge yet to come in terms of 
mental health and issues that have been created.  The OH team has 
worked hand-in-glove with IPC to contact trace staff and to understand 
the impacts of outbreaks that have involved staff. 

 
Leadership  

 Executive-led COVID-19 meeting daily has given greater oversight to 
what is required from an IPC perspective to manage outbreaks and 
recognise post 7-day COVID +ve patients.  This meeting is attended by: 

o Health & Safety to address issues out with clinical areas. 

Page 137



 

44 
 

o Occupational Health to address outbreaks and issues that 
present involving staff members. 

o The Trust’s screening team that are able to be flexibly deployed 
to ward areas as outbreaks occur to gain a picture of what is 
happening with both staff and patients. 

 The meeting informs the Tactical Cell meeting below: 

o The Tactical Cell has been instrumental in deciding the 
immediate next steps and allowed decisions to be made on 
COVID / non-COVID management.  This meeting sits at the 
Silver Command level.  

o Clinical Gold has provided a Senior Clinician (both medical and 
nursing) to make high level clinical decisions.  This relieves the 
sometimes non-clinical Gold commanders being put in the difficult 
situation of having to make these decisions. 

o Gold Command stepped up the frequency of their meeting to 
ensure that strategic decision-making could be made on a daily 
basis (this was 7 days a week during the peak).  Gold have flexed 
the regularity of the meetings to suit demand. 

o Clinical Matrons have been deployed at weekends to give Bronze 
level clinical leadership to wards and departments to ensure the 
smooth running of operations and head off low-level problems. 

o The IPC Team have provided a weekend service to the Trust to 
further bolster and assist with clinical decision-making and 
management of infectious patients including isolation priorities. 

o COVID-19 Muliti Disciplinary Team’s (MDTs) have been set up to 
discuss COVID cases across the trust and draw on the collective 
experience of senior clinicians. 

o The Daily COVID Bulletin has been the integral communication 
system to inform staff of changing situations including PHE 
guidance, management strategies and projections for the future.  
This has served to help allay staff fears and anxieties throughout 
the most testing times. 

o Weekly CEO led Facebook Live sessions capture thousands of 
views and has been an integral communications tool to directly 
reach staff.  This can be watched retrospectively when 
convenient and on smart devices which has made it accessible to 
many more than just using the Trust’s intranet capability. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



 

45 
 

Risks 

 The lack of PPE and changing between FFP3 respirators presented a 
risk.  This stabilised later in the Pandemic.  This led to huge fit testing 
burdens and staff anxiety. 

 Timeliness of DHSC guidance publications and the need to implement 
across a large organisation without warning. 

 Side room capacity particularly with emerging threats and variants of 
concern. 

 

Next steps 

 Maintain the NENC outbreak control group as an excellent mechanism 
in delivering a regional consensus and being hugely supportive for all 
organisations.  This group has navigated the complexities of PHE 
guidance and has given consensus in the region to common problems 
that have been identified. 

 Balance of COVID-19 response and business as usual 

 
Primary Care 
 
Good practice 

 Partnership working via care home mutual aid meeting. 

 Close working with DCC Public Health team. 

 Virtual session for care homes on specific COVID-19 infection 
prevention and control. 

 MDT type meetings we have had across the system which IPC have 
played a huge part in.  Their hard work and flexibility based on the 
situation at any given time has been just amazing. 

 
Issues 

 Gaps were identified in who was to receive staff notifications of positive 
COVID-19 results; who feeds back; and the IMARCH form focused to 
secondary care rather than primary care. 

 Delay in publication of relevant guidance (specifically guidance for care 
homes), then frequent changes to infection prevention and control 
guidance/care home guidance. 

 Timing of guidance release problematic, announcements in media prior 
to guidance published. 

 PHE NE HPT overwhelmed by large number of escalated cases from 
Tier 3 and response time for some care homes awaiting call back 
impacted by this. This was addressed by updating the joint 

Page 139



 

46 
 

management arrangements to ensure early identification of any care 
home cases 

 Different strands of testing for care home staff and residents 
complicated and confusing. 

 PPE availability for care homes at the start of the pandemic, fit testing of 
specific FFP3 masks. 

 
Risks 

 Asked to provide advice to areas not commissioned by CCG/IPC, 
highlighting gaps in in house providers of IPC. 

 

  
Workplaces 

 
The number and size of workplaces in the county is as follows: 
 
Number of workers Number of workplaces 
Up to 49 Approx. 13,900 
50 to 249 255  
250 and above 40  
500 to 1,000 9 
Over 1,000 9 

 
Of the 73 largest workplaces, six are food processing or distribution, which 
due to the nature of the working environment, tend to be higher risk locations. 
 
In response to a series of coronavirus outbreaks associated with workplaces 
across the county, multi-agency Outbreak Control Teams have been 
established, to engage with workplaces during outbreaks. Their main roles 
being to: 
 

 work with businesses to establish potential common exposures within 
the workplace; 

 provide advice on self-isolation for both cases and contacts, and COVID 
secure workplace practices; 

 establish how these controls are working in practice during site visits, 
referring some to partner regulators where relevant; 

 signpost staff at the workplaces to sources of support where it may be 
needed; 

 where a need is identified, arrange additional testing for employees. 

 
Since January 2020, the Community Protection Outbreak Control Team 

Page 140



 

47 
 

have helped over 70 businesses deal with outbreaks involving members of 
their workforce. 
 
There has been a series of Coronavirus Regulations introduced by 
government throughout 2020 as the situation has evolved, imposing operating 
restrictions on some workplaces, and requiring others to remain closed. 
 
A suite of enforcement tools, and sanctions, have also been incorporated into 
the legislation to support a robust, swift, and effective deterrent to those 
businesses who blatantly seek to flout the law. 
 
Directions to close were used to control significant non-compliance issues in a 
range of business premises, including social clubs, public houses, restaurants, 
hotels, and other hospitality settings.  In addition, Fixed Penalty Notices were 
issued for breaches relating to non-adherence to curfew requirements in bars 
and take-away premises, and Prohibition Notices for businesses which were 
found to be operating illegally, e.g. non-essential retailers, gyms, hairdressers. 
 
As relaxation of restrictions are again being proposed, resulting in more 
workplaces re-opening, employers have a legal responsibility to protect their 
employees, and other people frequenting their premises from risks to their 
health and safety. 
 
Government guidance will underpin any revised regulations for a range of 
workplace settings and sectors, to assist employers in making reasonable 
adjustments to their working arrangements to keep people safe during the 
recovery phase of the coronavirus pandemic. 
 
There are around 14,000 workplaces within County Durham. Over 7,700 
workplaces are regulated under health & safety legislation by the local 
authority with the remainder being regulated by the Health & Safety Executive 
(HSE). 
 
 
Risks 

 Non-compliance with health protection legislation and failure to adhere 
to closure restrictions.   

 Non-compliance with health and safety legislation and failure to make 
adequate arrangements to promote safe working.  

 Understanding the early signs/indicators of an outbreak in terms of 
increased absenteeism in the workplace and incidence of cases within 
the community.  The infection control measures rely on co-operation 
from COVID-19 cases in reporting symptoms, accessing test and trace, 
sharing relevant information e.g. close contacts, employment etc.  

 Whilst larger employers may have established teams and available 
resources to support the development of their own infection control 

Page 141



 

48 
 

plans, many of our small and medium enterprises will have limited 
resources and capacity and may need additional business support to 
ensure compliance with public health control measures and to be able 
to cope in the event of a local outbreak. 

 

Next steps 

 Develop and deliver a range of targeted proactive interventions in our 
highest risk workplaces to promote safe working practices and effective 
infection control to prevent local outbreaks.  

 To develop escalation procedures to the relevant enforcing authority to 
enable early intervention and COVID-19 compliance checking. 

 To review the detail of the standard operating procedures (SOP) for 
particular settings including workplaces. 

 
 

  
Durham County Council Workplaces 

 
The current picture in County Durham as of 15 March 2021:  

 269 schools open from 8 March 

 over 120 DCC workplaces open  

 Estimated 4,000 employees working from home locations out of a total 
non-school workforce of 6,850 full-time equivalent employees. 

 
Throughout the pandemic, some DCC workplaces have remained open 
throughout various stages of government restrictions.  There have also been 
others which reopened and then closed again due to the reinyroduction of 
COVID restrictions. 
 
Corporate Management Team (CMT), Extended Management Team (EMT) 
and service management teams have adhered to government and PHE 
guidance at all times.  There has also been collaboration throughout the 
pandemic with NHS and other external bodies, public health, occupational 
health and health and safety services to receive high quality advice, support 
and guidance regarding COVID control measures and assurance on DCC 
workplaces being ‘COVID secure’ in accordance with statutory guidance and 
corporate responsibilities. 
 
In particular the provision of an internal employee testing service, 
comprehensive risk assessment documentation and safe working procedures, 
site inspections and audits and COVID related advice and support has 

Page 142



 

49 
 

ensured that DCC front line, statutory services have continued to operate in 
what has been an extremely challenging climate. 
 
Since the outbreak of COVID-19, local multidisciplinary teams have met 
weekly to address the ongoing needs of services which remained operational 
or recommenced operational activities.  Officers from Public Health, 
Occupational Health and Health and Safety Services meet weekly with service 
managers, EMT and CMT members in various fora, to share knowledge and 
best practice and  to ensure that workplaces and work activities are 
undertaken safely.  This ensures that key issues are resolved and that 
ongoing advice and support are provided on matters such as outbreak control, 
staffing and infection prevention and control. 
 
A review of the multi-disciplinary work undertaken during the pandemic has 
highlighted areas of good practice, potential risks, and opportunities as we 
move forward into managing COVID-19 in DCC internal workplaces.  
 
Good practice 

 Continue to collaborate and work with professionals from both internal 
departments and external partners to ensure that a robust, efficient, and 
effective approach to managing risk and enabling safe service provision.  

 Sustain networks of identified stakeholders involved in the management 
of COVID-19 in workplace settings through recovery and beyond.  This 
includes regional local authority public health networks sharing 
resources and good practice.  

 Continue with effective partnership working between clinical 
occupational health staff within DCC and NHS trusts which has 
successfully implemented employee testing programmes and 
vaccination delivery.  

 Support services and their workplaces to maintain effective infection 
prevention and control practice that has been at the centre of the 
workplace response throughout the pandemic.  This will have significant 
impact upon both incidence and prevalence of future communicable 
disease outbreaks.  

 Maintain and develop knowledge and experience gained from swift 
implementation of testing programmes amongst workplace settings, 
educational settings and for service users such as pupils and adults. 

 Retain focus on the importance of workplace COVID secure 
requirements and ensure that these remain in place where government 
guidance dictates. 

 
Risks 

 The emergence of coronavirus variants of concern is a clear indication 
that some aspects of pandemic life are likely to be present in the long 
term.  DCC employees in DCC workplaces and providing front line 

Page 143



 

50 
 

services may need to apply some of, if not all, of COVID related 
fundamental controls such as hand, space, face for some time yet and 
maintaining vigilience and compliance may be challenging during stages 
of government road map.  

 As DCC workplaces reopen and work from home guidance and 
restrictions ease, then this will mean the reintroduction of a significant 
number of employees into workplaces which may have been closed for 
considerable periods of time.  Reintegration of employees into these 
environments inevitably introduces some level of increased 
transmission risk.  

 As the number of vaccinated employees return to workplaces, 
behavioural changes and complacency regarding COVID related control 
measures may become a risk which requires management and control.  

 As workplaces return and employees recommence operational activities 
then current support services as Occupational Health (in particular due 
to the reintroduction of statutory health surveillance), Public Health and 
Health and Safety will be required to revert to typical business as usual 
activities.  Any sustained increase in case numbers/outbreaks could 
have implications for staffing levels and the ability to allocate resources 
away from other statutory duties and priorities. 

 At this particular juncture, the council faces two particular major 
operational risks.  We need to stage the 2021 local elections in May; 
and we are in the midst of a major office accommodation programme 
which will see the relocation from County Hall to a new headquarters 
building and other office accommodation moves this year. Full risk 
assessments for both projects have been undertaken to ensure they are 
managed safely and in line with COVID guidance and legislation. 

 
Next steps 

 Plan for the controlled reopening of buildings and reintegration of 
employees into workplaces, ensuring that they meet the COVID secure 
requirements at that time.   

 Workplace cultural communications remain critical in ensuring that 
employees adhere to the current guidance and manage their behaviours 
and actions in a way that workplaces remain safe and prevent 
transmission related risks. 

 Ensure that internal services and links with external partners remain 
resourced so that the knowledge base and training to equip with the 
skills required to respond to any future increased demand.  

 Ensure that resources and support remain available for crucial 
interventions such as workplace COVID secure advice and support, 
employee LFD testing, vaccinations, and safe working procedures/risk 
assessments.   

Page 144



 

51 
 

 Undertake impact assessment of the reintroduction of other statutory 
requirements such as health surveillance, inspections and audits and 
ensure that these can be fulfilled whilst managing COVID related 
demands and responsibilities.  

 
  
Schools 

 
Within County Durham there are currently: 

 over 250 schools. 

 over 100 private nursery providers. 

 approximately 300 childminders. 

 six private/independent schools 

 
These school and early years settings are supporting over 101,000 children 
and young people aged 0 – 17 equating to almost 20% of the County Durham 
population. 
 
During the pandemic, schools across County Durham have remained open 
where possible throughout lockdown periods to support vulnerable children 
and the children of key workers. 
 
From 15 June 2020, County Durham schools took  a cautious and measured 
approach to welcoming larger numbers of children back to school.  Schools 
fully reopened at the start of the Autumn Term and remained open, including 
during the November lockdown, until the Christmas break.  At the start of the 
Spring Term schools had to close again and moved to online learning again 
for the most pupils in accordance with the most recent lockdown.  Since 8 
March 2021, schools have re-opened and welcomed back students across all 
year groups. 
 
All education settings have had access to local advice and support to interpret 
national guidance in relation to reducing the transmission of the virus. 
Local working arrangements with schools and early years settings are well 
established with Public Health representation at the local authority’s Education 
Service’s COVID-19 strategic and operational groups.  Information, advice, 
and guidance are provided on COVID-19 related issues including the 
interpretation of national guidance into practice, test and trace related issues 
and general public health guidance.  Head teachers in education settings are 
kept informed of government updates impacting on education settings and a 
process has been established for the escalation of any concerns raised by 
schools to the local public health team.  Head teachers have received detailed 
health and safety risk assessments, which have been regularly updated, 
covering mitigation measures and the management of cases and contacts.   

Page 145



 

52 
 

At the start of the Autumn Term a single point of contact (SPOC) was 
established for education settings.  Education settings report cases directly to 
the Public Health team, which undertakes a risk assessment and provides 
advice and support on the management of cases and contacts. 
 
The education settings SPOC is supported by a standard operating 
procedure.  The response is proportionate to need, with complex cases and 
situations receiving support from Public Health, education advisors and health 
and safety colleagues.  The Public Health team has engaged with regional 
PHE and DHSC colleagues when indicated to resolve complex cases and 
situations. 
 
There is now a significant asymptomatic testing offer, using lateral flow device 
(LFD) tests in place for education settings.  Staff in all education settings have 
access to twice weekly LFD testing.  From the mass return of pupils on 8 
March 2021, pupils in year 7 and above are offered twice weekly LFD testing, 
at school for the first three tests, with pupils then moving to at home testing 
using LFD test kits provided through their school.  All secondary schools will 
maintain a small asymptomatic testing site (ATS).  Special schools have 
greater flexibility and may choose to maintain a full onsite ATS to meet the 
testing needs of their pupils. 
 
Parents, carers, and those in support bubbles with children and young people 
can access twice weekly LFD testing, via existing workplace testing 
arrangements,a national online ordering system and an emerging Community 
Collect service which is currently available from two DHSC-operated Local 
Testing Sites in the county and which will shortly be extended to include local 
authority-run community testing sites across the county. 
 
Some additional measures have been put in place to support Special Schools 
including the vaccination of school staff, multi-agency health support and 
increased PPE access e.g. FFP3 mask equipment, face fit testing and 
specialist guidance from the Infection Prevention Control team to ensure 
appropriate support for children with complex health needs for example 
children whose care requires aerosol generating procedures (AGPs). 
 
A detailed report of cases in the 0-17 population and by setting is discussed 
weekly at the local Health Protection Assurance Board.  A newly established 
oversight group for cases and situations in education settings now meets 
weekly. 
 
Risks 

 County Durham is a large county with many early years and education 
settings.  There is a potential for families to have children accessing 
several education settings with an increased risk of linked cases across 
schools/settings, families and households.  

Page 146



 

53 
 

 Adherence to strict social distancing presents challenges for younger 
children.   

 Parental concern regarding safety of children to return to school. 

 Variation in uptake of LFD testing for staff and pupils between schools 
and variation in sustained participation in the programme  

 Variation in uptake of LFD testing for families, carers, and child support 
bubbles because those families without access to online ordering or a 
car may be less able to participate. 

 LFD tests conducted in supervised settings have been found to be more 
reliable than tests conducted at home, unsupervised.  This is being 
mitigated by providing students access to supervised testing in schools 
before they are asked to test themselves at home. 

 LFD testing identifies a significant proportion of those currently infected 
with COVID-19, although less than those who would be identified by 
more accurate PCR testing.  Whilst it is made clear that the LFD testing 
programme is for people without symptoms there is a risk that those 
with symptoms will use the test instead of accessing PCR testing. 

 It is accepted that LFD testing does not identify all of those currently 
infected with COVID-19 and it is possible that people who receive a 
negative result will be falsely assured that they do not have COVID-19 
and may engage in behaviours which increase the risk of transmission. 

  National and local reporting mechanisms for schools can be confusing 
for schools, and this can lead to under reporting to the local authority. 

 Datasets for schools’ LFD test results and case reports via national and 
local mechanisms are not currently consolidated to provide an overview 
of cases and situations in schools.  

 
Next steps 

 Maintain the current effective response provided to case and situation 
management in schools and other education settings and ensure early 
help and community support processes are established for families self-
isolating.  

 Maintain the current effective approach to risk reduction through the 
provision of effective health and safety advice. 

 Continue to develop the oversight group for cases and situations in 
education settings. 

 Sustain communication of the importance of ‘hands, face, space’ 
measures. 

 Monitor the use of both PCR and LFD testing. 

Page 147



 

54 
 

Develop a data management approach which effectively uses all data sources 
to provide the most complete assessment possible of cases and situations in 
our schools. 

 

  
Further and Higher Education Establishments 

 
Further Education (FE) Colleges 

The government laid out its broad approach to managing Coronavirus in 
FE settings in its document Further education coronavirus (COVID19) 
operational guidance. 
 

 There are six FE colleges within County Durham, though many pupils 
will not be currently resident in the local area.  

 The national guidance for FE includes sixth form colleges, general FE 
colleges, independent training providers, designated institutions, adult 
community learning providers and special post-16 institutions.  

 From 8 March 2021, all students are able to return to on-site education. 

 During the period of national lockdown, FE providers have remained 
open to vulnerable students and the children of critical workers. 

 Also attending were a small number of students who would otherwise 
be completing their courses or apprenticeships in February or March 
2021 and who cannot complete them remotely. 

 National guidance for confirmed COVID-19 cases offers FE providers 
support and guidance via the DfE helpline.  

 Locally we have requested FEs report confirmed cases through the 
local Public Health team. 

 FEs are also expected to follow national guidance for routine LFD 
testing for all staff and pupils. 

 Colleges and special post-16 institutions will be able to test students on 
return, initially on site and then moving towards home testing.  For 
Independent Training Providers (ITPs) and Adult Community Learning 
providers (ACLPs) home testing will be available for staff and students 
from the end of March 2021.  

 

Risks 

 Not all FEs are directly engaged with the local authority and do not 
report confirmed cases through the local process.  Additional 
development work is currently being undertaken to utilise other data 
sources to ensure appropriate support is provided, to observe clusters 

Page 148



 

55 
 

and outbreaks and intervene where necessary and to limit transmission 
within the setting and local area. 

 Potential increased transmission as FEs opened fully on 8 March 2021. 

 
Next steps 

 Engagement of the FE settings not currently reporting to the local 
authority. 

 Engagement of FE with residential provision to ensure all control 
processes and reporting mechanisms are in place. 

 
Government approach to Higher Education (HE) 
The government laid out its broad approach to managing coronavirus in HE 
settings in its document ‘Students returning to, and starting, higher education 
in Spring Term 2021’. 
 
Local Public Health teams will work with Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) 
to assist in making risk assessments for the safe conduct of all activities. 
 

 Face-to-face activities must be COVID-secure and may be moved more 
online during periods of higher risk, which may or may not coincide with 
changes to the local area or national COVID Alert Levels.  The decision 
may or may not reside with the institution. 

 HEIs are responsible for ensuring the wellbeing of their students during 
periods of self-isolation. 

 Government expects outbreaks in HE settings to be ‘identified and 
managed through investigation and follow up of individual cases’, which 
will be conducted by PHE and local Public Health in conjunction with the 
University. 

 HE providers are required to have an outbreak response plan in place, 
including how it would manage a number of scenarios. 

 The government expects HEIs to develop mass LFD testing capabilities 
for all students and staff.  Of particular note in County Durham is 
Durham University’s participation in a national pilot project on LFD 
testing conducted by Oxford University during October-December 2020, 
which meant that it was able to offer full, weekly testing to all of its 
students and staff from January 2021 onwards.) 

 
Durham University  
There are over 20,000 students attending Durham University, including a high 
number of international students who have remained in Durham City for the 
duration of the pandemic due to international travel restrictions. 
 

Page 149



 

56 
 

The university has 17 colleges, which provide catered and uncatered 
accommodation to approximately 9,000 students.  As many students ‘live out’ 
of college, in mainly private rented accommodation and a number of purpose 
built student accommodation (PBSA) developments in the city.  All students 
remain members of a college during their time in Durham, whether they ‘live 
in’ the college or ‘live out’. 
 
The university is also a major employer with approximately 3,900 staff working 
across multiple sites, mainly in Durham City but also other parts of the county 
as well. 
 
Key developments to date include: 

 strengthening partnership working arrangements – regular catch ups; 

 Durham University contact tracing; 

 LFD testing capability; 

 Self-isolation managed by the university’s colleges; 

 Pre-emptive measures in place especially in campus management 
(COVID secure teaching spaces) and activities (including working with 
Public Health colleagues for advice and guidance on our plans); 

 Community group and joint communications to help reduce anxieties; 

 Community response team to support compliance of students in the city. 

Durham University’s response to a cluster, or an outbreak, will be in 
consultation with PHE and DCC Public Health in line with the Joint 
Management Arrangements.  Potential outbreaks have and continue to be 
identified early.  A data sharing agreement is in place to enable the daily 
sharing of intelligence with PHE and DCC Public Health.  The COVID 
Planning Group (CPG) Chief of Staff liaises with CPG Lead, PHE and DCC 
Public Health SPOC and if in agreement, an Outbreak Control Team is 
formed. 
 
The University has worked closely with DCC and the LRF to establish a PCR 
testing facility in the city cnetre, for those displaying COVID-19 symptoms.  
This is to ensure students, staff and the wider community living in the city 
centre and without their own transport are able to walk to a testing facility 
without having to use public transport.  The university worked with DHSC, 
providing a site and funding to establish this Local Testing Site in the city 
centre.  It also makes available its Howlands car park for mobile testing units 
(MTUs), which means that PCR testing is available in close proximity to 
several of its major residential colleges and teaching departments. 
 
From November 2020, the University has also taken part in a service 
evaluation of Lateral Flow Tests (LFTs) conducted by Oxford University.  
These were initially piloted in three colleges, and subsequently were made 
available to all students and staff through colleges or central testing sites.  The 
capability to use mass, repeated, asymptomatic testing for the whole 

Page 150



 

57 
 

University community has been established since December 2020, and will 
continue for as long as is required. 
 
Since 15 October 2020, the University has had its own Track and Trace 
capability, having been trained by DCC Public Health colleagues.  This was 
initially conducted by paid student workers, but more recently has been 
undertaken by the Incident Control Centre (ICC).  ICC maintain the ability to 
call on student workers should demand require this. 
 
While the university experienced a major outbreak in the autumn term of 2020 
which affected all colleges and the main student residential areas in the city, 
the measures it took proved effective in largely containing the outbreak within 
the university.  This meant that we avoided the prospect of much wider 
community transmission across other sections of the community within the 
city. 
 
Risks 

 Managing student behaviours, whilst recognising their need for face-to-
face activities for mental health and wellbeing and learning. 

 Speed and scale of outbreaks in colleges.  Given the nature of the 
accommodation, colleges can become gripped by coronavirus very 
quickly.  The scale and speed of the initial outbreak in September 2020 
was not fully anticipated and the actions necessary, not foreseen.  The 
University and local authority  – had to work through managing the 
outbreals ‘as they went along’, for example working out whether they 
could/ should lockdown a college, within the legal frameowkr of powers 
available. 

 Particularly complex management for students in the city. 

 Durham University resourcing – if the university reduces its CPG 
capability later this year, it may be less able to manage fresh outbreaks. 

 Losing key personnel. 

 

Next steps 

 Explore the possibility of mandating LFD testing for students (currently it 
is voluntary). 

 Preparations for students’ return after Easter 2021 and in September 
2021. 

 
Durham University Outbreak Response Plan can be found 
OutbreakResponsePlan.pdf (dur.ac.uk) 
 
 

Page 151



 

58 
 

  
Prisons 

 
There are four prisons in County Durham serving the diverse needs of 
residents and the criminal justice system: 

 HMPYOI Deerbolt 
 HMP Durham 
 HMP Frankland, and 
 HMP Low Newton 

Guidance on the prevention and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other 
prescribed places of detention is subject to national guidance2. There is also 
specific national guidance on the multi-agency management of outbreaks of 
communicable diseases or other health protection incidents in prisons and 
other places of detention in England3.  HMPPS guidance has also been 
published on contact tracing in prisons. In line with this, each prison has 
appointed a contact tracing lead (CTL) who leads the contact tracing of all 
confirmed cases of covid-19 in the prison thus ensuring appropriate isolation 
of cases and contacts. 

Following national guidance, each prison has an outbreak plan, which 
provides for a range of control measures.  The healthcare provider (Spectrum) 
recently appointed an IPC lead who has undertaken IPC audits in all prisons 
declaring outbreaks since his appointment.Other available controls in prisons 
include asymptomatic testing regimens, restrictions on population movement 
and vaccination. 

Should there be an outbreak in a local prison, an Outbreak Control Team may 
be called to meet.  This would be organised by Public Health England Health 
Protection Team and chaired by one of their Consultants in Communicable 
Disease Control.  The Director of Public Health would be invited to attend or to 
send a representative.  It is assumed that attendees have decision-making 
capacity on behalf of their organisations. 

The meeting would follow a standard agenda including amongst other things 
case definition, epidemiology, working hypothesis, further investigations, risk 
and control measures, communications, legal and resource implications. 

Risks 
Particular risks in prison settings include any underlying health conditions of 
residents, willingness to disclose symptoms (which may lead to isolation), and 
compliance with hygiene and social distancing amongst staff (within and 
without the workplace). 

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-prisons-and-other-prescribed-places-of-detention-
guidance/COVID-19-prisons-and-other-prescribed-places-of-detention-guidance  
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-contingency-plan-for-disease-outbreaks-in-
prisons  

Page 152



 

59 
 

 
During the course of the pandemic, three key specific issues have arisen: 

 The need for external Infection Prevention Control (IPC) support; 

 Ensuring there are sufficient resources for conducting mass 
asymptomatic testing in the event of an outbreak; and 

 Prison staff and residents are not recognised as priority groups in the 
roll out of COVID-19 vaccine (unless they fall within age or clinical 
criteria published by JCVI). 

The first has been addressed, as there is now an IPC lead who can provide 
advice and guidance and conduct an audit of the prison setting. 
 
Next steps 
Arrangements are currently being put in place to ensure mass testing can take 
place without significant impact on prison healthcare services. 

The issue of vaccination of prison staff has now been recognised nationally, 
with the advice that any vaccine left over in detained settings can be used for 
prison staff wherever possible. 

Waste water sampling for SARS-CoV-2 has been established across the 
entire North East prison estate, which is to be considered within the existing 
complement of surveillance measures. 

  
Recovery 

 
Recovery and Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
Evidence continues to indicate the impact of the COVID-19 and repeated 
lockdown restrictions are likely to increase inequalities in our most deprived 
communities.  This is due to the prolonged and predicted socio-economic 
impact of COVID-19 on individuals, families, communities, and businesses. 
 
At the beginning of the pandemic, the County Durham and Darlington Health, 
Welfare and Communities Recovery Group initiated a rapid Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA) during the first lockdown (March-July 2020).  The HIA was 
drawn up in a rapid response to the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic.  It 
offers a succinct framework of partnership insights, and assessments of 
priority needs emerging for all sectors providing services in County Durham. 

From the HIA screening and prioritisation process undertaken across the life 
course, four areas of high impact were identified as requiring specific focus. 
These were: 
 

 Socio-economic factors - poverty reduction 

 Mental health and emotional wellbeing 

Page 153



 

60 
 

 Community assets and community mobilisation 

 Inclusion of vulnerable groups integrated into the key priorities. 

 
Other areas of high impact were considered and screened out of the HIA 
prioritisation process; however, these remain significant and will continue to 
be monitored for outcomes within current delivery mechanisms e.g. education 
and skills, housing and homelessness, domestic abuse, physical health, 
access to healthcare, tobacco, drug, and alcohol harms. 
 
Data sets relating to themes linked to vulnerabilities during COVID have been 
collated at Area Action Partnership level.  This action was undertaken to 
determine a base line for the levels of inequalities in local communities during 
the first phase of lockdown (Durham Insight, July 2020). 
 
This data will be monitored on an ongoing basis over a short, medium, and 
long-term timeframe and will be bolstered by emerging Population Health 
Management approaches to track the long-term impact of inequalities and 
COVID over time (2021 and 2022). 
 
A Senior Adviser at the Local Government Association has commended the 
HIA approach in County Durham.  Indications suggest the LGA may use a 
similar approach when looking at the Public Health impacts of COVID and the 
22/23 Spending Review.    

 

  

Page 154



 

61 
 

  
Governance  

 

The governance arrangements established and documented in the original 
Local Outbreak Control Plan continue to be in place, have proved fit for 
purpose and have facilitated the prevention of and response to outbreaks 
across County Durham. 

These include the: 

 Local Health Protection Assurance Board 

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 Corporate oversight arrangements within the council 

 Regional Oversight Group 

 links to the Local Resilience Forum (LRF). 

 

The Health Protection Assurance Board has met weekly and brings together 
all partners to share practice, lessons learnt from outbreaks, oversight of key 
issues and risks to escalate.  It is chaired by a Corporate Director from 
Durham County Council which has ensured a high level of commitment from 
all partners to the board and its work, and clear links to corporate oversight via 
the council’s Corporate Management Team. 

The Local Outbreak Management Plan and engagement arrangements have 
also been reported to the Member-led County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board every two months since July 2020. 

The plan has also been presented at the council’s Adults Health and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee on two occasions.  

The LRF Strategic Coordinating Group has met weekly and maintained clear 
multi-agency partnership oversight and response to cases, rates and 
outbreaks of COVID. 

The Chief Executive of the council chairs the Regional Oversight Group and 
the Director of Public Health also sits on this group ensuring close 
engagement with Regional Convenor and their team, PHE and facilitating the 
escalation of key issues and risks nationally. 

The Directors of Public Health and Directors of Adult Services have met every 
two weeks,  to discuss joint working and leadership in relation to the pandemic 
including care homes, testing, guidance and vaccination. This has ensured 
joint messages across the North East, raising key issues and risks with DHSC 
and identifying good practice. 

Page 155



 

62 
 

These are outlined in Appendix C. 

The council has encouraged external and peer review of its approach to 
outbreak management in order to share and improve practice. 

PHE North East has been invited to observe Health Protection Assurance 
Board meetings and in October 2020, the council welcomed a field study team 
from the Cabinet Office to undertake a deep-dive review of outbreak planning 
and management in a university and ‘university city’ and traditional industrial 
communities.  A key observation from the study was Durham’s proactive 
partnership-based approach across the realms of outbreak planning, 
management and control and proactive and pre-emptive community support 
for the most vulnerable. 

 

  
Funding  

 
The council has received various government funding streams linked to 
COVID-19.  Specifically, £13 million has been received and allocated from two 
specific funding sources. 
 

Initial Allocation: Test and Trace Grant - £4.5 million for managing 
Covid-19 outbreaks.  Full grant allocated additional posts for Public 
Health core team, compliance and community resilience Community 
Hub, Community Champions, commissioned services uplift, 
communications; occupational health support; testing. 
 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) – £12 million to date.  
Fully allocated to support work across the council and with partners 
including testing coordination and support, expansion of compliance 
teams, grants to education providers, domestic abuse system 
improvement, Area Action Partnerships, recovery in VCSE and 
community resilience, LA7 pooling joint funding. 
 

The government has announced a further £400 million national funding for the 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) from 1 April 2021, to cover 
further public health activities in 2021-22. 
 
Risks 

 Management of the impacts of the resumption of business as usual 
activities and or the end of temporary contracts. 

 Funding for posts has clearly stipulated fixed term contracts, however, 
service delivery expectations may be raised. 

 

 

Page 156



 

63 
 

Next Steps 

 Work is currently underway to determine how future COMF allocations 
will be utilised to provide resource to address needs identified and next 
steps identified within this plan. 

 

 
Conclusion and forward plan 

 
The coronavirus pandemic has been the most severe public health, social and 
economic challenge County Durham has faced in the post-war era. 
 
Effective outbreak prevention, management and control are central to 
overcoming and recovering from the impacts of the pandemic.  Ensuring the 
effective delivery of these, presents the council and its partners with a range 
of immediate, short and long term challenges: 
 

 There is immediate and current work to do in continuing to prevent, 
manage and control outbreaks and support the rapid implementation of 
the longer-term intervention – the national vaccination programme. 

 So far, we have experienced two waves and we need to plan for 
anticipated further surges in cases which may come later this year and 
in winter 2021/22. 

 Longer term, there will be a major challenge facilitating and fostering 
economic recovery, which will have a direct impact on the wider 
determinants of public health in the county.  At the same time we will 
need to address the longer term post-pandemic trauma caused by what 
people and communities have endured over the past year and what 
they have missed out upon, as public services and economic and social 
activity has in effect, been put on hold. 

 At this stage, it does not look like society will be able to eradicate 
COVID-19.  We need to plan for it being endemic and a long term and 
enduring health risk which we need to manage and contain.  This may 
change depending upon global efforts, but currently we need to plan for 
‘living with COVID’ as opposed to achieving a ‘zero COVID’ strategy. 

 
The Local Outbreak Management Plan demonstrates Durham’s approach to 
managing these challenges and ensuring that the county is able to achieve a 
public health-based recovery, the fundamental building block of which is 
effective outbreak prevention, management and control. 
 
The plan outlines our next steps across all of these dimensions and the 
themes set by government. 
 

Page 157



 

64 
 

This plan will be used to form a dedicated action plan for the forthcoming 
twelve months. 
 
It will need to be dynamic to plan and respond to any changes in the rates of 
COVID-19 and also major organisation change during 2021/22 including the 
establishment of the National Institute of Health Protection as well as the 
implementation of the Governments white paper setting out legislative 
proposals for a Health and Care Bill. 
 
Most importantly we will continue to work with our partners and local 
communities to prevent, respond and reduce the impact of COVID-19 across 
County Durham. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 158



 

65 
 

 
Appendices  

 
Appendix A:  Joint management arrangement (PHE HPT and LA)  
 
Appendix B: Previously Agreed North East Ways of Working  

(November 2020) 
 
Appendix C:  Governance 
 
Appendix D:  Local Health Protection Assurance Board – Terms of 

Reference 
 
  

Page 159



 

66 
 

Appendix A – Joint management arrangement (PHE HPT and LA)  
 

North East Public Health system (LAs and PHE North East) 
arrangements for COVID-19 rapid response and outbreak 

management (including enhanced contact tracing) 
March 2021 

 
Background 
 
The aim of contact tracing is two-fold: 

 to identify people who have been exposed to cases of COVD-19 and 
ensure that they are given the correct advice about isolation; and 

 to gather information which might identify the source of a case’s 
infection. 

 
This information is gathered through interviews with cases (via national the 
Test & Trace system or Local Tracing Partnerships) and includes information 
on:  

 where they have been prior to their infection (the possible source); and 

 where they have been whilst infectious (possible contacts). 

 
There are many other routes by which local teams receive information about 
possible sources / concerns about COVID-19 transmission including: 

 reports from premises / businesses reporting illness in their staff; 

 reports on cases in care homes (the Capacity Tracker); and 

 proactive work done by local teams working with businesses and other 
settings to encourage reporting. 

 
‘Enhanced Contact Tracing’ 
 
However, as described above, Local public health teams (LAs and PHE) 
identify clusters or outbreaks of cases by using multiple strands of information.  
For each of these, a risk assessment is undertaken, and a judgment made 
about whether further investigation and / or action is required. 
 
‘Enhanced Contact Tracing’ (as described by the national Test & Trace 
programme) is the systematic use of the information gathered from case 
interviews to identify clusters of cases and activities / settings where 
transmission may have occurred.  
 
While there is a particular national focus on local use of this specific data set, 
it is important that local action continues to integrate all strands of information 
to ensure that as many clusters or outbreaks of COVID-19 are identified as 
possible, and that assessment and (where indicated) action is undertaken as 

Page 160



 

67 
 

quickly as possible.  This is especially important given that other data sources 
often highlight issues for investigation more quickly than information gathered 
through contact tracing interviews.  For example, workplaces will often 
telephone local authorities or the PHE Health Protection Team to report 
multiple COVID-19 cases in their setting before the Test & Trace contact 
tracing process has been completed. 
 
 
‘Enhanced Contact Tracing’ reports and how they are used 
 
The information gathered from case interviews is used to produce two types of 
report which are published on the PowerBI dashboard that local authorities 
and PHE Health Protection team use. 
 
‘Common Exposure’ reports 

 use contact tracing data from the ‘backwards’ period to identify shared 
locations, settings and activities reported by two or more cases in a 
defined period 

 investigation of these settings 

o establishes whether there is an outbreak associated with the 
setting 

o establishing whether, even if no outbreak associated, there are 
measures that could be put in place to make the setting more 
COVID-secure 

 
‘Postcode Coincidence’ reports 

 use contact tracing from the ‘forwards’ period to identify where the case 
has been while infectious – and so potentially cause risk of transmission 
to others 

 action may be taken if  

o any settings with vulnerable people identified 

o there are opportunities to review COVID secure measures in a 
setting and so mitigate the risk of any onward transmission is 
someone attended while infectious  

 
North East approach 
 
Following a workshop on 23 February 2021, the following approach was 
agreed across all North East local authorities and the PHE North East Health 
Protection Team. 
 

1. Review of ‘Common Exposure’ and ‘Postcode Coincidence’ reports 
Local authorities will review and prioritise the common exposure reports 
for their area on a regular basis 

Page 161



 

68 
 

See below how thresholds for review of information and for taking action 
may change as prevalence in the community changes. 
 

2. As per agreed arrangements for the initial investigation of cases linked 
to a setting (see below), the setting will either be ‘managed’ by the local 
authority team or passed to the Health Protection Team for review and 
investigation 

 
3. For any setting (managed by LA or HPT) the following steps will be 

followed 
a. Review if setting already known / under investigation 

For known settings / exposures 
i. Review case numbers – often the numbers reported on 

common exposure reports do not match with local 
intelligence, but may be worth checking with premises 
depending on how ‘active’ the current investigation is 

ii. Review timing of cases known locally with those reported 
on common exposure report 

b. For ‘new’ settings / exposure, undertake a risk assessment as to 
whether further investigation +/- action is required 

i. Initial investigation may exclude some settings / exposures 
at an early stage (e.g. shopping at large supermarket) 

ii. Review case numbers, background information about 
setting (e.g. size of workforce, type of setting – 
vulnerabilities) and timeline of cases to determine whether 
further investigation and / or action required 

c. If action is required, lead organisation will be as per local 
agreements (below) 

d. If a multi-agency OCT is required, the lead organisation will 
convene and chair the meeting 

 
4. NOTE: the same approach outlined for the use of the ECT reports will 

be followed for information received through any other routes 
 

5. NOTE: the national definition for outbreaks should be considered when 
assessing the information. It may be that a premises, which is known to 
the LA or HPT team, has cases which meet the definition of ‘new 
outbreak’ 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-epidemiological-
definitions-of-outbreaks-and-clusters/covid-19-epidemiological-
definitions-of-outbreaks-and-clusters-in-particular-settings 

 
Changes to risk assessment as community prevalence changes 
 
An important factor to note is that the thresholds for how frequently to review 
the reports and for when to initiate investigation / action will change as the 
prevalence of infection in the community changes. 
 

Page 162



 

69 
 

As community prevalence decreases, the timely recognition of new cases / 
clusters of cases associated with a premises or activity becomes increasingly 
important, therefore timeliness of review of the ‘Common Exposure’ and 
‘Postcode Coincidence’ reports becomes more important. At present, these 
are published daily. 
 
While community prevalence is high, concerns about small numbers of cases 
in large workplaces may be low but as community prevalence falls these 
cases may be important early warning of a rise in community transmission and 
rapid, intensive investigation and control measures will be required. 
 
In situations where community prevalence is low, a much lower threshold for 
an early multi-agency OCT should also be applied.  It may be more 
appropriate for HPT staff to undertake the detailed contact tracing of cases in 
some situations: the decision about this will be agreed between the local 
teams, based on an assessment of risk and available resources. 
 
When community prevalence becomes very low, it is likely that arrangements 
for contact tracing and management of outbreaks will change substantially.  
For example, it may be that the Health Protection Team (or its successor) 
takes the initial lead on risk assessment, contact tracing and cluster 
management regardless of the setting, as is currently the case with (for 
example) measles cases and clusters.  It will therefore be important to keep 
this document under regular review as the context changes. 
 
Recording actions taken 
 
From national briefings, it is expected that local authorities and / or HPTs will 
shortly have to report on action taken on the settings/activities flagged up on 
the ‘Common Exposures’ and ‘Postcode Coincidence’ reports.  
 
At present, it is not clear what metrics will be collected or which 
organisation(s) will be responsible for data collation and reporting.  As an 
interim/preparedness measure it was agreed that each LA will consider 
processes for internally collecting the following information for each 
setting/activity reported on PowerBI, which we expect may be representative 
of the metrics requested nationally: 

 Was the setting /activity already known to local team 
e.g. risk assessment been undertaken / control measures taken / OCT 
held 
Records the date at which local action started 

 Was this a new outbreak that was flagged up through the Common 
exposures report? 
And if so, actions taken as a result 

 Other organisations that are involved (e.g. HSE, CCG etc.)  

Page 163



 

70 
 

 Comments field gives opportunity to explain why action taken / not 
taken (and capture settings where another organisation is leading – e.g. 
hospital outbreaks which are commonly flagged up) 

 
As the HPT manages some situations, there may need to be a mechanism by 
which information about HPT-managed outbreaks is fed back to LAs if LAs are 
expected to report on all settings / activities flagged up; or vice-versa, if the 
HPT is expected to report. Suggested mechanisms for this information sharing 
include: 

 Existing mechanisms for information sharing about care home 
outbreaks (i.e. the information already sent from the HPT to LAs could 
be adapted to include any relevant metrics). 

 Some LA teams have weekly round-up meetings that are attended by a 
member of the HPT. These meetings could be used to check the lists of 
common exposures and update with information from HPT. 

 The weekly LA review meeting (hosted by the HPT) could be used to 
check any outstanding queries. 

 
We also discussed an ‘iCERT’ tool currently under national development.  
This integrates both sets of Enhanced Contact Tracing reports and allows 
both the HPT and LA to update each identified setting or activity with the 
action taken.  If this is developed in a timely manner and becomes the source 
of national metrics, the LA and HPT could simply update it for situation they 
are managing, negating the need for a single organisation to collate 
information about all settings / activities. 
 
We will seek further agreement on the exact process for reporting actions 
taken as and when the national expectations become clearer. 
 
Kirsty Foster & Simon Howard, on behalf of the HPT and DPH Network, 
March 2021 
  

Page 164



 

71 
 

APPENDIX B:  PREVIOUSLY AGREED NORTH EAST WAYS OF 
WORKING – NOVEMBER 2020 

 
 

Principles for local investigation and risk assessment 
 

- Settings are identified through a range of routes including 
o Postcode coincidence reports to the HPT 
o Common exposure reports on PowerBI 
o Reports from the settings about cases in staff / residents 

e.g. care homes, workplaces, food / drink venues 
 

- In each situation, an initial assessment needs to be undertaken to verify 
information, including 

o Number of cases 
o Period over which cases have occurred 
o Dates of attendance at the setting 
o Likelihood of transmission having occurred between the cases in 

setting (or is it coincidence as large / busy venue) 
o Are cases being reported from backward contact tracing (setting 

is possible source) or forward contact tracing (possible risk of 
transmission to others in the setting)? 

o Has any action been taken to identify contacts within the setting? 
o What COVID secure measures are in place at the setting? 

 
- At the point of initial information gathering, advice should be given to the 

setting about 
o Case / contact definitions 
o Isolation advice for cases and contacts 
o COVID secure measures for the setting 

 
- Following the initial information gathering, an assessment will be made 

about 
o Likely transmission in the setting 
o Assessment of control measures – are they adequate?  
o The settings engagement with COVID secure practices 
o Further actions needed re identifying cases and contacts 
o Further control measures needed 

 
- In some situations, the ‘lead’ organisation / team will feel comfortable 

making this assessment 
o Where there are no concerns / no further actions are required 

there is no need for wider multi-agency discussion 
 

- Where there are concerns, or an organisation / team wishes to discuss 
their assessment with colleagues, a multi-agency discussion should 
take place 

Page 165



 

72 
 

o In some situations, a simple call between LA and HPT to review 
information and agree that actions are appropriate will suffice 

o In others where a fuller discussion of concerns and agreeing 
actions is needed, a more structured OCT meeting will be 
convened 
The organisation / team who have undertaken the initial 
information gathering should make arrangements for the OCT 
and someone from that team chair the OCT 
 
 

Page 166



 

73 
 

Lead organisation / team:  
The organisation / team which leads the initial investigation of a situation 
should be based on the typical type of support / advice needed.  Where 
another team is directly contacted in the first instance by the setting it may be 
helpful to gather information to complete an initial risk assessment and share 
with the lead organisation. 
 
Cross-border working: It is highly likely that larger situations (cluster / 
outbreak) will involves cases and contacts from more than local authority area.   
In line with ‘normal’ outbreak response, the area where a premises (e.g. a 
workplace) is located would take the lead for the overall investigation, but the 
responsibility for investigating cases / contacts may be delegated to their 
‘home’ teams and that information reported back into an over-arching OCT.  
 
 

Setting Lead team / 
organisation* 

Comments  Resources to support 
investigation 

Care 
Homes 

HPT - Advice is mainly infection 
control and arrangement of 
testing 

- HPT informs LA SPOC of 
details of each home where 
testing is being arranged 

- Daily line list to all SPOCs / 
DsPH re care home outbreaks 
(incl weekends) 

- Situations where there are 
specific concerns will be 
flagged directly to the 
commissioner 

- 68 care homes were reported 
in the last week; initial risk 
assessment and 
documentation for each home 
takes between 1-3 hours 

- Note: there are ~220 ongoing 
COVID situations on our 
system – most of which are 
care homes. Not all require 
daily input, but are ‘active’ in 
terms of ongoing / follow-up 
required, therefore capacity to 
provide detailed updates is 
extremely limited and will only 
be possible for situations where 
there are concerns.  

- Care Home Pack 
and FAQs 

- Wrap-around team 
arrangements in 
place in each LA 
(exact 
arrangement vary 
between areas) 

- Ongoing IPC 
advice / support 
available through 
LA teams 
(although this is 
quite variable in 
terms of capacity 
and availability) 

Page 167



 

74 
 

- Arrangements in LA teams 
(review meetings / level of 
contact with care homes) is 
very variable; further work to 
review this and rationalise the 
numbers of people contacting 
care homes / rationalise testing 
arrangements is being taken 
forward through the Regional 
Care Home Group 

Children’s 
Homes 

LA - Can be complex issues relating 
to staffing/business continuity 
following identification of 
contacts, and commissioning 
arrangements, requiring multi-
agency liaison 

- Advice is usually about 
infection control and COVID 
secure measures 

- Any complex situations can be 
discussed with the HPT via the 
ICC 
 

- Work being taken forward 
through CYP network regarding 
advice on PPE 

- Work through CYP 
network 

Domiciliary 
Care 
providers / 
Supported 
living 
services 

HPT - Advice is mainly IPC (and in 
some situations discussions 
about testing) 

- May require co-ordination of 
IPC support requiring liaison 
between LA and HPT. 

- Providers to not always fall 
within a single LA footprint 

- HPT informs LA SPOC about 
cases, enquiries / situations 
being managed as they arise.  
– Options to include in daily 
care home line list for SPOCs / 
DsPH to considered via 
regional care homes group  

- Need discussion between HPT 
and LA/IPCNs as required. 
 

- Domiciliary care 
SOP in place. 
Outbreak/issue 
definition detailed 
within the SOP 
dependent on 
transmission within 
the setting. 

- Regional FAQs for 
domiciliary care 

- Ongoing IPC 
advice / support 
available through 
LA teams 
(although this is 
quite variable in 
terms of capacity 
and availability) 

- Testing to be made 
available to CQC 

Page 168



 

75 
 

registered Dom 
care providers 

Primary 
Care / 
Dental 
practices 

HPT - Advice is mainly IPC and staff 
isolation (and in some 
situations discussions about 
testing) 

- May require coordination 
between HPT / LA / CCG and 
NHSE  

- Primary Care and 
Dental SOPs in 
place 

- FAQs for primary 
care and dental 
settings 

- Dental PH team 
undertake initial 
risk assessment of 
staff cases and 
report any 
concerns to HPT 
(HPT manage 
dental patients) 
 

Schools LA  - Reports of school cases/issues 
into the HPT (via the national 
helpline or direct report) are 
reported daily to SPOCs prior 
to any communication with the 
setting. 

- Main advice is about managing 
bubbles / identifying contacts 
and ensuring COVID secure 
measures in place 

- Careful assessment is needed 
to determine whether 
transmission is occurring in the 
school setting or whether 
positive results reflect 
community transmission 

- Business continuing issues 
may arise as a result of staff 
shortages 

- Schools are becoming 
increasingly confident in 
managing situations ins some 
areas 

- LA teams have been managing 
these since early October and 
have well-established 
relationships with school 
settings 

- Schools FAQs 
- Support through 

regional CYP 
network (further 
FAQs to be 
capture through 
this network) 

-  

Page 169



 

76 
 

- Any complex situations can be 
discussed with the HPT via the 
ICC 
Thresholds for discussion will 
vary depending on setting but 
may include high numbers of 
cases / cases in several year 
groups or bubbles / reports of 
severe illness 

- Lower threshold for multi-
agency discussion in SEN 
schools 

Universities LA - Advice is mainly about 
ensuring COVID secure 
measures are in place and that 
contact tracing has been 
completed by the setting 

- LA teams have well established 
relationships and reporting 
arrangements in place with 
Universities  

- Universities are advised to 
report linked cases (on campus 
or in halls of residence) to the 
ICC  

- HPT liaise with LA and any 
complex situations can be 
discussed 

- Thresholds for 
discussion/requirement for and 
OCT will vary and may include 
high numbers of cases / reports 
of severe illness 

- FAQs for 
Universities 

- Initial risk 
assessment 
template  

- Template letters 
for contacts 

Workplaces LA - Advice in these settings is 
mainly about ensuring COVID 
secure measures (EHO / Public 
Protection Teams +/- HSE) are 
in place and that contact 
tracing has been completed by 
the setting 

- Careful assessment is needed 
to determine whether 
transmission is occurring in the 
workplace or whether positive 
results in staff members 
reflects community 

- Workplace 
checklists 
(including re-
vamped JBC 
action cards) 

- Standard email 
(with links to 
guidance and 
checklist for 
information to 
gather) for LA / 
HPT team to share 
with the workplace 

Page 170



 

77 
 

transmission (i.e. other 
plausible sources of infection) 

- A multi-agency meeting is often 
useful (may include the 
workplace) to reinforce 
messages about COVID 
secure practice and to offer 
support in settings where this 
may be more challenging 

- Any complex situations can be 
discussed with the HPT via the 
ICC 

- As part of the roll-out of mass 
testing with LFDs, there are 
workplace pilots – we may 
want to consider this for 
workplaces where COVID 
secure practice is more difficult 

when they first 
report cases 

- Template letters 
for contacts and 
wider workforce 

- There are 
examples of 
asymptomatic 
testing in 
workplace – we 
(HPT) are 
gathering lessons 
learned 

Emergency 
Services 

HPT - Advice is mainly IPC and 
ensuring contact tracing has 
been completed by the setting 

- Settings do not always fall 
within a LA footprint 

- May be business continuity 
issues as a result staff 
shortage 

 

Prisons 
(and 
secure 
children’s 
facilities) 

HPT - Advice is mainly IPC (and in 
some situations discussions 
about testing) 

- Careful assessment is needed 
to determine whether 
transmission is occurring in the 
prison setting or whether 
positive results in staff 
members/inmates reflects 
community transmission (i.e. 
other plausible sources of 
infection) 

- May be complex issues 
resulting from staffing issues or 
restrictions impose within the 
setting 

 

- National HMPPS 
guidance 

Hostels LA - Advice is mainly IPC and 
ensuring contact tracing has 
been completed by the setting 

 

Page 171



 

78 
 

- May be complexities and 
support required to access 
testing 

- Any complex situations can be 
discussed with the HPT via the 
ICC 

 
 
 
Information sharing after initial investigation 
 
Where a caller directly contacts an organisation that is not the lead for a 
particular situation, clarification should be sought about if/who they have 
spoken to in the lead organisation.  
 
Where there have been previous discussions with the lead organisation, the 
caller should be re-directed to the individual who is managing the situation.  
 
Where there has been no prior contact, initial information should be gathered 
and formally handed over to the relevant SPOC (ICC for the HPT) by e-mail 
notifying the caller that this is the process. 

Page 172



 

79 
 

Appendix C – Governance 
 
Figure 4 summarises the overall governance framework for COVID-19 
outbreak control within the context of managing the county’s wider response 
to the pandemic. 

Figure 4:  Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Planning and 
Governance

 
 

  
Local Health Protection Assurance Board  

 
The key purpose of the Local Health Protection Assurance Board is to lead, 
co-ordinate and manage work to prevent the spread of COVID-19.  As such it 
links with and supports wider work to help the county and its communities 
recover from the pandemic and restore some normality. 

The Board meets on a weekly basis and the Terms of Reference which define 
the purpose and structure of the Board are attached as Appendix D.  It has 
developed the County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan 
(the current document) to provide a framework for leading, coordinating and 
managing the outbreak prevention and control process and the revision of this 
document to produce this Local Outbreak Management Plan. 

The key priorities of the Board are to: 

 provide a framework for leading, co-ordinating, and managing the 
spread of COVID-19 including prevention and outbreak control and 
management;  

Page 173



 

80 
 

 establish the support mechanisms Durham County Council (DCC) will 
provide to the Public Health England (PHE) Test and Trace Service;  

 build on the established public health protection role and responsibilities 
of the local authority to manage outbreaks in specific settings; 

 identify further action that might be required, including considering the 
impact on and needs of local communities; 

 understand the local health, social and wellbeing challenges of COVID-
19; 

 support the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board in engaging the 
public, led by Cabinet Portfolio for Adult and Health Services. 

The Board is chaired by the Corporate Director for Adult and Health Services 
and supported by the Director of Public Health, a Consultant in Public Health 
(health protection), and the Outbreak Control Team members. 

Key strategic stakeholders are part of the Board to span the elements of the 
local outbreak plan including: 

 NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and NHS system lead. 

 Health and Safety Executive (HSE). 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. 

 Tess, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust. 

 Durham University. 

 Durham Constabulary. 

 LRF Data Cell interface. 

 LRF COVID-19 SPOC. 

 County Durham Integrated Care Partnership vaccination lead. 

 DCC – public health, community protection, community support hub, 
partnerships and community engagement, emergency planning, and 
response, commissioning, education, and communications. 

Clear roles and responsibilities have been set out for key stakeholders. 

The Board has used the existing PHE North East Outbreak Control Guidance 
and the Standard Operating Procedure for outbreaks, developed by PHE in 
collaboration with local authorities to develop terms of reference.  

Page 174



 

81 
 

There is an established and very strong arrangement between the Director of 
Public Health, Head of Community Protection and PHE Health Protection 
Team and our professional colleagues in neighbouring authorities.  

Appendix D Local Health Protection Assurance Board – Terms of Reference. 
 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board  

 
The Health Protection Assurance Board reports formally to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is be the Member-led board engaging with 
residents about the County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management 
Plan. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is well placed to fulfil this function with a wide 
range of partners including Healthwatch, NHS Foundation Trusts, County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Clinical Commissioning Group, Corporate Directors for Adults, 
Children and Director of Public Health 

The Board is Chaired by Cllr Paul Sexton, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult 
and Health Services.  The Health and Wellbeing Board has three Portfolios 
Holders as members who are elected by the Leader of the Council. 

The County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan has been 
presented to the Adult and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on two 
occasions and will remain part of the forward plan.  

  
Corporate Oversight  

 
Internal to Durham County Council, the outbreak control arrangements report 
to the existing Restoration and Recovery groups to ensure close linkage to all 
COVID-19 plans and to Corporate Management Team to provide clear 
corporate oversight of the work. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 175



 

82 
 

  
Local Resilience Forum  

 
There is also a clear interface with the County Durham and Darlington Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF).  The forum has stood-up a Strategic Co-ordinating 
Group (SCG) and supporting cells and groups, under the overall strategic 
command of the Deputy Chief Constable for Durham and Darlington.  Durham 
County Council strategic command has been provided by the Chief Executive 
and Corporate Directors who have been key members of the SCG.  The 
council’s Director of Public Health has also been a member of the LRF SCG. 

LRF strategic oversight transferred from the SCG to a Strategic Recovery 
Group (SRG) at the end of June 2020, chaired by the Chief Executive of 
Durham County Council, enabling close oversight of testing and outbreak 
management arrangements and coordination with wider recovery planning. 

With the advent of the second surge of the pandemic, the SRG was stood-
down and the SCG re-convened, chaired by the Interim Chief Executive, 
Durham County Council.  

  
Regional Oversight Group  

 
A regional oversight group for Local Outbreak Plans has been convened.  The 
Chief Executive of Durham County Council is the LA7 Lead Chief Executive 
and Chair of group.  The council’s Director of Public Health, the North East 
chair of the Association of Directors of Public Health is also a member of this 
group. 

Page 176



 

83 
 

Appendix D Local Health Protection Assurance Board – Terms of 
Reference 

 
Purpose: 
 
The Local Health Protection Assurance Board has been convened to provide 
oversight and leadership in the management of COVID-19. A Local Outbreak 
Control Plan has been developed to provide a framework for leading, co-
ordinating and managing the spread of COVID-19. (The Plan clarifies how 
Durham County Council (DCC) will support the Test and Trace Service, a key 
element of the outbreak management process, which is being delivered by 
Public Health England (PHE). It builds on the established public health 
protection role and responsibilities of the local authority to manage outbreaks 
in specific settings. It identifies further action that might be required, including 
considering the impact on local communities and understanding the local 
challenges of COVID-19. 
 
Objectives: 
 

a) Close liaison with Public Health England (PHE) in line with standard 
operating procedure (SOP) 

b) To develop a strategy (Local COVID-19 Outbreak Control Plan) to deal 
with communicable disease outbreaks and complex cases during the 
pandemic  

c) To review the epidemiology of COVID-19 in County Durham in the 
context of international, national and regional trends including soft 
intelligence 

d) To plan, implement and monitor outbreak management and control for 
other communicable diseases in County Durham during the pandemic  

e) To plan contingency contact tracing measures and coordinate with all 
partners 

f) To maintain oversight of the setting based OCTs  

g) To report to CMT any resurgence in cases of COVID-19 and any risks 

h) Ensure access to the Community hub for residents needing to self-
isolate.  

i) Liaise with PHE to develop a communications plan 

j) To produce regular reports from outbreak management and control and 
contact tracing activities and outcomes  

Page 177



 

84 
 

k) To ensure engagement with communities to ensure local residents 
understand the implications of outbreaks 

l) Maintain oversight of the risk register 

m) To liaise with and support the Local Outbreak Engagement Board 
(Health and Wellbeing Board) to ensure local community engagement 
and public understanding of the implications of any local outbreaks 

n) To ensure all decisions are underpinned by the Wellbeing Principles 

 
Membership: 
 

 Chair: Corporate Director, Adult and Health Services 

 Vice Chair: Director of Public Health  

 Consultant in Public Health  

 Head of Community Protection  

 Environment and Health Protection Manager  

 PHE Consultant or representative   

 Research and Public Health Intelligence Manager  

 CCG/NHS rep  

 CCG Infection Prevention and Control  

 DCC Community Hub  

 Public Health Strategic Manager - interface with social care 

 Public Health Strategic Manager - interface with education 

 Occupational Health and Safety Manager  

 Strategic Manager Executive Support  

 Communications  

o Business Partner  

 Human Resources  

 Public Health Programme Manager  

 Health and Safety Executive  

 Partnerships  

Page 178



 

85 
 

 Durham University  

 Outbreak Control Strategic Manager – interface with university 

 Outbreak Control Advanced Practitioner  

 Police  

 Executive Director of Nursing, CDDFT  

 Consultant in Public Health CDDFT  

 Outbreak Control Programme Manager  

 Outbreak Control Business Support  

 As and when required representatives from Restoration and Recovery 
Groups depending on outbreak situation   

 
 
Frequency of meetings 
Meetings will be held weekly.  This will be reviewed and when required further 
meetings will be arranged. 
 
Governance arrangements/links with other groups 
 
The COVID-19 Local Health Protection Assurance Board will report to COVID-
19 Restoration and Recovery Planning Group. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board will be used as the member-led board to 
communicate with the general public.   
 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



Adults, Well-being and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

1 October 2021  

Quarter One, 2021/22  
Performance Management Report  

Ordinary Decision  

 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present an overview of progress towards achieving the key outcomes 
of the council’s corporate performance framework and highlight key 
messages to inform strategic priorities and work programmes. 

2 The report covers performance in and to the end of quarter one, April to 
June, 2021. 

Performance Reporting  

3 The performance report is structured around the three components.  

(a) High level state of the County indicators to highlight areas of 
strategic significance. These are structured around the County 
Durham Vision 2035. 

(b) Council initiatives of note against the ambitions contained within 
the vision alongside a fourth ‘excellent council’ theme contained 
within our Council Plan1. 

(c) A long list of key performance indicators against the themes of the 
Council Plan.   

4 It also includes an overview of the continuing impact of COVID-19 on 
council services, our staff, and residents. 

 

 

 
1 approved by full council October 2020 

Page 181

Agenda Item 10



Long and Independent Lives  

5 We are continuing to support people to live longer healthy lives. Focused 
activity across mental and physical well-being, physical activity for 
children, smoking quitters (particularly pregnant women and new 
mothers) and breastfeeding is continuing to make a difference to the lives 
of our residents. The number of teenage conceptions continued to fall 
during the quarter.  

6 As a positive picture emerges from our health services, with high 
vaccination rates in our care homes and across our communities, we 
are now able to consider the longer-term health consequences of 
COVID-19. We are concerned that many residents are suffering long-
lasting symptoms of COVID-19 (Long-COVID) and many more have 
suffered impacts on their mental wellbeing, gained weight and become 
more inactive.  

 The impact of COVID-19 

7 The COVID-19 pandemic has caused an unprecedented health 
emergency across the globe. Restrictions to contain the virus, minimise 
deaths and prevent health and social care systems being overwhelmed 
remain in place, and are continuing to impact our everyday lives, our 
health and the economy. 

8 However, roll-out of the UK’s vaccination programme, which has 
reduced both hospital admissions and deaths, has allowed the 
government to implement plans for a gradual and phased route out of 
lockdown.  

9 Working with government organisations and within the context of 
national developments, we continue to protect our communities, support 
those affected by the pandemic, and develop plans for future recovery.  

10 The COVID-19 surveillance dashboard can be accessed here.  

Risk Management 

11 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects. The latest report can be found here.  

Recommendation 

12 That Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considers the overall position and direction of travel in relation to quarter 
one performance, the impact of COVID-19 on performance, and the 
actions being taken to address areas of underperformance including the 

Page 182



significant economic and well-being challenges because of the 
pandemic. 

Author 

Andy Palmer       Tel:  03000 268551 

  

Page 183



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 
financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 
process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications 
of climate change in our reports and decision-making. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 
been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 
integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 184



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Performance Management 
Report 

 

Quarter One, 2021/22

Appendix 2 

Page 185



Long and Independent Lives  

1 The ambition of Long and Independent Lives is linked to the following key 
objectives: 

(a) County Durham will have a physical environment that will contribute to good 
health; 

(b) We will promote positive behaviours; 
(c) Health and social care services will be better integrated; 
(d) People will be supported to live independently for as long as possible by 

delivering more homes to meet the needs of older and disabled people; 
(e) We will tackle the stigma and discrimination of poor mental health and build 

resilient communities. 

National, Regional and Local Picture 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 During quarter one, permanent admissions to residential and nursing care are 
almost twice the number seen in the same period last year. However, it should be 
noted that that admissions 12 months ago were significantly lower due to the 
pandemic. The latest data for permanent admissions are only slightly less than 
two years ago (pre-COVID), suggesting that public confidence in care homes is 
returning.  

3 Latest data for the percentage of older people remaining at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital into reablement services are the highest (86.7%) for 
almost two years and significantly higher than the figure from the same period last 
year (82.6%). This percentage has continued to rise during the pandemic.   

Adult Social Care (Durham County Council)  

175
per 100,000 adults 
aged 65+ admitted 

to residential or 
nursing care 

(Apr-mid Jun 2021)

87%
patients 

discharged into 
reablement/ 
rehabilitation 

services still at 
home after 91 

days

(Apr-mid Jun 2021)

87%
of service users 

receiving an 
assessment or 
review within 

the last 12 months

(2020/21)

95%
of individuals 
achieved their 

desired outcomes 
from the adult 
safeguarding 

process 

(Apr-mid Jun 2021)

better than 
last year

similar to 
last year

worse than 
last year

Not 
comparable

Page 186



4 Recently published data from the Active Lives survey (November 2019 to 
November 2020) clearly reflect the impact of the pandemic on people’s ability to 
take part in sport and physical activity. In line with the national trend, reported 
levels of ‘inactivity’ increased over that period, which unfortunately has an impact 
on the gradual gains made over the last five years. With regard to ‘active’ 
participation (150+ minutes a week), we remain relatively static (at 60.6%)  
compared to the previous 12 months and just below the national average 
(61.4%). 

Council Services 

5 The breastfeeding action plan has been reviewed, with a refreshed multi-agency 
action plan being developed, linking into the regional work being undertaken by 
the Local Maternity System (LMS). Key actions in the plan include: 

 developing a suite of videos which can be shared via social media to raise 
awareness of the support available for those choosing to breastfeed; 

 exploring the potential to develop a targeted mass marketing campaign 
focused on changing societal attitudes and beliefs to breastfeeding, which is 
jointly funded by key partners; 

 developing a joint communication plan with key partners to deliver 
significant messages via social media platforms in line with the agreed ‘call 
to action’; 

 reviewing the scope of the Infant Feeding Team, taking into account national 
and regional best practice as part of standard commissioning processes; 

 working with the Pioneering Care Partnership to make the Breastfeeding 
Friendly County Durham accreditation scheme part of the silver level Better 
Health at Work Award; 

 conducting focus groups in targeted areas of the county to obtain insights 
from mothers and families on barriers and experiences of feeding choices in 
County Durham; 

 a deep dive by Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust to explore the 
specific details behind feeding decisions - the outcome will be used to 
identify barriers and opportunities, to improve service delivery. 

6 The council continues to support the Active 30 campaign including help with 
resource development, communications, and increasing physical activity in 
schools and communities. By June 2021, 76 schools had pledged to work with 
the programme. 

7 Feedback from the Children and Young People’s Transformation Partnership 
(LTP) identified difficulties for professionals, adults and families when navigating 
the support services available in County Durham to support mental health and 
emotional well-being.  

Page 187



8 Following this feedback, the council has developed guides for adults and children 
and young people known as ‘rainbow resources’. The interactive guides promote 
and signpost the services available across County Durham to support mental 
health and emotional well-being.  

9 The rainbow guides were widely promoted and cascaded to internal and external 
partners and were positively received. Feedback from partners and service users 
was excellent. Several iterations of these resources have been produced and 
utilised to support the COVID-19 response and recovery agenda.  

Promoting positive behaviours 

10 Tobacco control continues to be a priority for action, with links to poverty, second-
hand smoke / smoke free housing, mental health and tobacco dependency in 
pregnancy proposed as priorities during 2021/22. 

11 The most recent quarterly data (2019) highlight a continuing trend of reduction in 
teenage conceptions, with County Durham (18.7) below the North East average 
(19.3) but still greater than England (14.1). Over the last twelve months, work to 
reduce under-18 conceptions has included the following innovative practice:  

 online access to C Card2; 

 increased access to online testing / sexual health advice and guidance;  

 delivery of sexual health / C Card packs to young people who are at risk; 

 remote delivery to young people (and parents) of programmes which 
support them in remaining sexually healthy. 

12 The COVID Awareness Team supported staff from the Cabinet Office at a 
roadshow at the Arnison Centre to pass out key messages and speak to local 
people about testing, vaccinations and general COVID-19 information.  The 
Awareness Team are also supporting the COVID vaccine bus around the county. 

Better integration of health and social care services 

13 The new ‘County Durham Care Partnership Executive’ arrangements to further 
integrate health and social care services came into place in April 2021. This will 
stand County Durham in good stead for the proposals outlined in the Health and 
Social Care white paper relating to integrated care systems coming into force. 
The County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group will cease to exist on 1 April 
2022.  Health and Well-being Boards will continue to have a leadership role at the 

 
2 The C Card scheme is aimed at young people between 13-24 years old who can register to get a range 
of free condoms, femidoms, lube, dams, information and advice. The aim of the service is to promote 
reproductive and sexual health and help young people to access local services. 

Page 188



place-based level in these new arrangements to represent the views/plans of 
County Durham. 

14 During the pandemic, data for the indicator outlining the percentage of service 
users receiving an assessment or review in the previous 12 months increased, 
which demonstrates that frontline social care teams were able to improve the 
timeliness of care package reviews for clients. However, latest data, is similar to 
that saw pre-COVID. 

Physical environment that will contribute to good health 

15 Discussions with key stakeholders are ongoing regarding Play Streets.3  Public 
Health presented the initiative to the Community Action Team (CAT) working in 
South Moor for a 12 week period,  to consider piloting it in this area, as partners 
and the community are already engaged. As a result, community meetings will 
take place on 23 and 27 August, with support from CAT partners.  

16 A draft strategic framework and strategy has been developed for the Physical 
Activity Strategy Committee (PASC). The committee has agreed to the formation 
of a task and finish group to engage key stakeholders, map the local system, 
assets and gaps in provision, establish priority areas of intervention and agree 
areas for collaboration, to develop a whole systems action plan to increase levels 
of physical activity across the life course in County Durham. The updated 
Physical Activity Strategic Framework will be published in September 2021. 

17 In March 2021, the government announced funding to help people living with 
excess weight and obesity to lose weight and maintain healthier lifestyles. 
Durham County Council received £545,000 to be spent during 2021/22, for the 
commissioning of tier 2 weight management services, which are multi-component 
programmes addressing dietary intake, physical activity, and behaviour change. 
Following focused discussion with key public health stakeholders and partners, it 
was agreed to target a very specific population group linked to perioperative care4 
and ‘The Well-Being for the Time Being programme’. Discussions are ongoing 
with a potential provider, for the service to start in September 2021. 

18 The Self Harm Task and Finish group has worked with key stakeholders to 
identify current provision in relation to self-harm and to identify barriers in the 
identification and support offered to children and young people and families 
across the mental health system. A number of workshops were conducted, which 

 
3 a scheme which enables streets to be closed to through traffic for 2-3 hours, creating a safe space for 
children and families to play. 
4 Perioperative care, also referred to as perioperative medicine, is the practice of patient-centered, 
multidisciplinary and integrated medical care of patients from the moment of contemplation of surgery until 
full recovery. 
   

Page 189



found gaps in relation to professionals’ confidence and an understanding of the 
scale of the issue in County Durham. In response, the Practitioners Toolkit was 
updated to reflect current guidance, the guidance for schools was updated and 
rolled out, and training was conducted via the Emotional Well-being Locality 
Forums to increase practitioner confidence.  

Tackling the stigma of poor mental health and building resilient 
communities  

19 The council, in conjunction with the County Durham Time to Change Hub, 
promoted Mental Health Awareness Week during May 2021. The theme was 
‘Nature’, which provided an opportunity to promote the mental health and well-
being benefits of being out and about, taking advantage of various locations 
across the county. The campaign centred around the ‘Five Ways to Well-being’ 
and focused on a separate topic each day.

Page 190



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the council and its 
partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2020/21 corporate indicator set. This is available to view either 
internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils, for 
example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e., County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, Hartlepool, 
Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, Sunderland.  
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

P
age 191



 
LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

updated 
this 

quarter 

34 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

15.0 
Jan-Mar 

2021 
14.7 

(amber) 
16.6 

(green) 
8.9 

(red) 
12.8 
(red) 

13.4 
(red) 

 Yes 

35 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  

1,789 
[1,335] 

Apr-Dec 
2020 

Tracker  
2,356 
[1,540] 
(red) 

1,140 
(green) 

1,507 
(green) 

1,944 
(red) 

 Yes 

 
36 

Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.3 2017-19 Tracker 
78.2 

(green) 
79.8 

(amber) 
78.0 

(green)  
78.3 

(green) 
 No 

37 Female life expectancy at birth (years) 81.8 2017-19 Tracker 
81.5 

(green) 
83.4 
(red) 

81.8 
(green) 

82.0 
(amber) 

 
 

No 

38 
Female healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

58.3 2017-19 Tracker 
58.4 

(amber) 
63.5 
(red) 

59.0 
(amber) 

61.0 
(red) 

 No 

39 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59.6 2017-19 Tracker 
59.3 

(green) 
63.2 
(red) 

59.4 
(green) 

60.5 
(amber) 

 No 

40 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion of 
adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

64.8 2019/20 Tracker 
63.3 
(red) 

62.8 
(red) 

67.6 
(green) 

69.6 
(green) 

 Yes 

41 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population 

13.4 2017-19 Tracker 
12.8 
(red) 

10.1 
(red) 

11.6 
(red) 

12.3 
(red) 

 No 

42 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth (%) 

30.2 
Jan-Mar 

2021 
31.8 

(amber) 
25.9 

(green) 
48.2 
(red) 

36.0 
(red) 

34 
(red) 

Q3 
2019/20 

No 

43 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

17.0 2019 Tracker 
15.0 
(red) 

13.9 
(red) 

15.3 
(red) 

15.2 
(red) 

 No 

44 
Self-reported well-being - people with a 
low happiness score 

10.9 2019/20 Tracker 
9.5 

(red) 
8.7 

(red) 
10.6 

(amber) 
9.6 

(red) 
 No 

45 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

60.6% 
Nov 2019-
Nov 2020 

Tracker 
59.9% 

(amber) 
61.4% 

(amber) 
60% 

(amber) 
  Yes 

46 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

30.1% 
Nov 2019-
Nov 2020 

Tracker 
28% 
(red) 

27.1% 
(red) 

28.9% 
(amber) 

  Yes 

P
age 192



Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

updated 
this 

quarter 

47 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

175.0 
1 Apr-16 
Jun 2021 

N/a 
97.0 
(red)     Yes 

48 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/rehabilitation 
services 

86.7 
1 Apr-16 
Jun 2021 

N/a 
82.6 

(green) 
82.0 

(green) 
83.5 

(green) 
80.3* 

(green) 2019/20 
 

Yes 

49 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

95.1 
1 Apr-16 
Jun 2021 

Tracker 
94.5 

(green) 
92.2 

(green) 
85.4 

(green) 
92.1* 

(green) 2019/20 Yes 

50 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

86.7 2020/21 Tracker 
93.2 
(red)     Yes 

51 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

69.6 2019/20 Tracker 
67.8 

(green) 
64.2 

(green) 
67.5 

(green) 
66.2* 

(green) 
 No 

52 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

51.2 2018/19 Tracker 
43.3** 
(green) 

38.6 
(green) 

47.2 
(green) 

41.8* 
(green) 

 No 

53 
Daily delayed transfers of care beds, 
all, per 100,000 population age 18+ 

2.9 Feb 2020 Tracker 
1.5 

(red) 
11.0 

(green) 
7.0 

(green) 
11.0* 

(green) 
 No 

54 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

77.6 2019/20 Tracker 
75.1 

(green) 
66.6 

(green) 
73.0 

(green) 
69.2* 

(green) 
 No 

*unitary authorities 
** results from 2016/17 survey  
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 193



Other additional relevant indicators  

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 
Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

updated 
this 

quarter 

24 
% of free school meals (FSM) eligible 
pupils taking FSM 

76.0 Jan 2021 Tracker 
75.8 

(green) 
82.6 
(red) 

82.6 
(red) 

  Yes 

25 
Under-18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17  

26.4 2018 Tracker 
23.7 
(red) 

16.7 
(red) 

24.9 
(red) 

25.0 
(red) 

 No 

26 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

73.2 2019 Tracker 
74.2 

(amber) 
76.6 
(red) 

76.7 
(red) 

71.7 
(green) 

 No 

27 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions for 
under 18s (rate per 100,000) 

52.8 
2017/18-
2019/20 

Tracker 
54.7 

(green) 
30.7 
(red) 

55.4 
(green) 

55.3 
(green) 

 No 

28 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 
hospital as a result of self-harm (rate 
per 100,000) 

361.2 2019/20 Tracker 
354.3 
(red) 

439.2 
(green) 

536.6 
(green) 

656.3 
(green) 

 No 

29 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

24.9 2019/20 Tracker 
24.0 
(red) 

23.0 
(red) 

24.8 
(amber) 

25.0 
(green) 

 No  

30 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

37.6 2019/20 Tracker 
37.7 

(green) 
35.2 
(red) 

37.5 
(amber) 

37.2 
(amber) 

 
No 

**The National Child Measurement Programme ended in March 2020 when schools closed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Comparisons to North East and Nearest Statistical Neighbours should 
be treated with caution as not all submitted of their measurements. 

  

P
age 194



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 
How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

updated 
this 

quarter 

85 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment 

33.6 
May 2021-
Apr 2021 

Tracker 
29.6 

(green) 
35.2 

(amber) 
31.2 

(green) 
  Yes 

86 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.3 
May 2021-
Apr 2021 

Tracker 
5.6 

(amber) 
4.8 

(green) 
3.9 

(green) 
  Yes 

87 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

36.5 
May 2021-
Apr 2021 

Tracker 
29.6 

(green) 
32.5 

(green) 
27.3 

(green) 
  Yes 

 

 

 

P
age 195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

1 October 2021 

Adult and Health Services - Revenue 
and Capital Outturn 2020/21 

 

Report of Corporate Directors  
 
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) 
 
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director Adult and Health Services 
 
Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Committee with details of the 2020/21 revenue and capital 
budget outturn position for the Adult and Health Services (AHS) service 
grouping, highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget for 
the year. 

Executive Summary 

2 This report provides an overview of the 2020/21 revenue and capital 
outturn position.  It provides an analysis of the budget outturn for the 
service areas falling under the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and complements the reports considered by Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis.  

3 The outturn shows that AHS has a cash limit underspend of £3.473 
million at the year-end against a revised budget of £116.233 million, 
which represents a 3.0% underspend. This compares with the previously 
forecast cash limit underspend, based on the position at 31 December 
2020, of a £3.457 million cash limit underspend. 

4 In arriving at the cash limit position, Covid-19 related expenditure of 
£17.138 million, offset by Covid-19 related savings of £10.252 million 
within AHS have been excluded. Covid-19 related costs are being treated 
corporately and offset by Government funding so far as is possible. 

5 Based on the outturn position the Cash Limit balance for AHS as at 31 
March 2021 is £10.450 million. 

Page 197

Agenda Item 11



2 

6 Details of the reasons for under and overspending against relevant budget 
heads is disclosed in the report. 

7 There was a small amount of capital expenditure, £2,000 incurred in 
2020/21 as part of the 2021/22 Drug and Alcohol Recovery service capital 
scheme at Horden Resource Centre. 

Recommendation 

8 It is recommended that the Adults Wellbeing and Health Committee note 
the financial position included in this report. 

Page 198



3 

 
Background 

9 County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21 at 
its meeting on 26 February 2020. These budgets have subsequently been 
revised to take account of transfers to and from reserves, grant 
additions/reductions, budget transfers between service groupings and 
budget reprofiling between years.  This report covers the financial position 
for: 

 
 AHS Revenue Budget - £116.233 million (original £129.627 million) 
 AHS Capital Programme – £Nil 

 
10 The original AHS revenue budget has been revised to incorporate a 

number of budget adjustments as summarised in the table below: 
 

Reason for Adjustment £’000 

Original Budget 129,627 

Transfer to Contingencies – NI adjustment (20) 
Transfer from Contingencies – Transforming Care 366 

Transfer from Contingencies – Pay Inflation 786 

Use of Corporate MTFP reserve 463 
Contribution to COMF Reserve (8,481) 

Use of (+)/contribution to cash limit reserve (-) (2,490) 
Use of (+)/contribution to AHS reserves (-) (4,018) 

Revised Budget 116,233 

 
11 The use of / (contribution) to AHS reserves consists of: 
 

Reserve £’000 

Contribution to AHS - Social Care Reserve (2,440) 

Contribution to Public Health Reserve (1,578) 

Total use / (contribution) to AHS Reserves (4,018) 

 
12 The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 

financial year 2020/21 and show: - 

 The approved annual budget; 

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s 
financial management system; 

 The variance between the annual budget and the outturn; 

 For the AHS revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the 
cash limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from 
the strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and 
use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

Page 199



4 

 
Revenue Outturn 

 
13 The AHS service has a cash limit underspend of £3.473 million against a 

revised budget of £116.233 million which represents a 3.0% underspend. 
This compares with the previous forecast cash limit underspend of £3.457 
million at Quarter 3.  
 

14 The tables below show the revised annual budget, actual expenditure in 
2020/21 and the year end variance.  The first table is analysed by 
Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense) and shows the combined 
position for AHS; and the second is by Head of Service. 
 

Subjective Analysis (Type of Expenditure) 
 

  
 Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

Actual 
2020/21  

Variance  

 Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit  

 Cont. To 
/ (From) 

Reserves  

 Cash 
Limit 

Variance  

 Memo: 
QTR3 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance  
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Employees 36,683  35,914  (769)  (387)  332  (824) (554) 

Premises 1,201  2,003 802 (299)  (21)  482  55 

Transport 2,293  1,587  (706) 555  (7) (158) (11) 

Supplies & Services 4,364  4,647  283 38  166  487  109 

Third Party Payments 289,416  301,856  12,440 (11,852)  788 1,376 2,632 

Transfer Payments 11,278  10,278  (1,000) 0  0  (1,000) (1,147) 

Central Support / Capital 30,612  32,069  1,457 186  788  2,431  1,321 

Income (259,614) (265,835) (6,221) 4,373 (4,419) (6,267)  (5,862) 

Total 116,233  122,519  6,286 (7,386)  (2,373) (3,473) (3,457)  

 
Analysis by Head of Service Area 

  
 Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

 Actual 
2020/21 

Variance  

 Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit  

 Cont. To 
/ (From 

Reserves 

 Cash 
Limit 

Variance  

 Memo: 
QTR3 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance  
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Central/Other  9,068  8,388 (680) 751  1,307  1,378  1,059 

Commissioning 4,574  3,505  (1,069) 12  651  (406) (369) 

Head of Adults 111,124  114,315  3,191 (7,820)  184  (4,445) (4,147)  

Public Health  (8,533)  (3,689)  4,844 (329)  (4,515)  0  0 

Total 116,233  122,519  6,286 (7,386) (2,373) (3,473) (3,457) 

 
15 The table below provides a brief commentary of the outturn cash limit 

variances against the revised budget, analysed by Head of Service. The 
table identifies variances in the core budget only and excludes items 

Page 200



5 

outside of the cash limit (e.g. central repairs and maintenance) and 
technical accounting adjustments (e.g. central admin recharges and 
capital charges):  

 
 

 Service Area Description 

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000 

Head of Adults 

Ops Manager LD 
/MH / Substance 
Misuse 

£302,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 
£57,000 over budget in respect of premises/transport/supplies and 
services. 
£764,000 net under budget on direct care related activity. 

(1,009) 

Safeguarding 
Adults and 
Pract.Dev. 

£16,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 
£109,000 under budget on supplies and services. 
£32,000 over recovery of income.  

(157) 

Ops Manager 
OP/PDSI Services 

£146,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 
£121,000 under budget in respect of premises/transport/supplies and 
services. 
£2.267 million net under budget on direct care-related activity. 

(2,534) 

Ops Manager 
Provider Services 

£125,000 under budget on employees due to the effective management 
of staff. 
£16,000 under budget in respect of transport and supplies and services. 
£495,000 over recovery of income. 

(636) 

Operational 
Support 

£109,000 under budget mainly in respect of supplies and services. (109) 

    (4,445) 

Central/Other 

Central/ Other  

 
The net effect of £2.000 million contribution to corporate reserves, and 
increase in the bad debt provision of £0.560 million and £1.182 million 
under budget, mainly to support future operational activity. 
 

1,378 

    1,378 

Commissioning  

Commissioning  

 
£406,000 under budget, mainly in respect of effective management of 
vacancies and contract management. 
  

(406) 

    (406) 

Public Health    

General Prevention 
Activities 

Under-budget on activity-based spend relating to Health Protection 
Emergency Response (-£19,000). 

(19) 

Page 201



6 

 Service Area Description 

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000 

Healthy 
Communities 
Strategy and 
Assurance 

Over budget principally as a result of unbudgeted expenditure on 
personal resilience training. 

7 

Living and Aging 
Well 

Under-budget across a range of budget areas as follows. Drug and 
Alcohol commissioning detox residential services (-£11,000), 
supervised consumption (-£89,000) Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 
under budget (£-53,000).  Buprenorphine prescription charges under 
budget (-£76,000).  Pharmacy enhanced services for alcohol under 
budget (-£14,000). Social Marketing underbudget (-£29,000).  Tobacco 
and Smoking cessation, Nicotine Replacement Therapy voucher and 
associated costs (-£243,000) underbudget. Reducing cancer deaths (-
£65,000) under budget and (-£60,000) on contribution from NHS for 
cancer awareness social marketing. Public Health Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Macmillan additional CCG income not received (+£30,000). 

(610) 

Public Health Grant 
and Reserves 

Amount to balance the cash limit variance (+£838,000) made up 
principally of savings against contracts, savings from vacant posts & 
delays in contracts progressing.   

838 

Public Health 
Team  

Net under-budget on staffing due to a vacant post, reduced hours, 
training etc. (-£81,000), staff travel (-£13,000) supplies and services     
(-£7,000) offset by additional expenditure (+£15,000) on Teesside 
University Evaluation.  

(86) 

Starting Well and 
Social 
Determinants 

Children’s Services under budget (-£16,000) rent to Greenways for 0-25 
contract (to be billed 21/22), broadband saving (-£21,000), recharge to 
CCG for Eneuresis Service not made (-£47,000), Violence Against 
Women and Girls Service - Contribution from NHS (-£46,000) for 
Perpetrator Intervention Victim Safety Scheme. 

(130) 

    - 

AHS Total   (3,473) 
 

16 Items treated as outside of the cash limit (in £’000) are set out below: 
 
 Contribution to AHS (Social Care Reserve) 2,117 

 Contribution to Public Health Reserves 3,964 

 Use of Corporate Reserves - MTFP Redundancy (130) 

 Use of Corporate Reserves – COMF (8,481) 

 Contribution to Corporate Insurance Reserve 157 

      Total (2,373) 

 Outside Cash Limit (Central Support / Depreciation etc.) (500) 

 COVID-19 Costs and Lost Income (17,138) 

 COVID-19 Underspends 10,252 
Sub Total (7,386) 

      Total  (9,759) 

 
17 The council has faced significant additional costs in relation to the Covid-

19 outbreak and significant loss of income. All additional costs and loss of 

Page 202



7 

income, net of Covid-19 related underspending, is being treated 
corporately and is therefore excluded from the cash limit.  
 

18 The major area of additional cost and loss of income in respect of AHS is 
£17.138 million for the additional financial support paid to providers. This 
support includes a temporary 10% uplift in fees and targeted support 
being given to residential care homes where occupancy levels have 
dropped significantly (in excess of 10%). 

 
19 The major areas of forecast Covid-19 related savings in respect of AHS 

are as follows (£10.252 million): 
 
(a) £0.593 million in respect of short-term spot hire of vehicles and car 

allowances etc; 
(b) Net agency and contracted services are forecast to be £9.303 

million below budget as a result of a reduction in contracted 
placements with adult care providers. 

(c) A CDCCG contribution towards adult social care provider support is 
£0.356 million. 

 
20 In summary, the service has maintained it spending within its cash limit. It 

should also be noted that the outturn position incorporates the MTFP 
savings built into the 2020/21 budgets, which for AHS in total amounted to 
£5.044 million. 

 
21 The cash limit reserve for Adult and Health Services is £10.450 million 

after incorporating the 2020/21 outturn. 
 
Capital Programme 
 
22 There was no designated capital programme in AHS in 2020/21.  

However, limited expenditure was incurred in respect of the 2021/22 
capital programme in Public Health for Drug and Alcohol Premises 
Upgrade.  The table below shows the capital expenditure incurred.  
 

AHS 
Actual 

Expenditure 2020-21 
Budget 

(Under) / 
Over 

Spending  31/03/2021 
  £000 £000 £000 
Public Health – Drug & Alcohol Premises 2 0 2 
  2 0 2 

 
Background Papers 
 
23 Cabinet Report 7 July 2021 – 2020/21 Final Outturn for the General Fund 

and the Collection Fund. 
 
Contact:   Andrew Gilmore – Finance Manager                                 Tel:  03000 263 497 

Page 203



8 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 
 
Legal Implications 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows the 
actual spend against budgets agreed by the Council in February 2020 in relation to the 
2020/21 financial year. 

Finance 

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an analysis of 
the revenue and capital outturn position alongside details of balance sheet items such 
as earmarked reserves held by the service grouping to support its priorities. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. 

Procurement 

The outcome of procurement activity is factored into the financial projections included 
in the report. 

Climate Change 

Not applicable. 

 
 

Page 204



1 

 

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

1 October 2021 

Quarter 1: Forecast of Revenue and 
Capital Outturn 2021/22 

 

Report of Corporate Directors 
 
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) 
 
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director Adult and Health Services 
 
Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Committee with details of the initial forecast outturn budget 
position for the Adult and Health Services (AHS) service grouping, 
highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget for the year, 
based on the position to the end of June 2021. 

Executive Summary 

2 This report provides an overview of the initial forecast of outturn, based on 
the position to 30 June 2021.  It provides an analysis of the budget outturn 
for the services falling under the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and complements the reports considered by Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis.  

3 The initial forecasts indicate that AHS will have a cash limit underspend of 
£3.886 million at the year-end against a revised revenue budget of 
£132.748 million, which represents a 2.9% underspend. 

4 In arriving at the cash limit position, Covid-19 related expenditure of 
£3.126 million, offset by Coivd-19 related savings of £4.634 million have 
been excluded. Covid-19 related costs are being treated corporately and 
offset by Government funding so far as is possible.  

5 Based on the forecasts, the Cash Limit balance for AHS as at 31 March 
2022 will be £14.263 million. 

Page 205



2 

6 Details of the reasons for under and overspending against relevant budget 
heads is disclosed in the report. 

7 The AHS capital budget for 2021/22 is £1.210 million, however as at 30 
June 2021 there has been no capital expenditure. 

Recommendation 

8 It is recommended that the Adults Wellbeing and Health Committee note 
the financial forecasts included in this report. 

 

Page 206



3 

Background 

9 County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2021/22 at 
its meeting on 24 February 2021. These budgets have subsequently been 
revised to take account of transfers to and from reserves, grant 
additions/reductions, budget transfers between service groupings and 
budget reprofiling between years.  This report covers the financial position 
for: 

 
 AHS Revenue Budget - £132.748 million (original £133.618 million) 
 AHS Capital Programme – £1.210 million (original £1.210 million) 

 
10 The original AHS revenue budget has been revised to incorporate a 

number of budget adjustments as summarised in the table below: 
 

Reason for Adjustment £’000 

Original Budget 133,618 
Transfer from Contingencies – Transforming Care 371 

Budget Transfer – Safeguarding Adults Board 149 
Budget Transfer – Transitions (150) 

Budget Transfer – First Aid Training (5) 

Use of (+)/contribution to cash limit reserve (-) (1,877) 
Use of (+)/contribution to AHS reserves (-) 642 

Revised Budget 132,748 
 

11 The use of / (contribution) to AHS reserves consists of: 
 

Reserve £’000 

Use of AHS - Social Care Reserve 168 

Use of Public Health Reserve 474 

Total 642 
 
12 The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 

financial year 2021/22 and show: - 

 The approved annual budget; 

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s 
financial management system; 

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn; 

 For the AHS revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the 
cash limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from 
the strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and 
use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

 
 

Page 207



4 

Revenue Outturn 
 

13 The updated forecasts show that the AHS service is reporting a cash limit 
underspend of £3.886 million against a revised budget of £132.748 million 
which represents a 2.9% underspend. 
 

14 The tables below show the revised annual budget, actual expenditure to 
30 June 2021 and the updated forecast of outturn to the year end, 
including the variance forecast at year end. The first table is analysed by 
Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense) and the second is by Head of 
Service. 
 

Subjective Analysis (Type of Expenditure) 
 

  
 Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

 YTD 
Actual  

 Forecast 
Outturn  

COVID 
19 Costs  

COVID 
Under 

spends 

 Cash 
Limit 

Variance  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Employees 38,586  9,055 38,189 (126) 0 (523) 

Premises 2,112  189 2,201 0 0 89 

Transport 2,256  224  1,528 0 688 (40) 

Supplies & Services 4,851  1,586 5,723 (50) 0 822 

Third Party Payments 294,922  43,761 292,579 (2,950) 2,000 (3,293) 

Transfer Payments 11,278  1,679 10,111 0 0 (1,167) 

Central Support & Capital 30,925  19,085 31,161 0 0 236 

Income (252,182) (54,258) (254,138) 0 1,946 (10)  

Total 132,748  21,321  127,354  (3,126) 4,634 (3,886) 

 
Analysis by Head of Service Area 

  
 Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

 YTD 
Actual  

 Forecast 
Outturn  

COVID 19 
Costs  

COVID 
Under 

spends  

 Cash 
Limit 

Variance  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Central/Other  10,867  (15,368) 10,441 0 0 (426) 

Commissioning 4,455  4,033 4,242 0 45 (168) 

Head of Adults 115,658  32,902  110,877 (3,100) 4,589 (3,292) 

Public Health  1,768  (246) 1,794 (26) 0 0  

Total 132,748  21,321 127,354 (3,126) 4,634 (3,886) 

 
15 The table below provides a brief commentary of the forecast cash limit 

variances against the revised budget, analysed by Head of Service. The 
table identifies variances in the core budget only and excludes items 
outside of the cash limit (e.g. central repairs and maintenance) and 
technical accounting adjustments (e.g. central admin recharges and 
capital charges):  

Page 208



5 

 

 Service Area Description 

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000 

Head of Adults 

Ops Manager LD 
/MH / Substance 
Misuse 

£76,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 
£28,000 over budget in respect of supplies and services. 
£1.130 million net under budget on direct care related activity. 

(1,178) 

Safeguarding 
Adults and Practice 
Development 

£8,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies.  

(8) 

Ops Manager 
OP/PDSI Services 

£82,000 under budget on employees, premises, transport and supplies. 
£1.996 million net under budget on direct care-related activity. 

(2,078) 

Ops Manager 
Provider Services 

£17,000 net under budget across a range of headings.  (17) 

Operational 
Support 

£11,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 

(11) 

    (3,292) 

Central/Other 

Central/ Other  

 
£0.426 million under budget mainly in respect of uncommitted budgets 
to support future operational activity. 
 

(426) 

    (426) 

Commissioning  

Commissioning  
£53,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
staff vacancies. 
£115,000 under budget in respect of effective contract management. 

(168) 

    (168) 

Public Health    

General Prevention 
Activities 

No material variances. 0 

Healthy 
Communities 
Strategy and 
Assurance 

Under budget on employees due to vacant Mental Health at work 
practitioner post (-£17,000). 

(17) 

Living and Ageing 
Well 

Fresh and Balance contract CDDFT over budget (+£26,000),  
Smoke free manager post corrected income from Regional LA7  
(-£53,000).  
Uncommitted base budgets relating to the Drug & Alcohol Recovery 
Service Ridgemount House, tenancy ended Mar 21 
Temple Cross W-RAD (-£99,000) 
Dilapidation costs at Ridgemount House (+£4,000) 
Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Under-recovered income (+£14,000). 

(108) 

Page 209



6 

 Service Area Description 

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000 

Public Health Grant 
and Reserves 

Amount to balance the cash limit variance (+£240,000) made up 
principally of savings from vacant posts and contracts in each service 
area as described. 

240 

Public Health 
Team  

Under budget on staffing – vacant posts within the Public Health Team. (115) 

Starting Well and 
Social 
Determinants 

No material variances. 0 

    - 

AHS Total   (3,886) 
  

16 The service grouping is on track to maintain spending within its cash limit. 
The forecast outturn position incorporates the MTFP savings built into the 
2021/22 budgets, which for AHS in total amounted to £0.974 million. 

 
17 The council continues to face significant additional costs in relation to the 

Covid-19 outbreak and significant loss of income. All additional costs and 
loss of income, net of Covid-19 related underspending, is being treated 
corporately and is therefore excluded from the cash limit.  
 

18 The major area of additional cost in respect of AHS is £3.126 million for 
the additional financial support paid to providers. This support includes a 
temporary 2% uplift in fees and targeted support being given to residential 
care homes where occupancy levels have dropped significantly (in excess 
of 10%). 

 
19 The major areas of forecast Covid-19 related savings in respect of AHS 

are as follows (£4.634 million): 
 
(a) £0.688 million in respect of short-term spot hire of vehicles and car 

allowances etc; 
 

(b) Net agency and contracted services are forecast to be £2.000 
million below budget as a result of a reduction in contracted 
placements with adult care providers. 

 
(c) A CDCCG contribution towards additional COVID-related 

arrangements is £1.946 million. 
 
20 The cash limit reserve for Adult and Health Services is forecast to be circa 

£14.263 million after incorporating the 2021/22 forecast and transfers to 
other earmarked reserves. 

 
 
 

Page 210



7 

Capital Programme 
 
21 The AHS capital programme comprises two schemes, the drug and 

alcohol recovery services premises upgrade and the upgrade of Hawthorn 
House respite centre in Provider Services. 
 

22 Further reports will be taken to MOWG during the year where revisions to the 
AHS capital programme are required. The capital budget currently totals £1.210 
million. 
 

23 Summary financial performance to 30 June 2021 is shown below. 
 

AHS 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Current 
2021-22 
Budget 

(Under) / 
Over 

Spending  30/06/2021 
  £000 £000 £000 
Provider Services – Hawthorn House - 336 (336) 
Public Health – Drug and Alcohol Premises 
Upgrade 

- 874 (874) 

  - 1,210 (1,210) 

 
24 Officers continue to carefully monitor capital expenditure on a monthly basis.  

There has been no expenditure incurred to date.  At year end the actual outturn 
performance will be compared against the revised budgets, and service and 
project managers will need to account for any budget variance. 

 
Background Papers 
 
25 Cabinet Report 15 September 2021 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital 

Outturn 2021/22 - Period 30 June 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact:   Andrew Gilmore – Finance Manager                                 Tel:  03000 263 497 

Page 211



8 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 
 
Legal Implications 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows 
the forecast spend against budgets agreed by the Council in February 2021 in 
relation to the 2021/22 financial year. 

Finance 

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 
analysis of the revenue and capital outturn position alongside details of balance 
sheet items such as earmarked reserves held by the service grouping to support 
its priorities. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. 

Procurement 

The outcome of procurement activity is factored into the financial projections 
included in the report. 

 
 

Page 212



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Adults Wellbeing & Health- 1 October 2021

AHS Revenue and Capital – Outturn 2020/21 and Forecast 
2021/22 Quarter 1

Andrew Gilmore – Finance Manager

P
age 213



OVERVIEW

• 2020/21 Revenue Outturn and Variance Explanations

• 2020/21 Outturn Capital Position

• COVID19 Support to Care Providers

• 2021/22 Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast Outturn and Variance 
Explanations

• 2021/22 Quarter 1 Capital Position

P
age 214



AHS 2020/21 Outturn

P
age 215



AHS 2020/21 Outturn 
By Expenditure Type

Revised Annual 
Budget Actual 2020/21 Variance 

Items 
Outside Cash 

Limit 

Cont. To / 
(From) Reserves 

Cash Limit 
Variance 

Memo: QTR3 
Cash Limit 
Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employees 36,683 35,914 (769) (387) 332 (824) (554)

Premises 1,201 2,003 802 (299) (21) 482 55

Transport 2,293 1,587 (706) 555 (7) (158) (11)

Supplies & Services 4,364 4,647 283 38 166 487 109

Third Party Payments 289,416 301,856 12,440 (11,852) 788 1,376 2,632

Transfer Payments 11,278 10,278 (1,000) 0 0 (1,000) (1,147)

Central Support / Capital 30,612 32,069 1,457 186 788 2,431 1,321

Income (259,614) (265,835) (6,221) 4,373 (4,419) (6,267) (5,862)

Total 116,233 122,519 6,286 (7,386) (2,373) (3,473) (3,457) 

P
age 216



AHS 2020/21 Outturn
By Service Area

Revised Annual 
Budget 

Actual 
2020/21 Variance  

Items Outside 
Cash Limit 

Cont. To / 
(From 

Reserves

Cash Limit 
Variance 

Memo: QTR3 
Cash Limit 
Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Central/Other 9,068 8,388 (680) 751 1,307 1,378 1,059

Commissioning 4,574 3,505 (1,069) 12 651 (406) (369)

Head of Adults 111,124 114,315 3,191 (7,820) 184 (4,445) (4,147) 

Public Health (8,533) (3,689) 4,844 (329) (4,515) 0 0

Total 116,233 122,519 6,286 (7,386) (2,373) (3,473) (3,457)

P
age 217



AHS Revenue Budget 2020/21

AHS budget position for 2020/21 is an under budget of £3.473 million, which equates to 3.0% of net 
budget

Key reasons for budget variances:

Adult Care (under budget of £4.445 million)

• Net under budget on employee related costs of circa £589,000 mainly through the careful 
management and control of vacancies.

• Net under budget on supplies and services, transport, other costs and over recovery of income  
£825,000.

• Net overall under budget on care related activity of circa £3.031 million.

P
age 218



AHS Revenue Budget 2020/21

Key reasons for budget variances:

Central Costs / Other (over budget £1.378 million)

• Net effect of £2.000 million contribution to corporate reserves, and increase in the bad debt 
provision of £0.560 million and £1.182 million under budget, mainly to support future operational 
activity.

Commissioning (under budget £406,000)

• Under budget in respect of effective management of vacancies and contract management.

P
age 219



AHS Revenue Budget 2020/21

Public Health (on target)

• This budget is funded mainly by Public Health Grant for 2020/21, and therefore shows nil net 
expenditure on the report.

• However, £838,000 has been made available for future investment in Public Health projects from 
uncommitted budgets, savings from vacant posts and underspends against some contracts.

P
age 220



AHS – 2020/21 CAPITAL

AHS
Actual 

Expenditure
31/03/2021

2020-21 
Budget

(Under) / 
Over 

Spending

£000 £000 £000

Public Health – Drug & Alcohol Premises 2 0 2
2 0 2

P
age 221



Support to Care Providers – 2020/21

Includes
• Advance Payment (recoverable) - £13.0 million
• Sustainability Payments – circa £6.0 million
• Stability Payments - £0.5 million per 4 week 

payment period
• Additional Uplift - £10.8 million
• Infection Control Fund - £13.2 million

P
age 222



AHS 2021/22 Quarter 1 
Forecast Outturn

P
age 223



AHS Q1 2021/22 Forecast Outturn 
By Expenditure Type

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

YTD Actual 
Forecast 
Outturn 

COVID 19 
Costs 

COVID Under 
spends

Cash Limit 
Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employees 38,586 9,055 38,189 (126) 0 (523)

Premises 2,112 189 2,201 0 0 89

Transport 2,256 224 1,528 0 688 (40)

Supplies & Services 4,851 1,586 5,723 (50) 0 822

Third Party Payments 294,922 43,761 292,579 (2,950) 2,000 (3,293)

Transfer Payments 11,278 1,679 10,111 0 0 (1,167)

Central Support & Capital 30,925 19,085 31,161 0 0 236

Income (252,182) (54,258) (254,138) 0 1,946 (10) 

Total 132,748 21,321 127,354 (3,126) 4,634 (3,886)

P
age 224



AHS Q1 2021/22 Forecast Outturn
By Service Area

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

YTD Actual 
Forecast 
Outturn 

COVID 19 
Costs 

COVID 
Under 
spends 

Cash Limit 
Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Central/Other 10,867 (15,368) 10,441 0 0 (426)

Commissioning 4,455 4,033 4,242 0 45 (168)

Head of Adults 115,658 32,902 110,877 (3,100) 4,589 (3,292)

Public Health 1,768 (246) 1,794 (26) 0 0 

Total 132,748 21,321 127,354 (3,126) 4,634 (3,886)

P
age 225



AHS Revenue Budget 2021/22

AHS budget position for 2021/22 is a projected under budget of £3.866 million, which equates to 
2.9% of net budget

Key reasons for budget variances:

Adult Care (projected under budget of £3.292 million)

• Net under budget on employee related costs of circa £177,000 mainly through the careful 
management and control of vacancies.

• Net over budget on supplies and services, transport and other costs circa £11,000.

• Net overall under budget on care related activity of circa £3.126 million.

• Due to the impact of COVID there is considerable uncertainty around the current year’s financial 
position.

P
age 226



AHS Revenue Budget 2021/22

Key reasons for budget variances:

Central Costs / Other (projected under budget £426,000)

• Under budget to support future operational activity.

Commissioning (projected under budget £168,000)

• Under budget in respect of effective management of vacancies and contract management.

P
age 227



AHS Revenue Budget 2021/22

Public Health (projected on target)

• This budget is funded mainly by Public Health Grant for 2021/22, and therefore shows nil net 
expenditure on the report.

• However, £240,000 is forecast to be made available for future investment in Public Health 
projects from uncommitted budgets, savings from vacant posts and underspends against some 
contracts.

P
age 228



AHS – Q1 2021/22 CAPITAL

AHS
Actual 

Expenditure
30/06/2021

Current 
2021-22 
Budget

(Under) / 
Over 

Spending

£000 £000 £000

Provider Services – Hawthorn House - 336 (336)

Public Health – Drug and Alcohol Premises Upgrade - 874 (874)

- 1,210 (1,210)

P
age 229



ANY QUESTIONS?

P
age 230


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 July 2021
	6 Shotley Bridge Hospital Update - Presentation by Rachel Rooney, Head of Commissioning, NHS County Durham CCG
	7 Winter Planning - Report by Michael Laing, Director of Integrated Community Services, County Durham Care Partnership
	Agenda Item 7 - Winter Appx 2 OSC

	8 Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust Update - Report by Jennifer Illingworth, Director of Operations - Durham and Darlington - Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust
	9 Local Outbreak Management Plan Update - Report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 2 - Covid-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan Final

	10 Quarter 1 2021/22 Performance Management Report - Report of Paul Darby, Interim Corporate Director of Resources
	11 2020/21 Q4 and 2021/22 Q1 Adults and Health Services Budget Outturn - Report of the Paul Darby, Interim Corporate Director of Resources
	Agenda Item 11 (b) OSC AHS 2021-22 Quarter 1 Revenue and Capital Outturn
	Agenda Item 11 Presentation to OSC AHS 20-21 Outturn and 21-22 Q1 Forecast


